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required to perform additional or unanticipated clinical trials to obtain approval or be subject to additional post- marketing
testing requirements to maintain regulatory approval. In addition, regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of a
product or impose restrictions on our distribution, such as in the form of a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, or REMS.
The failure to obtain timely regulatory approval of product candidates, any product marketing limitations or a product
withdrawal would materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. Interim,
preliminary or topline data from our clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to time may change as more patient
data become available and are subject to audit and verification procedures that could result in material changes in the final data.
From time to time, we may (but are not required to) publish interim, preliminary or topline data from clinical trials. Interim
data from clinical trials that we may complete are subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may materially
change as patient enrollment continues and more patient data becomes available . We have previously announced initial
interim data for our ongoing Phase III TIGeR- PaC study . Preliminary or topline data also remain subject to audit and
verification procedures that may result in the final data being materially different from the preliminary or topline data
previously published. As a result, interim, preliminary and topline data should be viewed with caution until the final data are
available. Adverse differences between interim, preliminary or topline data and final data could significantly harm our
reputation and business prospects. Moreover, preliminary, interim and topline data are subject to the risk that one or more of the
clinical outcomes may materially change as more patient data become available when patients mature on study, patient
enrollment continues or as other ongoing or future clinical trials with a product candidate further develop. Past results of clinical
trials may not be predictive of future results. In addition, the information (if any) we choose to publicly disclose regarding a
particular study or clinical trial is based on what is typically more extensive information, and you or others may not agree with
what we determine is the material or otherwise appropriate information to include in our disclosure. Any information we
determine not to disclose may ultimately be deemed significant with respect to future decisions, conclusions, views, activities or
otherwise regarding a particular product candidate or our business. Similarly, even if we are able to complete our planned and
ongoing preclinical studies and clinical trials of our product candidates according to our current development timeline, the
positive results from such preclinical studies and clinical trials of our product candidates may not be replicated in subsequent
preclinical studies or clinical trial results. If third - party vendors upon whom we intend to rely on to conduct our preclinical
studies or clinical trials do not perform or fail to comply with strict regulations, these studies or trials of our product candidate
may be delayed, terminated, or fail, or we could incur significant additional expenses, which could materially harm our
business. We have limited resources dedicated to designing, conducting, and managing preclinical studies and clinical trials. We
intend to rely on third parties, including clinical research organizations, consultants, and principal investigators, to assist us in
designing, managing, monitoring and conducting our preclinical studies and clinical trials. We intend to rely on these vendors
and individuals to perform many facets of the drug development process, including certain preclinical studies, the recruitment of
sites and patients for participation in our clinical trials, maintenance of good relations with the clinical sites, and ensuring that
these sites are conducting our trials in compliance with the trial protocol, including safety monitoring and applicable regulations.
If these third parties fail to perform satisfactorily, or do not adequately fulfill their obligations under the terms of our agreements
with them, or terminate their relationship with us, we may not be able to enter into alternative arrangements without undue delay
or additional expenditures, and therefore the preclinical studies and clinical trials of our product candidate may be delayed or
prove unsuccessful. For example, the investigators we currently use for our clinical trials are not our employees and we cannot
control the amount or timing of resources that they devote to our programs. If these investigators fail to devote sufficient time
and resources to our clinical trial, fail to enroll patients as rapidly as expected, or otherwise do not perform in a satisfactory
manner, we may make elect to close such clinical trial site, which may increase our expenses, require additional attention from
our clinical team and delay our clinical trial timeline and regulatory approval. Further, the FDA, or other similar foreign
regulatory authorities, may inspect some of the clinical sites participating in our clinical trials in the U. S., or our third- party
vendors’ sites, to determine if our clinical trials are being conducted according to good clinical practice, or GCP. If we or the
FDA determine that our third- party vendors are not in compliance with, or have not conducted our clinical trials according to,
applicable regulations we may be forced to delay, repeat, or terminate such clinical trials. We have limited capacity for
recruiting and managing clinical trials, which could impair our timing to initiate or complete clinical trials of our product
candidate and materially harm our business. We have limited capacity to recruit and manage the clinical trials necessary to
obtain FDA approval or approval by other regulatory authorities. By contrast, larger pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical
companies often have substantial staff with extensive experience in conducting clinical trials with multiple product candidates
across multiple indications. In addition, they may have greater financial resources to compete for the same clinical investigators
and patients that we are attempting to recruit for our clinical trials. If potential competitors are successful in completing drug
development for their product candidates and obtain approval from the FDA, they could limit the demand to participate in
clinical trials of our product candidates. As a result, we may be at a competitive disadvantage that could delay the initiation,
recruitment, timing, and completion of our clinical trials, as well as obtaining regulatory approvals, if at all, for our product
candidates. We, and our collaborators, if any, must comply with extensive government regulations in order to advance our
product candidates through the development process and ultimately obtain and maintain marketing approval for our products in



the U. S. and abroad. The product candidates that we, or our collaborators, are developing or may develop require regulatory
approval to advance through clinical development and to ultimately be marketed and sold and are subject to extensive and
rigorous domestic and foreign government regulation. In the U. S., the FDA regulates, among other things, the development,
testing, manufacture, safety, efficacy, record- keeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertising, promotion, sale, and distribution
of pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical products. Our product candidates are also subject to similar regulation by foreign
governments to the extent we seek to develop or market them in those countries. We, or our collaborators, must provide the
FDA and foreign regulatory authorities, if applicable, with preclinical and clinical data, as well as data supporting an acceptable
manufacturing process, that appropriately demonstrate each of our product candidate’ s safety and efficacy before it can be
approved for the targeted indications. Our product candidates have not been approved for sale in the U. S. or any foreign market,
and we cannot predict whether we or our collaborators will obtain regulatory approval for any product candidates we are
developing or plan to develop. The regulatory review and approval process can take many years, is dependent upon the type,
complexity, novelty of, and medical need for the product candidate, requires the expenditure of substantial resources, and
involves post- marketing surveillance and vigilance and potentially post- marketing studies or Phase IV clinical trials. In
addition, we or our collaborators may encounter delays in, or fail to gain, regulatory approval for any of our product candidates
based upon additional governmental regulation resulting from future legislative, administrative action or changes in the FDA’ s
or other similar foreign regulatory authorities’ policy or interpretation during the period of product development. Delays or
failures in obtaining regulatory approval to advance any of our product candidates through clinical development, and ultimately
to commercialize them, may: @ adversely impact our ability to raise sufficient capital, if at all, to fund the development of our
product candidates; @ adversely affect our ability to further develop or commercialize our product candidates; ® diminish any
competitive advantages that we or our collaborators may have or attain; or @ adversely affect the receipt of potential milestone
payments and royalties from collaborators, if any, from the sale of our products or product revenues in the future. Furthermore,
any regulatory approvals, if granted, may later be withdrawn. If we or our collaborators fail to comply with applicable regulatory
requirements at any time, or if post- approval safety concerns arise, we or our collaborators may be subject to restrictions or a
number of actions, including: e delays, suspension, or termination of clinical trials related to our product candidates; @ refusal
by regulatory authorities to review pending applications or supplements to approved applications; e product recalls or seizures;
e suspension of manufacturing; @ withdrawals of previously approved marketing applications; or e fines, civil penalties, and
criminal prosecutions. Additionally, at any time we or our collaborators may voluntarily suspend or terminate the preclinical or
clinical development of a product candidate, or withdraw any approved product from the market if we believe that it may pose
an unacceptable safety risk to patients, or if the product candidate or approved product no longer meets our business objectives.
The ability to develop or market a pharmaceutical product outside of the U. S. is contingent upon receiving appropriate
authorization from the respective foreign regulatory authorities. Foreign regulatory approval processes typically include many,
if not all, of the risks and requirements associated with the FDA regulatory process for drug development and may include
additional risks. Additionally, results acceptable to support approval in one jurisdiction may be deemed inadequate by another
regulatory authority to support regulatory approval in that other jurisdiction. Clinical trials involve a lengthy and expensive
process with an uncertain outcome, and results of earlier studies and trials may not be predictive of future trial results. Our
product candidates may not prove to be safe and efficacious in clinical trials and may not meet all the applicable regulatory
requirements needed to receive regulatory approval. To receive regulatory approval for the commercialization of our product
candidates, we must conduct, at our own expense, extensive preclinical testing and clinical trials to demonstrate safety and
efficacy of our product candidate for the intended indication of use. Clinical testing is expensive, can take many years to
complete, if at all, and its outcome is uncertain. Failure can occur at any time during the clinical trial process. The results of
preclinical studies and early clinical trials of new drugs do not necessarily predict the results of later- stage clinical trials. The
design of our clinical trials is based on many assumptions about the expected effects of our product candidate, and if those
assumptions are incorrect, they may not produce statistically significant results. Preliminary results may not be confirmed on
full analysis of the detailed results of a clinical trial. Product candidates in later stages of clinical development may fail to show
safety and efficacy sufficient to support intended use claims despite having progressed through earlier clinical testing. The data
collected from clinical trials of our product candidates may not be sufficient to support the filing of an NDA or to obtain
regulatory approval in the United States or elsewhere. Because of the uncertainties associated with drug development and
regulatory approvals, we cannot determine if or when we will have an approved product for commercialization or achieve sales
or profits. Delays in clinical testing and formulating the results of such test could result in increased costs to us and delay our
ability to obtained necessary regulatory approves and generate revenue. We may experience delays in clinical testing of our
product candidates. We do not know whether planned clinical trials will begin on time, will need to be redesigned or will be
completed on schedule, if at all. From time to time, based on our experience with a clinical trial, we may amend the clinical trial
protocol to address any issues that we observe as the trial is progressing, including in response to various factors impacting
safety and the data collected, or we may be required to make certain changes in response to issues raised by the FDA, IRB, other
regulatory authorities, investigators or clinical sites. Protocol amendments are subject to IRB and regulatory approval before we
implement material changes, can result in additional costs, require additional data or participants, and may negatively impact the
timelines for the trial. For example, in December 2021, we amended the protocol for our Phase III clinical trial to only allow
SBRT patients during the induction phase of the study, as we observed a higher drop- out rate for patients on IMRT. As part of
this change, we initiated a review of the statistical considerations for the study and in June 2022, submitted a Modified SAP to
the FDA. We submitted a protocol amendment to the FDA in the second half of 2022 to reflect the changes in the Modified
SAP. Under the modified Phase III clinical trial protocol and the Modified SAP, we plan to (i) analyze only patients receiving
SBRT, consistent with the protocol change made in December 2021, (ii) include a second interim analysis, (iii) change the total
number of SBRT patients randomized in the study to 114 (a reduction from the original 200 patients), with a total of 86 deaths



from SBRT patients, including all deaths from SBRT patients enrolled in the study before the submission of the Modified SAP,
and (iv) repower the study from 90 % to 80 %, which is commonly used in clinical trials. In August 2023, we received
comments from the FDA on the Modified SAP, which we responded to in September 2023 . Based on the FDA’ s feedback, we
plan to submit the revised SAP and a protocol amendment to reflect the changes in the statistical analysis for the study. Such
amendment and Modified SAP are subject to IRB and regulatory review that may result in additional costs and may negatively
impact the timelines for the trial. We cannot provide assurance that the FDA will not raise any objections or disagree with our
Modified SAP or the protocol amendments, including our proposed SAP or how we interpret the data. We can provide no
assurance on the timing of any of our interim analyses or when we will complete our Phase III study, if at all, or the outcome of
the study. Disclosure of findings from our interim analyses before the completion of the trial may also impact the enrollment or
retention of patients in our ongoing clinical trial , and further, based on guidance we may receive from our clinical trial
Data Monitoring Committee, we may elect to not disclose the details of interim data beyond the recommendation of our
Data Monitoring Committee relating to whether or not to continue the study . The changes in our study protocol may limit
the clinical trial sites that can participate in our study, impact enrollment, and delay regulatory approval. We may be required to
expand the size of our study, increase the power level, or make other changes that can delay our clinical timelines and delay
regulatory approval. Further, to the extent protocol amendments impact the data needed to support our proposed indication, the
indication that is ultimately approved by the FDA or other regulatory authorities may be narrower than the indication initially
sought. The FDA and other regulatory authorities may also impose other restrictions in our proposed labeling, which could have
a material adverse effect on the prospects of our product candidates, if approved, and our business. Clinical trials can be delayed
for a variety of reasons, including pandemics, delays in obtaining regulatory approval to commence a clinical trial, in securing
clinical trial agreements with prospective sites with acceptable terms, in obtaining IRB approval to conduct a clinical trial at a
prospective site, in recruiting patients to participate in a clinical trial or in obtaining sufficient supplies of clinical trial materials,
including RenovoCath. Many factors affect patient enrollment, including the size of the patient population, the proximity of
patients to clinical sites, the eligibility criteria for the clinical trial, the existing body of safety and efficacy data with respect to
the study drug, competing clinical trials, new drugs approved for the conditions we are investigating, clinicians’ and patients’
perceptions of the potential advantages and side effects of the product candidates being studied in relation to other available
therapies and product candidates. Clinical investigators will need to decide whether to offer their patients enrollment in clinical
trials of our product candidate versus treating these patients with commercially available drugs that have established safety and
efficacy profiles. Any delays in completing our clinical trials will increase our costs, slow down our product development,
timeliness and approval process, and delay our ability to generate revenue. The regulatory approval processes of the FDA and
comparable foreign authorities are lengthy, time consuming and inherently unpredictable, and if we are ultimately unable to
obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates, our business will be substantially harmed. The time required to obtain
approval by the FDA and comparable foreign authorities is unpredictable but it typically takes many years following the
commencement of clinical trials and depends upon numerous factors, including the substantial discretion of the regulatory
authorities. In addition, approval policies, regulations, or the type and amount of clinical data necessary to gain approval may
change during the course of a product candidate’ s clinical development and may vary among jurisdictions. We have not
obtained regulatory approval for any product candidate and it is possible that any of our existing product candidates or any
product candidate we may seek to develop in the future may never obtain regulatory approval. Our product candidates could fail
to receive regulatory approval for many reasons, including the following: @ the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory
authorities may disagree with the design or implementation of our clinical trials; ® we may be unable to demonstrate to the
satisfaction of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities that a product candidate is safe and effective for its
proposed indication; e the results of clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical significance required for approval by the
FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities; ® the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with
our interpretation of data from preclinical studies or clinical trials; e the data collected from clinical trials of our product
candidates may not be sufficient to support the submission of an NDA or other submission or to obtain regulatory approval in
the United States or elsewhere; ® the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may fail to approve the manufacturing
processes or facilities of third- party manufacturers with which we contract for clinical and commercial supplies; or e the
approval policies or regulations of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may significantly change in a manner
rendering our clinical data insufficient for approval. This lengthy approval process as well as the unpredictability of future
clinical trial results may result in our failing to obtain regulatory approval to market our product candidates, which would
significantly harm our business, results of operations, prospects and our underlying stock price. In addition, even if we were to
obtain approval, regulatory authorities may approve our product candidates for fewer or more limited indications than we
request, may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly post- marketing clinical trials, or may approve a product
candidate with a label that does not include the labeling claims necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of
that product candidate. Any of the foregoing scenarios could materially harm the commercial prospects for any of our product
candidates. We have not previously submitted an NDA to the FDA, nor similar drug approval filings to comparable foreign
authorities, for our product candidates, and we cannot be certain that our product candidates will be successful in clinical trials
or receive regulatory approval. Further, our product candidates may not receive regulatory approval even if they are successful
in clinical trials. If we do not receive regulatory approvals for our product candidates, we may not be able to continue our
operations. Even if we successfully obtain regulatory approvals to market one or more of our product candidates, our revenues
will be dependent on many factors including the size of the markets in the territories for which we gain regulatory approval and
have commercial rights. If the markets for patients that we are targeting for our product candidates are not as significant as we
estimate, we may not generate significant revenues from sales of such products, if approved. We plan to seek regulatory
approval and to commercialize our product candidates, directly or with collaborators in the United States, the European Union,



and other foreign countries which we have not yet identified. While the scope of regulatory approval is similar in other
countries, to obtain separate regulatory approval in many other countries we must comply with numerous and varying regulatory
requirements of such countries regarding the safety and efficacy, among other things, of clinical trials and commercial sales,
pricing, and distribution of our product candidates, and we cannot predict success in these jurisdictions. We may be required to
suspend or discontinue clinical trials due to unexpected side effects or other safety risks that could preclude approval of our
product candidates. Our clinical trials may be suspended at any time for a number of reasons. For example, we may voluntarily
suspend or terminate our clinical trials if at any time we believe that they present an unacceptable risk to the clinical trial
patients. In addition, the FDA or other regulatory agencies may order the temporary or permanent discontinuation of our clinical
trials at any time if they believe that the clinical trials are not being conducted in accordance with applicable regulatory
requirements or that they present an unacceptable safety risk to the clinical trial patients. Administering our product candidates
to humans may produce undesirable side effects. These adverse side effects could interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials of our
product candidates and could result in the FDA or other regulatory authorities denying further development or approval of any
of our product candidates for any or all targeted indications. Ultimately, our product candidates may prove to be unsafe for
human use. Moreover, we could be subject to significant liability if any volunteer or patient suffers, or appears to suffer, adverse
health effects as a result of participating in our clinical trials. Prosecution, enforcement actions, damages or adverse media
coverage related to such events, if any, will likely result in a materially significant diversion of management’ s attention and
resources and significant defense costs and other professional fees. As a general matter, such events could damage our
reputation, brand, international activities, business, prospects, operating results and financial condition. If we fail to comply with
healthcare regulations, we could face substantial enforcement actions, including civil and criminal penalties and our business,
operations and financial condition could be adversely affected. Our business operations and activities may be directly or
indirectly subject to various federal and state fraud and abuse laws, including, without limitation, the federal Anti- Kickback
Statute and the federal False Claims Act. The product candidates that we are developing are highly regulated, and there can be
no assurance that the regulatory environment in which we operate will not change significantly and adversely in the future. If we
begin commercializing any products cleared or approved by the FDA in the United States, our exposure under such laws will
increase significantly, and our costs associated with compliance with such laws are also likely to increase. Our current and future
arrangements with healthcare professionals, clinical investigators, CROs, third- party payors and customers may expose us to
broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations that may constrain the business or financial
arrangements and relationships through which we market, sell and distribute our products for which we obtain marketing
approval. In addition, we may be subject to laws of the federal government and state governments in which we conduct our
business relating to privacy, data protection and data security with respect to patient information. As a developer of drug /
device combination products and a proprietary drug delivery device, certain federal and state healthcare laws and regulations
pertaining to fraud and abuse, false claims, transparency and patients’ privacy rights are and will be applicable to our business.
We could be subject to healthcare fraud and abuse laws, transparency and privacy laws of both the federal government and the
states in which we conduct our business and private “ qui tam ” actions brought by individual whistleblowers on behalf of the
federal or state governments. The scope and enforcement of each of the laws applicable to our business and products are
uncertain and subject to rapid change in the current environment of healthcare reform. The laws include: e the federal healthcare
program anti- kickback law, which prohibits, among other things, persons from soliciting, receiving or providing remuneration,
directly or indirectly, to induce either the referral of an individual, for an item or service or the purchasing or ordering of a good
or service, for which payment may be made under federal healthcare programs such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs; e
federal false claims laws which prohibit, among other things, individuals, or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be
presented, claims for payment from Medicare, Medicaid, or other third- party payors that are false or fraudulent, and which may
apply to entities like us which provide coding and billing information to customers; ® the federal Health Insurance Portability
and Accountability Act of 1996, which prohibits executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or making false
statements relating to healthcare matters and which also imposes certain requirements relating to the privacy, security and
transmission of individually identifiable health information; e the federal Open Payments program under the Physician
Payments Sunshine Act, created under Section 6002 of the ACA and its implementing regulations, which requires certain
manufacturers of covered drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies for which payment is available under Medicare,
Medicaid or the Children’ s Health Insurance Program (with certain exceptions) and applicable group purchasing organizations
to report annually to CMS information related to payments or other transfers of value made in the previous year to covered
recipients, including physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors), certain non-
physician healthcare professionals (such as physician assistants and nurse practitioners, among others), and teaching hospitals,
and information regarding ownership and investment interests held by physicians (as defined above) and their immediate family
members; o the federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, which among other things, strictly regulates drug manufacturing and
product marketing, prohibits manufacturers from marketing drug products for oft- label use and regulates the distribution of
drug samples; e federal consumer protection and unfair competition laws, which broadly regulate marketplace activities and
activities that potentially harm consumers; e federal government drug price reporting laws, changed by the ACA to, among
other things, increase the minimum Medicaid rebates owed by most manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program
and offer such rebates to additional populations, that require us to calculate and report complex pricing metrics to government
programs, where such reported prices may be used in the calculation of reimbursement or discounts on our marketed drugs
(participation in these programs and compliance with the applicable requirements may subject us to potentially significant
discounts on our product candidates, increased infrastructure costs, and potentially limit our ability to offer certain marketplace
discounts); e the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, a United States law which regulates certain financial relationships with foreign
government officials (which could include, for example, certain medical professionals); @ analogous state and foreign laws and



regulations, including: state anti- kickback and false claims laws which may apply to our business practices, including, but not
limited to, research, distribution, sales and marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed
by state governmental and non- governmental third- party payors, including private insurers; state laws that require
pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’ s voluntary compliance guidelines and the applicable
compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government; state laws that require drug manufacturers to track gifts and other
remuneration and items of value provided to healthcare professionals and entities; state and local laws that require the
registration of pharmaceutical sales representatives; and state laws that require drug manufacturers to report information relating
to pricing and marketing information; and e state and foreign laws governing the privacy and security of health information in
certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by federal laws,
thus complicating compliance efforts. Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements with third parties will comply with
applicable healthcare laws may involve substantial costs. It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our
business practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse
or other healthcare laws. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any governmental
regulations that apply to us, we may be subject to greater liabilities, penalties, including civil and criminal penalties, damages,
fines, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. Any penalties, damages, fines, curtailment or restructuring of our
operations could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our financial results. Although compliance programs
can mitigate the risk of investigation and prosecution for violations of these laws, the risks cannot be entirely eliminated. Any
action against us for violation of these laws, even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal
expenses and divert management’ s attention from the operation of our business. If any of the physicians or other providers or
entities with whom we expect to do business 5is found not to be in compliance with applicable laws, it may be subject to
significant criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including exclusions from participation in government healthcare
programs, which could also materially affect our business. We are also subject to U. S. and certain foreign export and import
controls, sanctions, embargoes, anti- corruption laws, and anti- money laundering laws and regulations. Compliance with these
legal standards could impair our ability to compete in domestic and international markets. We can face criminal liability and
other serious consequences for violations which can harm our business. Anti- corruption laws are interpreted broadly and
prohibit companies and their employees, agents, contractors, and other partners from authorizing, promising, offering, or
providing, directly or indirectly, improper payments or anything else of value to recipients in the public or private sector. We
may engage third parties for clinical trials outside of the United States, to sell our products abroad once we enter a
commercialization phase, or to obtain necessary permits, licenses, patent registrations, and other regulatory approvals. We may
have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or government- affiliated hospitals,
universities, and other organizations. We can be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of our employees, agents,
contractors, and other partners, even if we do not explicitly authorize or have actual knowledge of such activities. Any violation
of the laws and regulations described above may result in substantial civil and criminal fines and penalties, imprisonment, the
loss of export or import privileges, debarment, tax reassessments, breach of contract and fraud litigation, reputational harm, and
other consequences. If we are unable to satisfy regulatory requirements, we may not be able to commercialize our product
candidates. We need FDA approval prior to marketing our product candidates in the United States. This approval process is
lengthy and subject to extensive governmental regulations and given the unpredictability of the results of clinical trials, our
failure to obtain regulatory approval from the FDA to market any of our product candidates would significantly harm our
business, results of operations and prospects. Any delay or failure in seeking or obtaining required approvals from the FDA to
market any of our product candidates would have a material and adverse effect on our ability to sell our product candidates in the
United States and to generate revenue from any such candidates we are developing and for which we are seeking approval. The
FDA’ s review and approval process, including among other things, evaluation of preclinical studies and clinical trials of a
product candidate as well as the manufacturing process and facility, is lengthy, expensive, and uncertain. To receive approval,
we must, among other things, demonstrate with substantial evidence from well- designed and well- controlled preclinical testing
and clinical trials that the product candidates are both safe and effective for each indication for which approval is sought.
Satisfaction of these requirements typically takes several years, and the time needed to satisfy them may vary substantially,
based on the type, complexity and novelty of the pharmaceutical product. We cannot predict if or when we will submit an NDA
for approval for any of our product candidates currently under development. Any approvals we may obtain may not cover all of
the clinical indications for which we are seeking approval or may contain significant limitations on the conditions of use. The
FDA has substantial discretion in the NDA review process and may either refuse to file our NDA for substantive review or may
decide that our data is insufficient to support approval of our product candidates for the claimed intended uses. Following any
regulatory approval of our product candidates, we will be subject to continuing regulatory obligations such as safety reporting,
required and additional post marketing obligations, and regulatory oversight of promotion and marketing. Even if we receive
regulatory approvals for any of our product candidates, the FDA may subsequently seek to withdraw approval of our NDA if we
determine that new data or a reevaluation of existing data show the product is unsafe for use under the conditions of use upon
the basis of which the NDA was approved, or based on new evidence of adverse effects or adverse clinical experience, or upon
other new information. If the FDA does not file or approve our NDA or withdraws approval of our NDA, the FDA may require
that we conduct additional clinical trials, preclinical or manufacturing studies and submit that data before it reconsiders our
application. Depending on the extent of these or any other requested studies, approval of any applications that we submit may be
delayed by several years, may require us to expend more resources than we have available, or may never be obtained at all. In
addition, we have obtained FDA clearance for our RenovoCath delivery system, which is subject to FDA medical device
regulations, including the Quality System Regulation. In the event adverse events arise with respect to the RenovoCath delivery
system, the FDA could revoke its clearance which would have a material adverse effect on our business. We will also be subject



to a wide variety of foreign regulations governing the development, manufacture, and marketing of our products to the extent we
seek regulatory approval to develop and market any of our product candidates in a foreign jurisdiction. As of the date hereof we
have not identified any foreign jurisdictions which we intend to seek approval from. Whether or not FDA approval has been
obtained, approval of a product candidate by the comparable regulatory authorities of foreign countries must still be obtained
prior to marketing the product candidate in those countries. The approval process varies, and the time needed to secure approval
in any region such as the European Union or in a country with an independent review procedure may be longer or shorter than
that required for FDA approval. We cannot assure you that clinical trials conducted in one country will be accepted by other
countries or that an approval in one country or region will result in approval elsewhere. Even after approval, we are subject to
extensive regulations. The regulations to which we are subject are complex and have tended to become more stringent over time.
Regulatory changes could result in restrictions on our ability to carry on or expand our operations, higher than anticipated costs
or lower than anticipated sates-revenues . The FDA and foreign counterparts enforce these regulatory requirements through,
among other means, periodic unannounced inspections and periodic reviews of public marketing and promotion materials. We
do not know whether we will be found compliant in connection with any future FDA or foreign counterparts’ inspections or
reviews. Failure to comply with applicable regulations could jeopardize our ability to sell our products and result in enforcement
actions such as: warning letters; untitled letters; fines; injunctions; civil penalties; termination of distribution; recalls or seizures
of products; delays in the introduction of products into the market; total or partial suspension of production; refusal to grant
future clearances, approvals, or certifications; withdrawals or suspensions of current approvals or certifications, resulting in
prohibitions on sales of our products; and in the most serious cases, criminal penalties. We have received Orphan Drug
Designation for RereveGenrour lead drug / device combination product for two rare diseases: pancreatic cancer and
cholangiocarcinoma. We may seek Orphan Drug Designation for future product candidates, but we may be unable to obtain
such designation or to maintain the benefits associated with Orphan Drug Designation, including market exclusivity, which may
cause our revenue, if any, to be reduced. To date, we have secured FDA Orphan Drug Designation for ReneveGem-our lead
drug / device combination product in two rare diseases: pancreatic cancer and cholangiocarcinoma. Although we may seek
Orphan Drug Designation for some or all of our other product candidates, we may never receive such designations . Our lead
product candidate utilizes RenovoCath with the existing chemotherapy gemcitabine and received Orphan Drug
Designation for pancreatic cancer and bile duct cancer, which provides 7 years of market exclusivity upon approval by
the FDA . Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may designate a drug product as an orphan drug if it is intended to treat a rare
disease or condition, defined as a patient population of fewer than 200, 000 in the United States, or a patient population greater
than 200, 000 in the United States where there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing the drug will be
recovered from sales in the United States. Orphan Drug Designation must be requested before submitting an NDA. In the United
States, Orphan Drug Designation entitles a party to financial incentives such as opportunities for grant funding towards clinical
trial costs, tax advantages, and application fee waivers. After the FDA grants Orphan Drug Designation, the generic identity of
the drug and its potential orphan use are disclosed publicly by the FDA. In addition, if a drug product receives the first FDA
approval for an indication for which it has orphan designation, the drug product is entitled to orphan drug exclusivity, which
means the FDA may not approve any other application to market the same drug for the same indication for a period of seven
years, except in limited circumstances, such as a showing of clinical superiority over the product with orphan exclusivity or
where the manufacturer is unable to assure sufficient product quantity for the orphan patient population. Exclusive marketing
rights in the United States may also be unavailable if we seek approval for an indication broader than the orphan designation
and may be lost if the FDA later determines that the request for designation was materially defective. Even if we obtain Orphan
Drug Designation, we may not be the first to obtain marketing approval for any particular indication within the orphan
designation due to uncertainties associated with developing pharmaceutical products, which would have a material adverse
effect on our operations, regulatory approval and ability to commercialize our product candidate. Further, even if we obtain
orphan drug exclusivity for a product candidate, that exclusivity may not effectively protect the product from competition
because different drugs with different active moieties can be approved for the same condition. Even after an orphan drug is
approved, the FDA can subsequently approve the same drug with the same active moiety for the same indication or use if the
FDA concludes that the later drug is clinically superior or makes a major contribution to patient care. Orphan Drug Designation
neither shortens the development time or regulatory review time of a product candidate nor gives the product candidate any
advantage in the regulatory review or approval process or entitles the product candidate to priority review. Further, in Catalyst
Pharms., Inc. v. Becerra, 14 F. 4th 1299 (11th Cir. 2021), the court disagreed with the FDA” s longstanding position that the
orphan drug exclusivity only applies to the approved use or indication within an eligible disease. This decision created
uncertainty in the application of the orphan drug exclusivity. On January 24, 2023, the FDA published a notice in the Federal
Register to clarify that while the agency complies with the court’ s order in Catalyst, the FDA intends to continue to apply its
longstanding interpretation of the regulations to matters outside of the scope of the Catalyst order — that is, the agency will
continue tying the scope of orphan- drug exclusivity to the uses or indications for which a drug is approved, which permits other
sponsors to obtain approval of a drug for new uses or indications within the same orphan designated disease or condition that
have not yet been approved. It is unclear how future litigation, legislation, agency decisions, and administrative actions will
impact the scope of the orphan drug exclusivity. If our product candidates are unable to compete effectively with marketed drugs
targeting similar indications as our product candidates, our commercial opportunity will be reduced or eliminated. We face
competition generally from established pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, as well as from academic institutions,
government agencies and private and public research institutions. Many of our competitors have significantly greater financial
resources and expertise in research and development, manufacturing, preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining
regulatory approvals and marketing approved products than we do. Small or early- stage companies may also prove to be
significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large, established companies. We are aware of a



number of companies in Phase III clinical trials for the treatment of LAPC including AB Science SA , Angiodynamies
AngioDynamics , Bausch Health, Fibrogen-FibroGen , Inc., NeveCure-Novocure , SynCore Biotechnology, BMMS-Bristol
Myers Squibb , and ViewRay Systems, Inc . In addition, we are aware of a number of companies in Phase I and Phase 11
clinical trials for the treatment of LAPC including one interventional company, TriSalus Eifesetenees-Life Sciences . Our
commercial opportunity will be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and commercialize any products that are safer,
more effective, have fewer side effects or are less expensive than our product candidates. These potential competitors compete
with us in recruiting and retaining key and qualified scientific and management personnel, establishing clinical trial sites, and
patient enrollment for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies and technology licenses complementary to our
programs or advantageous to our business. If approved and commercialized, RenevoGemrour lead drug / device combination
product would compete with several currently approved prescription therapies for the treatment of LAPC and
cholangiocarcinoma. To our knowledge, other potential competitors are in the earlier stages of development. If potential
competitors are successful in completing drug development for their product candidates and obtain approval from the FDA, they
could limit the demand for RereveGem-our product . We expect that our ability to compete effectively will depend upon our
ability to: @ successfully identify and develop key points of product differentiation from currently available therapies; ®
successfully and timely complete clinical trials and submit for and obtain all requisite regulatory approvals in a cost- effective
manner; ® maintain a proprietary position for our products and manufacturing processes and other related product technology;
attract and retain key and qualified personnel; ® develop relationships with physicians prescribing these products; and e build
an adequate sales and marketing infrastructure for our products, if approved. Because we will be competing against significantly
larger companies with established track records, we will have to demonstrate that, based on experience, clinical data, side- effect
profiles and other factors, our products, if approved, are competitive with other products. If we are unable to compete
effectively and differentiate our products from other marketed drugs, we may never generate meaningful revenue. We may
expend our limited resources to pursue one or more product candidates or indications within our product development strategy,
which has and may continue to change over time, and fail to capitalize on product candidates or indications that may be more
profitable or for which there is a greater likelihood of success. Because we have limited financial and managerial resources, we
intend to focus on developing product candidates for specific indications that we identify as most likely to succeed, in terms of
their potential both to gain regulatory approval and to achieve commercialization. As a result, we may forego or delay the
pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates or in other indications with greater commercial potential. Such resource
allocation and strategic decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial products or profitable market
opportunities. Our spending on current and future research and development programs and product candidates for specific
indications may not yield any commercially viable product candidates. If we do not accurately evaluate the commercial potential
or target market for a particular product candidate, we may relinquish valuable rights to that product candidate through
collaboration, licensing, or other royalty arrangements in cases in which it would have been more advantageous for us to retain
sole development and commercialization rights to the product candidate. If the manufacturers upon whom we rely fail to
produce our product candidates, in the volumes that we require on a timely basis or fail to comply with stringent regulations
applicable to pharmaceutical drug manufacturers, we may face delays in the development and commercialization of our product
candidates. We do not currently possess internal manufacturing capacity. We plan to utilize the services of cGMP
manufacturers, FDA inspected contract manufacturers to formulate and manufacture our preclinical and clinical supplies. We
have expanded our relationship with our U. S.- based third- party RenovoCath manufacturer and received our first
commercial orders for RenovoCath devices in December 2024. Any curtailment in the availability of gemcitabine, or
RenovoCath, the drug delivery device, however, could result in production or other delays with consequent adverse effects on
us. In addition, because regulatory authorities must generally approve raw material sources for pharmaceutical products,
changes in raw material suppliers may result in production delays or higher raw material costs. We obtain our RenovoCath
delivery system from a single source, which must be manufactured in accordance with the FDA Quality System Regulation
(QSR). Gemcitabine is supplied from our clinical sites’ pharmacies and used off- label for IA use within our clinical study. We
continue to pursue supply agreements for gemcitabine and our RenovoCath delivery system. We may be required to agree to
minimum volume requirements, exclusivity arrangements or other restrictions with the contract manufacturers. We may not be
able to enter into long- term agreements on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If we change or add manufacturers, the
FDA and comparable foreign regulators may require approval of the changes. Approval of these changes could require new
testing by the manufacturer and compliance inspections to ensure the manufacturer is conforming to all applicable laws and
regulations and cGMP. The manufacture of pharmaceutical products, including drug / device combination products, requires
significant expertise and capital investment, including the development of an acceptable formulation to support later- stage trials
for our product candidates, advanced manufacturing techniques and process controls. Manufacturers of pharmaceutical products
may encounter difficulties in production, particularly in scaling up production and reformulating the form of any of our product
candidates. For drug / device combination products, ensuring compliance with both medical device and drug regulations exposes
us to additional risks. These problems include difficulties with production costs and yields, quality control, including stability of
the product and quality assurance testing, shortages of qualified personnel, as well as compliance with federal, state, and foreign
regulations. Our contract manufacturers may also place a priority on the manufacture of their own products, or other customers’
products. In addition, any delay or interruption in the supply of clinical trial supplies could delay the completion of our clinical
trials, increase the costs associated with conducting our clinical trials and, depending upon the period of delay, require us to
commence new clinical trials at significant additional expense or to terminate a clinical trial. We are wi-be-responsible for
ensuring that our fature-contract manufacturers comply with the cGMP requirements of the FDA and other regulatory authorities
from which we seek to obtain product approval. These requirements include, among other things, quality control, quality
assurance and the maintenance of records and documentation. The approval process for NDAs includes an inspection of the



manufacturer’ s compliance with cGMP requirements. We are will-be-responsible for regularly assessing a contract
manufacturer’ s compliance with cGMP requirements through record reviews and periodic audits and for ensuring that the
contract manufacturer takes responsibility and corrective action for any identified deviations. Manufacturers of our product
candidates may be unable to comply with these cGMP requirements and with other FDA and foreign regulatory requirements, if
any. While we sioversee compliance of our contract manufacturers, ultimately, we sHsethave no control over our
manufacturers’ compliance with these regulations and standards. A failure to comply with these requirements may result in fines
and civil penalties, suspension of production, suspension or delay in product approval, product seizure or recall, or withdrawal of
product approval. If the safety of any of our product candidates is compromised due to a manufacturers’ failure to adhere to
applicable laws or for other reasons, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or successfully commercialize any of
our product candidates, and we may be held liable for any injuries sustained as a result. Any of these factors could cause a delay
of clinical trials, regulatory submissions, approvals, or commercialization of ReneveGentrour lead drug / device combination
product or other product candidates, entail higher costs or result in us being unable to effectively commercialize any of our
product candidates. Furthermore, if our manufacturers fail to deliver the required commercial quantities on a timely basis and at
commercially reasonable prices, we may be unable to meet demand for any approved products and would lose potential
revenues. There are also risks of our contract manufacturers failing to perform as agreed, terminating their relationship with us,
experiencing the effects of any strikes or other work stoppages, or not remaining in the contract manufacturing business. Our
dependence on third- party suppliers subjects us to a number of risks that could negatively impact our ability to manufacture
products and harm our business, including: e interruption of supply resulting from modifications to, or discontinuation of, a
supplier’ s operations; ® delays in product shipments resulting from uncorrected defects, reliability issues, or a supplier’ s failure
to produce components that consistently meet our quality specifications; @ price fluctuations due to a lack of long- term supply
arrangements with our suppliers for key components; ® inability to obtain adequate supply in a timely manner or on
commercially reasonable terms; e difficulty identifying and qualifying alternative suppliers for components in a timely manner;
e inability of suppliers to comply with applicable provisions of the FDA’ s QSR, cGMP regulations or other applicable laws or
regulations enforced by the FDA or state regulatory authorities and foreign regulatory authorities; @ inability to ensure the
quality of products or components manufactured by third parties; ® production delays related to the evaluation and testing of
products and components from alternative suppliers and corresponding regulatory qualifications; @ delays in delivery by our
suppliers due to changes in demand from us or their other customers, or our suppliers prioritizing their other customers over us;
and e an outbreak of disease or similar public health threat particularly as it may impact our supply chain. Although we require
that our third- party suppliers provide our manufacturing partners with components that meet our specifications and comply with
applicable provisions of the QSR, cGMP and other applicable legal and regulatory requirements in our agreements and
contracts, there is a risk that our suppliers will not always act with our best interests in mind, and they may not always supply
components that meet our requirements or supply components in a timely manner. Any interruption or delay in the supply of
components or materials, or our inability to obtain components or materials from alternate sources at acceptable prices in a
timely manner, could impair our ability to meet the demand of our customers and cause them to cancel orders or switch to
competitive procedures. These events could harm our business and our operating results. We may not be able to manufacture our
product candidates in commercial quantities, which would prevent us from commercializing our product candidates. To date, our
product candidates have been manufactured in small quantities for preclinical studies and clinical trials. If any of our product
candidates are approved by the FDA or comparable regulatory authorities in other countries for commercial sale, we will need
to manufacture such product candidates in larger quantities. We may not be able to successfully increase the manufacturing
capacity for our product candidates in a timely or economic manner, or at all. A significant scale- up of manufacturing may
require additional validation studies, which the FDA must review and approve. If we are unable to successfully increase the
manufacturing capacity for a product candidate, the clinical trials as well as the regulatory approval or commercial launch of
that product candidate may be delayed or there may be a shortage in supply. Our product candidates require precise, high-
quality manufacturing in accordance with cGMP. Our failure to achieve and maintain these high- quality manufacturing
standards in collaboration with our third- party manufacturers, including the incidence of manufacturing errors, could result in
patient injury or death, product recalls or withdrawals, delays or failures in product testing or delivery, cost overruns or other
problems that could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our product candidates, if approved for
sale, may not gain acceptance among physicians, patients, and the medical community, thereby limiting our potential to
generate revenues. If our product candidates are approved for commercial sale by the FDA or other regulatory authorities, the
degree of market acceptance of any approved product by physicians, healthcare professionals and third- party payors and our
profitability and growth will depend on a number of factors, including: @ demonstration of safety and efficacy; ® perceived
advantages of our product candidates over alternative treatments; ® the indications for which the product candidates are
approved and the labeling approved by regulatory authorities for use with the product candidates, including any warnings,
limitations or contraindications contained in a product’ s approved labeling; ® approval of other new therapies for the same
indications; @ acceptance by physicians and patients of the product candidate as a safe and effective treatment; ® the cost, safety
and efficacy of treatment in relation to alternative treatments, including generic versions of the product candidates; ® the extent
to which our product candidates are included on formularies of hospitals and managed care organizations; e changes in the
practice guidelines and the standard of care for the targeted indication; e relative convenience and ease of administration; e the
prevalence and severity of any adverse side effects; ® budget impact of adoption of our product on relevant drug formularies and
the availability, cost, and potential advantages of alternative treatments, including less expensive generic drugs; e pricing,
reimbursement, and cost effectiveness, which may be subject to regulatory control; e effectiveness of our or any of our partners’
sales and marketing strategies; ® the product labeling or product insert required by the FDA or regulatory authority in other
countries; and e the availability of adequate third- party insurance coverage or reimbursement. If any product candidate that we



develop does not provide a treatment regimen that is as beneficial as, or is perceived as being as beneficial as, the current
standard of care or otherwise does not provide patient benefit, that product candidate, if approved for commercial sale by the
FDA or other regulatory authorities, likely will not achieve market acceptance. Our ability to effectively promote and sell any
approved products will also depend on pricing and cost- effectiveness, including our ability to produce a product at a
competitive price and our ability to obtain sufficient third- party coverage or reimbursement. If any product candidate is
approved but does not achieve an adequate level of acceptance by physicians, patients and third- party payors, our ability to
generate revenues from that product would be substantially reduced. In addition, our efforts to educate the medical community
and third- party payors on the benefits of our product candidates may require significant resources, may be constrained by FDA
rules and policies on product promotion, and may never be successful. Guidelines and recommendations published by various
organizations can impact the use of our products. Government agencies promulgate regulations and guidelines directly
applicable to us and to our product. In addition, professional societies, practice management groups, private health and science
foundations and organizations involved in various diseases from time to time may also publish guidelines or recommendations
to the healthcare and patient communities. Recommendations of government agencies or these other groups or organizations
may relate to such matters as usage, dosage, route of administration and use of concomitant therapies. Recommendations or
guidelines suggesting the reduced use of our products or the use of competitive or alternative products that are followed by
patients and healthcare providers could result in decreased use of our proposed products. The market for RereveGentrour lead
drug / device combination product and our other product candidates may not be as large as we expect. Our estimates of the
potential market opportunity for ReneveGem-our lead drug / device combination product and our other product candidates
include several key assumptions based on our industry knowledge, industry publications, third- party research reports and other
surveys, including surveys commissioned by us. These assumptions include the size of our target populations, the prevalence
and incidence of each of our target indications, the number of patients receiving current treatment, the percentage of patients
unsatisfied with the current treatments, the number of diagnosed but untreated patients, the compliance and adherence of
patients in our target populations, the number of treatment centers and prescribing physicians and the percentage of payer
acceptance. While we believe that our internal assumptions are reasonable, if any of these assumptions proves to be inaccurate,
then the actual market for our product candidates could be smaller than our estimates of our potential market opportunity. If the
actual market for any of our product candidates is smaller than we expect, our product revenue may be limited, and it may be
more difficult for us to achieve or maintain profitability. In the event that we need to change our third- party contract
manufacturers, our preclinical studies, clinical trials or the commercialization of our product candidates or FDA- approved
products could be delayed, adversely affected or terminated, or such a change may result in significantly higher costs. Due to
regulatory restrictions inherent in an IND or NDA, or for economic reasons, various steps in the manufacture of any of our
product candidates may need to be sole- sourced. We currently obtain our RenovoCath delivery system, subject to requirements
under the QSR, from a single supplier. In accordance with cGMP regulations and QSR, changing manufacturers may require the
re- validation of manufacturing processes and procedures, and may require further preclinical studies or clinical trials to show
comparability between the materials produced by different manufacturers, and further regulatory review and approval.
Changing our current or future contract manufacturers may be difficult for us and could be costly, which could result in our
inability to manufacture our product candidate for an extended period of time and therefore a delay in the development of any of
our product candidates. While we intend to find alternative suppliers to mitigate the risk, our efforts may not be successful.
Further, to maintain our development timelines in the event of a change in our third- party contract manufacturer, we may incur
significantly higher costs to manufacture any of our product candidates. We currently do not have any internal drug discovery
capabilities, and therefore we are dependent on identifying drugs that are off patent or on in- licensing or acquiring development
programs from third parties in order to obtain additional product candidates. If in the future we decide to further expand our
pipeline of product candidates, we will be dependent on identifying drugs that are off patent or on in- licensing or acquiring
product candidates as we do not have significant internal discovery capabilities at this time. We may face substantial
competition from other biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, many of which may have greater resources than we have,
in obtaining in- licensing, sponsored research or acquisition opportunities. In- licensing or acquisition opportunities may not be
available to us on terms we find acceptable, if at all. In- licensed compounds that appear promising in research or in preclinical
studies may fail to progress into further preclinical studies or clinical trials. If a product liability claim is successfully brought
against us for uninsured liabilities, or such a claim exceeds our insurance coverage, we could be forced to pay substantial
damage awards that could materially harm our business. The use of any of our existing or future product candidates in clinical
trials and the sale of any approved pharmaceutical products may expose us to significant product liability claims. We have
product liability insurance coverage for our proposed clinical trials; however, such insurance coverage may be inadequate and
may not protect us against any or all of the product liability claims that may be brought against us now or in the future. We may
not be able to acquire or maintain adequate product liability insurance coverage at a commercially reasonable cost or in
sufficient amounts or scope to protect us against potential losses. In the event a product liability claim is brought against us, we
may be required to pay legal and other expenses to defend the claim, as well as uncovered damage awards resulting from a
claim brought successfully against us. In the event that any of our product candidates are approved for sale by the FDA and
commercialized, we may need to substantially increase the amount of our product liability coverage. Defending any product
liability claim or claims could require us to expend significant financial and managerial resources, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business. We may delay or terminate the development of our product candidates at any time if we believe
the perceived market or commercial opportunity does not justify further investment, which could materially harm our business.
Even though the results of preclinical studies and clinical trials that have been conducted or may be conducted in the future may
support further development of our product candidates, we may delay, suspend or terminate the future development of a product
candidate at any time for strategic, business, financial or other reasons, including the determination or belief that the emerging



profile of the product candidate is such that it may not receive FDA approval, gain meaningful market acceptance, generate a
significant return to stockholders, or otherwise provide any competitive advantages in its intended indication or market. We-may

. aptte 3 w5 At ; v —Risks Related to Our
Operations Our future success depends on our ability to retain our key personnel and to attract, retain and motivate qualified
personnel. We are highly dependent on the development, regulatory, commercialization, and business development expertise of
Shaun Bagai, our Chief Executive Officer, as well as the other principal members of our management, scientific and clinical
teams. Although we have employment agreements, offer letters or consulting agreements with our executive officers, these
agreements do not prevent them from terminating their services at any time. If we lose one or more of our executive officers or
key employees, our ability to implement our business strategy successfully could be seriously harmed. Furthermore, replacing
executive officers and key employees may be difficult and may take an extended period of time because of the limited number
of individuals in our industry with the breadth of skills and experience required to successfully develop product candidates, gain
regulatory approval, and commercialize new products. Competition to hire from this limited pool is intense, and we may be
unable to hire, train, retain or motivate these additional key personnel on acceptable terms given the competition among
numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for similar personnel. We also experience competition, including a
recent hyper- competitive compensation environment, for the hiring of scientific and clinical personnel from universities and
research institutions. In addition, we rely on consultants and advisors, including scientific and clinical advisors, to assist us in
formulating our research and development and commercialization strategy. Our consultants and advisors may be engaged by
entities other than us and may have commitments under consulting or advisory contracts with other entities that may limit their
availability to us. One such key consultant is Dr. Ramtin Agah, our Chief Medical Officer. If we are unable to continue to attract
and retain highly qualified personnel, our ability to develop and commercialize product candidates will be limited. We will need
to increase the size of our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing growth. We are a small company with
fess-than-10 employees. The future growth of our company will impose significant additional responsibilities on members of
management, including the need to identify, attract, retain, motivate and integrate highly skilled personnel. We may increase the
number of employees in the future depending on the progress of our development and commercialization of our product
candidates. Our future financial performance and our ability to commercialize our product candidates and to compete effectively
will depend, in part, on our ability to manage any future growth effectively. To that end, we must be able to: ® manage our
clinical studies effectively; ® integrate additional and future management, administrative, manufacturing, sales and marketing,
and regulatory personnel; ® maintain sufficient administrative, accounting and management information systems and controls;
and e hire and train additional qualified personnel. There is no guarantee that we will be able to accomplish these tasks, and our
failure to accomplish any of them could materially adversely affect our business, prospects, and financial condition. Business
disruptions could seriously harm future revenue and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses. Our operations,
and those of our third- party manufacturers, contract research organizations (“ CROs ), and other contractors and consultants,
could be subject to earthquakes, power shortages, telecommunications failures, water shortages, floods, hurricanes, typhoons,
fires, extreme weather conditions, medical epidemics and other natural or man- made disasters or business interruptions beyond
our control, for which we are predominantly self- insured. The occurrence of any of these business disruptions could delay our
clinical trials, seriously harm our operations and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses. In addition, our ability
to obtain clinical supplies for our clinical trials and materials for our product candidates could be disrupted if the operations of
these suppliers are affected by a man- made or natural disaster or other business interruptions. Our corporate headquarters are
located in Silicon Valley, California, an area prone to wildfires and earthquakes. These and other natural disasters could severely
disrupt our operations, and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and
prospects. If a natural disaster, power outage or other event occurred that prevented us from using all or a significant portion of
our headquarters, that damaged critical infrastructure, such as the manufacturing facilities of our third- party contract
manufacturers s-or that otherwise disrupted operations, it may be difficult or, in certain cases, impossible for us to continue our
business for a substantial period of time. Any disaster recovery and business continuity plans we have in place may prove
inadequate in the event of a serious disaster or similar event. We may incur substantial expenses as a result of the limited nature
of our disaster recovery and business continuity plans, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Catastrophic
events and man- made problems, such as terrorism, war, or climate change may disrupt our business. A significant natural
disaster, such as an earthquake, fire, flood, hurricane, or significant power outages, water shortages and the risks associated with
climate change could have an adverse impact on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. Our headquarters,
employees and a majority of our executive officers are located in the San Francisco Bay Area, a region known for seismic
activity, drought, and wildfires, and the resultant air quality impacts and power outages associated with such wildfires. In
addition, acts of terrorism, public health emergencies, protests, riots, and the increasing frequency and impact of extreme
weather events on critical infrastructure in the U. S. and elsewhere have the potential to disrupt our business and the business of
our third- party suppliers, and may cause us to experience higher attrition, losses, and additional costs to maintain or resume
operations. All of the aforementioned risks may be further increased if our course of action in response to catastrophic events
proves to be inadequate. For example, if a catastrophic event occurred that prevented us from using all or a significant portion of



ur faettity-headquarters , that damaged critical infrastructure, such as the manufacturing facilities of our third- party contract
manufacturers, or the infrastructure where are clinical trials are being conducted, or that otherwise disrupted our operations
or the operations of our RenovoCath customers . it may be difficult or, in certain cases, impossible for us to continue our
business to a material degree for a substantial period of time. Any disaster recovery and business continuity plan we have in
place may prove inadequate in the event of a serious disaster or similar event and we may incur substantial expenses as a result
of the limited nature of these plans, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Moreover fnFebraary2622-,

armed conflict eseatated-between Russia and Ukrame smce 2022 Whteh—}ed—te—vaﬂeus—sa-neﬁens—by—t-he—U—S—and between
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Middle East since Stu%euﬂdtng—fegreﬂ—&rat—eeﬂaﬁwﬂeed—m—()ctober 2023, led to the 1mpos1t10n of sanctions against certain
countries like Russia and have created added-to-global geopolitical unrest , including instability in the financial markets . [t
is not possible to predict the broader consequences of these conflicts , particularly given the outcome of U. S. elections in
November 2024 , which could include further sanctions, embargoes, tariffs, regional instability, prolonged periods of higher
inflation, geopolitical shifts and uncertainty , and adverse effects on macroeconomic conditions, currency exchange rates, and
financial markets, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations. Security threats to our information technology infrastructure and / or our physical buildings could expose us to
liability and damage our reputation and business. It is essential to our business strategy that eut-and-our vendors, partners,
clinical trial sites, and third- party providers’ technology and network infrastructure and physical buildings remain secure and
are perceived by our customers and corporate partners to be secure. Despite our implementation of security measures, any of the
internal computer systems and networks belonging to or used by us or our employees and our third- party service providers are
vulnerable to damage and disruption from computer viruses, ransomware and other malicious code, unauthorized access, natural
disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical failure, as well as security breaches and incidents from
inadvertent or intentional actions, or from cyber- attacks by malicious third parties (including supply chain cyber- attacks,
denial- of- service attacks, social engineering and other means to affect service reliability and threaten the confidentiality,
integrity and availability of information), which may compromise system infrastructure or lead to the loss, destruction,
alteration, prevention of access to, disclosure, or dissemination of, or damage or unauthorized access to, our data (including trade
secrets or other confidential information, intellectual property, proprietary business information, and personal information) or
data that is processed or maintained on our behalf, or other assets, which could result in financial, legal, business and
reputational harm to us. Any system failure, accident or security breach or incident that causes interruptions in our own or in our
third- party service providers’ operations could result in a material disruption of our development programs or other aspects of
our operations. As a result of the advent of remote working, with many of our employees working from home from time to time
and accessing our corporate network via remote devices, the potential for such events to occur is even greater. Despite security
measures, we also cannot guarantee the security of our physical buildings. Physical building penetration or any cyber- attacks
could negatively affect our reputation, damage our network infrastructure and our ability to deploy our products and services,
harm our relationship with customers and partners that are affected, and expose us to financial liability, including the possibility
of consequential damages resulting from cyber- attacks and other security threats. Additionally, there are a number of state,
federal, and international laws protecting the privacy and security of health information and personal data. For example, the
HIPAA imposes limitations on the use and disclosure of an individual’ s healthcare information by healthcare providers,
healthcare clearinghouses, and health insurance plans, or, collectively, covered entities, and also grants individuals rights with
respect to their health information. HIPAA also imposes compliance obligations and corresponding penalties for non-
compliance on individuals and entities that provide services to healthcare providers and other covered entities. As part of the
American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (“ ARRA ”), the privacy and security provisions of HIPAA were amended.
ARRA also made significant increases in the penalties for improper use or disclosure of an individual’ s health information
under HIPAA and extended enforcement authority to state attorneys general. As amended by ARRA and subsequently by the
final omnibus rule adopted in 2013, HIPAA also imposes notification requirements on covered entities in the event that certain
health information has been inappropriately accessed or disclosed, including notification requirements to individuals, federal
regulators, and in some cases, notification to local and national media. Notification is not required under HIPAA if the health
information that is improperly used or disclosed is deemed secured in accordance with encryption or other standards developed
by the U. S. Department of Health and Human Services. Most states have laws requiring notification of affected individuals and
/ or state regulators in the event of a breach of personal information, which is a broader class of information than the health
information protected by HIPAA. Many state laws impose significant data security requirements, such as encryption or
mandatory contractual terms, to ensure ongoing protection of personal information. Activities outside of the U. S. implicate
local and national data protection standards, impose additional compliance requirements, and generate additional risks of
enforcement for non- compliance. We may be required to expend significant capital and other resources to ensure ongoing
compliance with applicable privacy and data security laws, to protect against security breaches and hackers or to alleviate
problems caused by such breaches. We and our third- party contract manufacturers must comply with environmental, health and
safety laws and regulations, and failure to comply with these laws and regulations could expose us to significant costs or
liabilities. We and our third- party manufacturers are subject to numerous environmental, health and safety laws and regulations,
including those governing laboratory procedures and the use, generation, manufacture, distribution, storage, handling, treatment,
remediation and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes. Hazardous chemicals, including flammable and biological
materials, are involved in certain aspects of our business, and we cannot eliminate the risk of injury or contamination from the
use, generation, manufacture, distribution, storage, handling, treatment or disposal of hazardous materials and wastes. In the
event of contamination or injury, or failure to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could be
held liable for any resulting damages and any such liability could exceed our assets and resources. We could also incur




significant costs associated with civil or criminal fines and penalties for failure to comply with such laws and regulations.
Although we maintain workers’ compensation insurance to cover us for costs and expenses we may incur due to injuries to our
employees resulting from the use of hazardous materials, this insurance may not provide adequate coverage against potential
liabilities. We do not maintain insurance for environmental liability or toxic tort claims that may be asserted against us in
connection with our storage or disposal of biological, hazardous or radioactive materials. Environmental, health and safety laws
and regulations are becoming increasingly more stringent. We may incur substantial costs in order to comply with current or
future environmental, health and safety laws and regulations. These current or future laws and regulations may impair our
research, development or production efforts. Our failure to comply with these laws and regulations also may result in substantial
fines, penalties or other sanctions. Further, with respect to the operations of our third- party contract manufacturers, it is possible
that if they fail to operate in compliance with applicable environmental, health and safety laws and regulations or properly
dispose of wastes associated with our products, we could be held liable for any resulting damages, suffer reputational harm or
experience a disruption in the manufacture and supply of our product candidates or products. A variety of risks associated with
operating internationally could materially adversely affect our business. Doing business internationally involves a number of
risks, including but not limited to: ® multiple, conflicting and changing laws and regulations, such as privacy regulations, tax
laws, export and import restrictions, employment laws, regulatory requirements and other governmental approvals, permits and
licenses; @ failure by us to obtain and maintain regulatory approvals for the use of our products in various countries; ®
additional potentially relevant third- party patent rights; @ complexities and difficulties in obtaining protection and enforcing our
intellectual property; e difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations; ® complexities associated with managing
multiple payor reimbursement regimes, government payors or patient self- pay systems; @ limits in our ability to penetrate
international markets; @ financial risks, such as longer payment cycles, difficulty collecting accounts receivable, the impact of
local and regional financial crises on demand and payment for our products, exposure to foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations, and a rising rate of inflation; e natural disasters, political and economic instability, including wars, terrorism and
political unrest, outbreak of disease, boycotts, curtailment of trade and other business restrictions; ® certain expenses including,
among others, expenses for travel, translation, and insurance; and e regulatory and compliance risks that relate to maintaining
accurate information and control over sales and activities that may fall within the purview of the U. S. Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act, its books and records provisions, or its anti- bribery provisions. Any of these factors could significantly harm any current or
future international operations and, consequently, our results of operations. General economic or business conditions may have a
negative impact on our business. Continuing concerns over U. S. healthcare reform legislation and energy costs, geopolitical
issues, fluctuations in inflation rates, market volatility, the availability and cost of credit and government stimulus programs in
the U. S. and other countries, as well as recent and potential future disruptions in access to bank deposits or lending
commitments due to bank failure, have contributed to increased volatility and could materially and adversely affect our liquidity,
our business and financial condition. The 2023 closures of Silicon Valley Bank and Signature Bank and their placement into
receivership with the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“ FDIC ”) created bank- specific and broader financial institution
liquidity risk and concerns. Although the Department of the Treasury, the Federal Reserve, and the FDIC jointly released a
statement that depositors at Silicon Valley Bank and Signature Bank would have access to their funds, even those in excess of
the standard FDIC insurance limits, future adverse developments with respect to specific financial institutions or the broader
financial services industry may lead to market- wide liquidity shortages. The failure of any bank in which we deposit our funds
could reduce the amount of cash we have available for our operations or delay our ability to access such funds. Any such failure
may increase the possibility of a sustained deterioration of financial market liquidity, or illiquidity at clearing, cash management
and / or custodial financial institutions. In the event we have a commercial relationship with a bank that has failed or is otherwise
distressed, we may experience delays or other issues in meeting our financial obligations. If other banks and financial
institutions enter receivership or become insolvent in the future in response to financial conditions affecting the banking system
and financial markets, our ability to access our cash and cash equivalents and investments may be threatened and could have a
material adverse effect on our business and financial condition. If the economic climate deteriorates or is poor, our business, as
well as the financial condition of our suppliers and our third- party payors, could be negatively impacted, which could
materially adversely affect our business, prospects and financial condition. Our operations are subject to the effects of a rising
rate of inflation. The United States has recently experienced historically high levels of inflation. If the inflation rate continues to
increase, for example due to increases in the costs of labor and supplies, it will affect our expenses, such as employee
compensation and research and development charges. Additionally, the United States is experiencing an acute workforce
shortage, which in turn, has created a very competitive wage environment that may increase our the-Cempany—s-operating
costs. To the extent inflation results in rising interest rates and has other adverse effects on the market, it may adversely affect
our financial condition and results of operations. Healthcare reform measures could adversely affect our business. The impact of
recent healthcare reform legislation and other changes in the healthcare industry and in healthcare spending on us is currently
unknown and may adversely affect our business model. Existing regulatory policies may change, and additional government
regulations may be enacted that could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates. We cannot predict
the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action, either in
the United States or abroad. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new
requirements or policies, or if we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we
may have obtained and we may not achieve or sustain profitability. In the United States and foreign jurisdictions, there have
been, and continue to be, a number of legislative and regulatory changes and proposed changes to the healthcare system that
could affect our future results of operations. In particular, there have been and continue to be a number of initiatives at the
federal and state levels in the United States that seek to reduce healthcare costs. In 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable
Care Act (the “ PPACA ) was enacted, which includes measures to significantly change the way healthcare is financed by both



governmental and private insurers. Among the provisions of the PPACA of greatest importance to the pharmaceutical and
biotechnology industry are the following: @ an annual, nondeductible fee on any entity that manufactures or imports certain
branded prescription drugs and biologic agents, apportioned among these entities according to their market share in certain
government healthcare programs; @ implementation of the federal physician payment transparency requirements, sometimes
referred to as the “ Physician Payments Sunshine Act ; ” +-e a licensure framework for follow- on biologic products; ® a new
Patient- Centered Outcomes Research Institute to oversee, identify priorities in, and conduct comparative clinical effectiveness
research, along with funding for such research; e establishment of a Center for Medicare Innovation at the Centers for Medicare
& Medicaid Services to test innovative payment and service delivery models to lower Medicare and Medicaid spending,
potentially including prescription drug spending; @ an increase in the statutory minimum rebates a manufacturer must pay under
the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, to 23. 1 % and 13 % of the average manufacturer price for most branded and generic drugs,
respectively and capped the total rebate amount for innovator drugs at 100 % of the AMP; @ a new methodology by which
rebates owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program are calculated for certain drugs and biologics,
including our product candidates, that are inhaled, infused, instilled, implanted or injected; ® extension of manufacturers’
Medicaid rebate liability to covered drugs dispensed to individuals who are enrolled in Medicaid managed care organizations; ®
expansion of eligibility criteria for Medicaid programs by, among other things, allowing states to offer Medicaid coverage to
additional individuals and by adding new mandatory eligibility categories for individuals with income at or below 133 % of the
federal poverty level, thereby potentially increasing manufacturers” Medicaid rebate liability; ® a new Medicare Part D coverage
gap discount program, in which manufacturers must agree to offer 50 % point- of- sale discounts off negotiated prices of
applicable brand drugs to eligible beneficiaries during their coverage gap period, as a condition for the manufacturer’ s
outpatient drugs to be covered under Medicare Part D; and e expansion of the entities eligible for discounts under the Public
Health program. Since its enactment, there remain judicial and Congressional challenges to certain aspects of the PPACA. For
example, in June 2021 the U. S. Supreme Court held that Texas and other challengers had no legal standing to challenge the
PPACA, dismissing the case on procedural grounds without specifically ruling on the constitutionality of the PPACA. Thus, the
PPACA will remain in effect in its current form. In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the
PPACA was enacted. These changes include aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to providers of up to 2 % per fiscal
year pursuant to the Budget Control Act of 2011, which began in 2013 due to subsequent legislative amendments will remain in
effect through 2032, with the exception of a temporary suspension implemented under various COVID- 19 relief legislation.
Moreover, there has recently been heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which drug manufacturers set prices for
their marketed products, which has resulted in several Congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted federal and state
legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to product pricing, review the relationship between pricing
and manufacturer patient programs, and reform government program reimbursement methodologies for drug products. For
example, under the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, effective January 1, 2024, the statutory cap on Medicaid Drug Rebate
Program rebates that manufacturers pay to state Medicaid programs will be eliminated. Elimination of this cap may require
pharmaceutical manufacturers to pay more in rebates than it receives on the sale of products, which could have a material impact
on our business. In August 2022, Congress passed the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, which includes prescription drug
provisions that have significant implications for the pharmaceutical industry and Medicare beneficiaries, including allowing the
federal government to negotiate a maximum fair price for certain high- priced single source Medicare drugs, imposing penalties
and excise tax for manufacturers that fail to comply with the drug price negotiation requirements, requiring inflation rebates for
all Medicare Part B and Part D drugs, with limited exceptions, if their drug prices increase faster than inflation, and redesigning
Medicare Part D to reduce out- of- pocket prescription drug costs for beneficiaries, among other changes. Various industry
stakeholders, including certain pharmaceutical companies and industry interest groups, have initiated lawsuits against the federal
government asserting that the price negotiation provisions of the Inflation Reduction Act are unconstitutional. The impact of
these judicial challenges and future legislative, executive, and administrative actions and any agency rules on us and the
pharmaceutical industry as a whole is unclear. The implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare reforms
may prevent us from being able to generate revenue, attain profitability, or commercialize our product candidates if approved.
Complying with any new legislation and regulatory changes could be time- intensive and expensive, resulting in a material
adverse effect on our business. Individual states have become increasingly aggressive in passing legislation and implementing
regulations designed to control pharmaceutical product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts,
restrictions on certain product access, and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and to encourage importation
from other countries and bulk purchasing. Legally mandated price controls on payment amounts by third- party payors or other
restrictions could harm our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. In addition, regional healthcare
authorities and individual hospitals are increasingly using bidding procedures to determine what pharmaceutical products and
which suppliers will be included in their prescription drug and other healthcare programs. This could reduce the ultimate
demand for our products or put pressure on our product pricing, which could negatively affect our business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects. In addition, given recent federal and state government initiatives directed at
lowering the total cost of healthcare, Congress and state legislatures will likely continue to focus on healthcare reform, the cost
of prescription drugs and biologics and the reform of the Medicare and Medicaid programs. While we cannot predict the full
outcome of any such legislation, it may result in decreased reimbursement for drugs and biologics, which may further
exacerbate industry- wide pressure to reduce prescription drug prices. This could harm our ability to generate revenue. Further, a
number of states are considering or have recently enacted state drug price transparency and reporting laws that could
substantially increase our compliance burdens and expose us to greater liability under such state laws once we begin
commercialization. Increases in importation or re- importation of pharmaceutical products from foreign countries into the
United States could put competitive pressure on our ability to profitably price our products, which, in turn, could adversely



affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. We might elect not to seek approval for or market
our products in foreign jurisdictions in order to minimize the risk of re- importation, which could also reduce the revenue we
generate from product sales. It is also possible that other legislative proposals having similar effects will be adopted.
Furthermore, regulatory authorities’ assessment of the data and results required to demonstrate safety and efficacy can change
over time and can be affected by many factors, such as the emergence of new information, including on other products,
changing policies and agency funding, staffing and leadership. We cannot be sure whether future changes to the regulatory
environment will be favorable or unfavorable to our business prospects. For example, average review times at the FDA for
marketing approval applications can be affected by a variety of factors, including budget and funding levels and statutory,
regulatory and policy changes. Reimbursement for any approved products may be limited or unavailable, which could make it
difficult for us to sell our product candidates profitably. In both domestic and foreign markets, sales of RenovoCath or any of
our ether-drug product candidates, if approved, will depend, in part, on the extent to which the costs of our product candidates
will be covered by third- party payors, such as government health care programs, commercial insurance and managed health
care organizations. These third- party payors decide which drugs will be covered and establish reimbursement levels for those
drugs. The containment of health care costs has become a priority of foreign and domestic governments as well as private third-
party payors. The prices of drugs have been a focus in this effort. Governments and private third- party payors have attempted to
control costs by limiting coverage and the amount of reimbursement for particular medications, which could affect our ability to
sell our product candidates profitably. Cost- control initiatives could cause us to decrease the price we might establish for
product candidates, which could result in lower than anticipated product revenues. Reimbursement by a third- party payor may
depend upon a number of factors, including the third- party payor’ s determination that use of a product is: ® a covered benefit
under its health plan; e safe, effective and medically necessary; ® appropriate for the specific patient; ® cost- effective relative
to other alternatives, including generic products; and e neither experimental nor investigational. Adverse pricing limitations may
hinder our ability to recoup our investment in our existing and any future product candidates, even if such product candidates
obtain marketing approval. Obtaining coverage and reimbursement approval for a product from a government or other third-
party payor is a time- consuming and costly process that could require us to provide supporting scientific, clinical and cost-
effectiveness data for the use of our product candidates to the payor. Further, there is significant uncertainty related to third-
party payor coverage and reimbursement of newly approved product candidates, including our product candidates if they are
approved. We may not be able to provide data sufficient to gain acceptance with respect to coverage and reimbursement. We
cannot be sure that coverage or adequate reimbursement will be available for any of our product candidates. Also, we cannot be
sure that reimbursement amounts will not reduce the demand for, or the price of, our product candidates. If reimbursement is not
available or is available only to limited levels, we may not be able to successfully commercialize certain of our product
candidates. In addition, in the United States, third- party payors are increasingly attempting to contain health care costs by
limiting both coverage and the level of reimbursement of new product candidates. As a result, significant uncertainty exists as to
whether and how much third- party payors will reimburse patients for their use of newly approved product candidates, which in
turn will put pressure on pricing. In some countries, including member states of the European Union, the pricing of prescription
drugs is subject to governmental control. In these countries, pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take
considerable time after receipt of marketing approval for a product. In addition, there can be considerable pressure from
governments and other stakeholders on prices and reimbursement levels, including as part of cost containment measures.
Political, economic and regulatory developments may further complicate pricing negotiations, and pricing negotiations may
continue after reimbursement has been obtained. Reference pricing used by various European Union member states and other
countries and parallel distribution, or arbitrage between low- priced and high- priced member states, can further reduce prices.
In some countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical trial or other studies that compare the cost- effectiveness of our
product candidates to other available therapies in order to obtain or maintain reimbursement or pricing approval. Publication of
discounts by third- party payors or authorities may lead to further pressure on the prices or reimbursement levels within the
country of publication and other countries. If reimbursement of our product candidates is unavailable or limited in scope or
amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, our business could be adversely affected. Any legal proceedings or claims
against us could be costly and time- consuming to defend and could harm our reputation regardless of the outcome. We may in
the future become subject to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business, including intellectual
property, product liability, employment, wage and hour, class action, derivative, whistleblower and other litigation claims, and
governmental and other regulatory investigations and proceedings. Such matters can be time- consuming, divert management’ s
attention and resources, cause us to incur significant expenses or liability, or require us to change our business practices. In
addition, the expense of litigation, for which we are either not insured or only partially insured depending on the claim, and the
timing of this expense from period to period will be difficult to estimate, subject to change, and could adversely affect our
financial condition and results of operations. Because of the potential risks, expenses, and uncertainties of litigation, we may,
from time to time, settle disputes, even where we have meritorious claims or defenses, by agreeing to settlement agreements.
Any of the foregoing could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Changes in tax laws or
in their implementation or interpretation may adversely affect our business and financial condition . We are or may become
subject to income and non- income taxes in the United States under federal, state and local jurisdictions and in certain foreign
jurisdictions in which we operate. Tax laws, regulations and administrative practices in these jurisdictions may be subject to
significant change, with or without advance notice. For example, on January 1, 2022, a provision of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of
2017 went into effect that eliminates the option to deduct domestic research and development costs in the year incurred and
instead requires taxpayers to amortize such costs over five years. We are The-Companyis-currently evaluating the potential
impact. Also, the Inflation Reduction Act, which introduced a 15 % minimum tax on book income and a 1 % excise tax on stock
buybacks. Changes in tax laws (including provisions of the recently enacted federal tax legislation titled the Inflation Reduction



Act), regulations, or rulings, changes in interpretations of existing laws and regulations, or changes in accounting principles
could negatively and materially affect our financial position, effective tax rates, cash flows, and results of operations . Qur
ability to use our net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations. As of
December 31, 2024, we had net operating loss (“ NOL ”) carryforwards for federal and state income tax purposes which
may be available to offset taxable income in future years. A lack of future taxable income would adversely affect our
ability to utilize these NOLs before they expire. The utilization of our NOLs could be subject to annual limitations under
Section 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code (“ IRC ” or the “ Code ”) of 1986, and similar state tax provisions due
to ownership change limitations that may have occurred previously or that could occur in the future. In general, under
Section 382, a corporation that undergoes an “ ownership change ” (as defined under Section 382 of the Code and
applicable Treasury Regulations) is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre- change NOL:s to offset its future
taxable income. As of December 31, 2024, we have not conducted an analysis of an ownership change under Section 382.
To the extent that a study is completed, and an ownership change is deemed to occur, in the past or future, our NOLs
and any NOLSs of companies that we have acquired could be limited to offset any future taxable income . Risks Related to
Intellectual Property If we are unable to protect our intellectual property effectively, we may be unable to prevent third parties
from using our technologies, which would impair our competitive advantage. We rely on patent protection as well as a
combination of trademark, copyright and trade secret protection, and other contractual restrictions, to protect our proprietary
technologies, all of which provide limited protection and may not adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep any
competitive advantage. We may not be successful in defending challenges made in connection with our patents and patent
applications. If we fail to protect our intellectual property, we will be unable to prevent third parties from using our technologies
and they will be able to compete more effectively against us. The degree of future protection afforded by our intellectual
property rights is uncertain because intellectual property rights have limitations and may not adequately protect our business or
permit us to maintain our competitive advantage. For example, others may be able to make products that are similar to our
product candidates or utilize similar technology but that are not covered by the claims of the patents that we license or may own;
we, or our future licensors or collaborators, might not have been the first to file patent applications covering certain of our or
their inventions; and issued patents that we hold rights to may be held invalid or unenforceable, including as a result of legal
challenges by our competitors or other third parties. In addition to our patents, we rely on contractual restrictions to protect our
proprietary technology. We require our employees and third parties to sign confidentiality agreements and our employees are
also required to sign agreements assigning to us all intellectual property arising from their work for us. Nevertheless, we cannot
guarantee that these measures will be effective in protecting our intellectual property rights. Should any of these events occur, it
or they could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects. If
any of our patent applications do not issue as patents in any jurisdiction, we may not be able to compete effectively. Our
currently pending or future patent applications may not result in issued patents and any patents issued to us may be challenged,
invalidated, or held unenforceable. Changes in either the patent laws or their interpretation in the U. S. and other countries may
diminish our ability to protect our inventions, obtain, maintain, and enforce our intellectual property rights, and, more generally,
could affect the value of our intellectual property or narrow the scope of our patents with respect to our product candidates.
Furthermore, we cannot be certain that we were the first to make the invention claimed in our issued patents or pending patent
applications in the U. S., or that we were the first to file for protection of the inventions claimed in our foreign issued patents or
pending patent applications. There are numerous recent changes to the patent laws and proposed changes to the rules of the
United States Patent and Trademark Office (“ USPTO ”), which may have a significant impact on our ability to protect our
technology and enforce our intellectual property rights. For example, in September 2011, the U. S. enacted sweeping changes to
the U. S. patent system under the Leahy- Smith America Invents Act, including changes that transitioned the U. S. from a * first-
to- invent ” system to a “ first- to- file ”” system and alter the processes for challenging issued patents. These changes could
increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our
issued patents. In addition, we may become subject to interference proceedings conducted in the patent and trademark offices of
various countries to determine our entitlement to patents, and these proceedings may conclude that other patents or patent
applications have priority over our patents or patent applications. It is also possible that a competitor may successfully challenge
our patents through various proceedings and those challenges may result in the elimination or narrowing of our patents, and
therefore reduce our patent protection. The patent prosecution process is expensive, time- consuming, and complex, and we may
not be able to file, prosecute, maintain, enforce, or license all necessary or desirable patent applications at a reasonable cost or in
a timely manner. It is also possible that we will fail to identify patentable aspects of our research and development output in time
to obtain patent protection. We may not have the right to control the preparation, filing and prosecution of patent applications, or
to maintain the rights to patents licensed to third parties. Therefore, these patents and applications may not be prosecuted and
enforced in a manner consistent with the best interests of our business. Any parties who enter into nondisclosure or
confidentiality agreements with us that have access to confidential or patentable aspects of our research and development output
may breach such agreements and disclose such output before a patent application is filed, thereby jeopardizing our ability to
seek patent protection. In addition, rights under any of our issued patents, patent applications or future patents may not provide
us with commercially meaningful protection for our products or afford us a commercial advantage against our competitors or
their competitive products or processes. If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, then we may not be
able to build name recognition in our markets of interest and our business may be adversely affected. Our unregistered
trademarks or trade names may be challenged, infringed, circumvented, or declared generic or determined to be infringing on
other marks. We may not be able to protect our rights to these trademarks and trade names, which we need to build name
recognition among potential collaborators or customers in our markets of interest. At times, competitors may adopt trade names
or trademarks similar to ours, thereby impeding our ability to build brand identity and possibly leading to market confusion. In



addition, there could be potential trade name or trademark infringement claims brought by owners of other registered
trademarks or trademarks that incorporate variations of our unregistered trademarks or trade names. Over the long term, if we
are unable to successfully register our trademarks and trade names and establish name recognition based on our trademarks and
trade names, then we may not be able to compete effectively, and our business may be adversely affected. Our efforts to enforce
or protect our proprietary rights related to trademarks, trade secrets, domain names, copyrights or other intellectual property may
be ineffective and could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could adversely impact our financial condition
or results of operations. The patents issued to us may not be broad enough to provide any meaningful protection, one or more of
our competitors may develop more effective technologies, designs or methods without infringing our intellectual property rights
and one or more of our competitors may design around our proprietary technologies. If we are not able to protect our proprietary
technology, trade secrets and know- how, our competitors may use our inventions to develop competing products. Our patents
may not protect us against our competitors, and patent litigation is very expensive. We may not have sufficient cash available to
pursue any patent litigation to its conclusion because we currently do not generate revenues other than licensing, milestone and
royalty income. We cannot rely solely on our current patents to be successful. The standards that the USPTO and foreign patent
office’ s use to grant patents, and the standards that U. S. and foreign courts use to interpret patents, are not the same, are not
always applied predictably or uniformly and can change, particularly as new technologies develop. As such, the degree of patent
protection obtained in the U. S. may differ substantially from that obtained in various foreign countries. We cannot be certain of
the level of protection, if any, that will be provided by our patents if they are challenged in court, where our competitors may
raise defenses such as invalidity, unenforceability, or possession of a valid license. In addition, the type and extent of any patent
claims that may be issued to us in the future are uncertain. Any patents that are issued may not contain claims that will permit us
to stop competitors from using similar technology. We may incur substantial costs as a result of litigation or other proceedings
relating to patent and other intellectual property rights. Third parties may challenge the validity, inventorship or ownership of
our patents and other intellectual property rights, resulting in costly litigation or other time- consuming and expensive
proceedings, which could deprive us of valuable rights. If we become involved in any intellectual property litigation,
interference or other judicial or administrative proceedings, we will incur substantial expenses and the attention of our technical
and management personnel will be diverted. An adverse determination may subject us to significant liabilities or require us to
seek licenses that may not be available from third parties on commercially favorable terms, if at all. Further, if such claims are
proven valid, through litigation or otherwise, we may be required under applicable law to pay substantial monetary damages,
which can be tripled if the infringement is deemed willful, or be required to discontinue or significantly delay development,
marketing, selling and licensing of the affected products and intellectual property rights. Our competitors may have filed, and
may in the future file, patent applications covering technology similar to ours. Any such patent application may have priority
over our patent applications and could further require us to obtain rights to issued patents covering such technologies. There may
be third- party patents, patent applications and other intellectual property relevant to our potential products that may block or
compete with our potential products or processes. If another party has filed a U. S. patent application on inventions similar to
ours, we may have to participate in an interference proceeding declared by the USPTO to determine priority of invention in the
U. S. The costs of these proceedings could be substantial, and it is possible that such efforts would be unsuccessful, resulting in
a loss of our U. S. patent position with respect to such inventions. In addition, we cannot assure you that we would prevail in any
of these suits or that the damages or other remedies that we are ordered to pay, if any, would not be substantial. Claims of
intellectual property infringement, misappropriation or other violations against us may require us to enter into royalty or license
agreements with third parties that may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all. We may also be subject to injunctions
against the further development and use of our technology, which could materially adversely affect our business, prospects and
financial condition. Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of complex patent litigation more effectively than
we can because they have substantially greater resources. In addition, any uncertainties resulting from the initiation and
continuation of any litigation could materially adversely affect our ability to raise the funds necessary to continue our
operations. Obtaining and maintaining patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission,
fee payment and other requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or
eliminated for non- compliance with these requirements. Periodic maintenance fees on any issued patent are due to be paid to
the USPTO and foreign patent agencies in several stages over the lifetime of the patent. In the United States, patents have a
limited lifespan, and if all maintenance fees are timely paid, the natural expiration of a patent is generally 20- years from its
earliest U. S. non- provisional filing date. The USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance
with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other provisions during the patent application process and
following the issuance of a patent. While an inadvertent lapse can in many cases be cured by payment of a late fee or by other
means in accordance with the applicable rules, there are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse
of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction.
Noncompliance events that could result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application include, but are not limited to,
failure to respond to official actions within prescribed time limits, non- payment of fees and failure to properly legalize and
submit formal documents. In certain circumstances, even inadvertent noncompliance events may permanently and irrevocably
jeopardize patent rights. In such an event, our competitors might be able to enter the market, which would have a material
adverse effect on our business. If we are unable to obtain licenses from third parties on commercially reasonable terms or fail to
comply with our obligations under such agreements, our business could be harmed. It may be necessary for us to use the
patented or proprietary technology of third parties to commercialize our products, in which case we would be required to obtain
a license from these third parties. If we are unable to license such technology, or if we are forced to license such technology, on
unfavorable terms, our business could be materially harmed. If we are unable to obtain a necessary license, we may be unable to
develop or commercialize the affected product candidates, which could materially harm our business, and the third parties



owning such intellectual property rights could seek either an injunction prohibiting our sales, or, with respect to our sales, an
obligation on our part to pay royalties and / or other forms of compensation. Even if we are able to obtain a license, agreements
we may enter into in the future, if any, may not provide exclusive rights to use certain intellectual property and technology
retained by the collaborator in all relevant fields of use and in all territories in which we may wish to develop or commercialize
our technology and products in the future. As a result, we may not be able to prevent competitors or other third parties from
developing and commercializing competitive products that utilize technology retained by such collaborators to the extent such
products are not also covered by our intellectual property. In such an event, our business, financial condition, results of
operations, and growth prospects could be materially harmed. We rely on confidentiality agreements to protect our trade secrets.
If these agreements are breached by our employees or other parties, our trade secrets may become known to our competitors.
We may also be subject to claims that our employees, consultants, or advisors have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade
secrets or claims asserting ownership of what we regard as our own intellectual property. We rely on trade secrets that we seek
to protect through confidentiality agreements with our employees and other parties. If these agreements are breached, our
competitors may obtain and use our trade secrets to gain a competitive advantage over us. We may not have any remedies
against our competitors and any remedies that may be available to us may not be adequate to protect our business or compensate
us for the damaging disclosure. In addition, we may have to expend resources to protect our interests from possible infringement
by others. In addition, although we try to ensure that our employees, consultants, and advisors do not use the proprietary
information or know- how of others in their work for us, we may be subject to claims that we or these individuals have used or
disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets or other proprietary information, of any such individual” s current or
former employer. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. Risks Related to Our Common Stock An active
trading market for our common stock may not be sustained. Prior to the closing of our H*©-initial public offering in August
2021, there was no public trading market for our common stock. Although our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital
Market, the market for our shares has demonstrated varying levels of trading activity. Our ability to raise capital to continue to
fund operations by selling shares of our common stock and our ability to acquire other companies or technologies by using
shares of our common stock as consideration may be impaired if an active trading market for our common stock is not sustained.
The market price of our common stock may be volatile and fluctuate substantially, which could result in substantial losses for
investors. The market price of our common stock is likely to be highly volatile and may be subject to wide fluctuations in
response to a variety of factors, some of which are beyond our control. These factors include the following: e our progress
with our strategy to sell RenovoCath as a standalone device, including the level our initial and any subsequent revenues
generated from such activity; e any delay in the commencement, enrollment and ultimate completion of our clinical trials; ®
any delay in submitting an NDA and any adverse development or perceived adverse development with respect to the FDA” s
review of that NDA; e failure to successfully develop , gain marketing approval for and commercialize RernoveGenrour lead
drug / device combination product ; e inability to obtain additional funding; e regatatery-Regulatory or legal developments
in the United States and other countries applicable to RenreveGenrour RenovoCath device, our lead drug / device
combination product or any other product candidate; ® adverse regulatory decisions; @ changes in the structure of healthcare
payment systems; @ inability to obtain adequate product supply for our RereveGeny;-RenovoCath device, our lead drug /
device combination product or any other product candidate, or the inability to do so at acceptable prices; ® introduction of new
products, services or technologies by our competitors; @ failure to meet or exceed financial projections we provide to the public;
e failure to meet or exceed the estimates and projections of the investment community; ® changes in the market valuations of
companies similar to ours; ® market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology sectors, and the issuance of new or
changed securities analysts’ reports or recommendations; ® announcements of significant acquisitions, strategic collaborations,
joint ventures or capital commitments by us or our competitors; ® significant lawsuits, including patent or stockholder litigation,
and disputes or other developments relating to our proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters and our ability to
obtain patent protection for our technologies; ® additions or departures of key scientific or management personnel; ® sales of
our common stock or other securities by us, our insiders or our other stockholders, including pursuant to the existing primary
and secondary shelf registration statements that we have filed with the SEC; e expiration of market standoff or lock- up
agreements; ® trading volume of our common stock; e fluctuations in interest rates and inflation rates; ® general economic,
industry and market conditions; @ health epidemics and outbreaks or other natural or man- made disasters which could
significantly disrupt our preclinical studies and clinical trials, and therefore our receipt of necessary regulatory approvals could
be delayed or prevented; and e the other factors described in this “ Risk Factors ” section. In addition, the stock markets have
experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market prices of equity securities
of many companies. This is particularly true for biotechnology companies like ours. These fluctuations have often been
unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. Broad market and industry factors, as well as
general economic, political, regulatory and market conditions, may negatively affect the market price of our common stock,
regardless of our actual operating performance. Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our existing stockholders,
restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our product candidates on unfavorable terms to us. We have and will
likely continue to seek additional capital through a variety of means, including through public or private equity, debt financings
or other sources, including up- front payments and milestone payments from strategic collaborations. For example, we have filed
an omnibus shelf registration statement on Form S- 3 that provides for aggregate offerings of up to $ 50 million of our securities
subject to various limitations, including limited sales in any twelve- month period while we are subject to the *“ baby- shelf
rules. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt or equity securities, your
ownership interest will be diluted, and the terms may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect your rights as
a stockholder. Such financing may result in dilution to stockholders, imposition of debt covenants, increased fixed payment
obligations or other restrictions that may affect our business. If we raise additional funds through up- front payments or



milestone payments pursuant to strategic collaborations with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our
product candidates or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. In addition, we may seek additional capital due to
favorable market conditions or strategic considerations even if we believe we have sufficient funds for our current or future
operating plans. If we fail to regai-maintain compliance with or meet all applicable Nasdaq requirements, we could be delisted
from Nasdaq, which would seriously harm the liquidity of our stock and our ability to raise capital. Our common stock is listed
on the Nasdaq Capital Market. In order to maintain our listing, we must meet minimum financial and other requirements,
including a minimum amount in stockholders’ equity. On August 21, 2023, we received a notice from Nasdaq notifying us that,
as of August 18, 2023, we were the-Company-was-not in compliance with the minimum stockholders’ equity requirement for
continued listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market, under Listing Rule 5550 (b) (1), because our the-Cempany—s-stockholders’
equity of $ 1, 188, 000 as reported in the Company’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for the period ended June 30, 2023 was
below the required minimum of $ 2. 5 million (the ““ Equity Requirement ’), and because, as of June 30, 2023, we did not meet
the alternative compliance standards, relating to the market value of listed securities of $ 35 million or net income from
continuing operations of $ 500, 000 in the most recently completed fiscal year. In accordance with the Nasdaq Listing Rules
5810 (¢) (2) (C), we were provided 45 calendar days from August 21, 2023, or until October 5, 2023, to submit a plan to regain
compliance with the Equity Requirement (the “ Compliance Plan ). We submitted the Compliance Plan to Nasdaq on October
5,2023. On October 31, 2023, we received formal notice that the Staff had granted our request for continued listing on Nasdaq
pursuant to an extension, ultimately through February 19, 2024, to evidence full compliance with all applicable criteria for
continued listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market, including the $ 2. 5 million stockholders’ equity requirement set forth in
Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550 (b) (2). On February 21, 2024, we received a from Nasdaq that we had failed to meet the Minimum
Stockholders’ Equity Requirement and that Nasdaq would commence delisting proceedings against us unless we timely
requested a hearing before the Nasdaq Hearing Panel (the “ Hearing Panel ). On February 28, 2024, we filed a request to
appeal any delisting or suspension action by the Nasdaq staff at least pending the issuance of the Hearing Panel’ s decision and
the expiration of any extension that may be granted to us followmg the hearlng The heanng was -ts—sehedu-led—on Aprll 23,
2024. On April 11 H-are v g § Nas
requirements-, or-2024, we closed are—afferded—welrﬁme—a-nd» an at market prlvate placement of t-hefe&fteﬁf&ﬁ—te—meet—sueh
requirententour-common stock and w b ommon stock warrants
for gross proceeds of $ 11. 1 million. On April 17, 2024 , we rece1ved a wrltten not1ﬁcat1on from Nasdaq indicating that
we have evidenced compliance with all applicable criteria for continued listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market, including
the $ 2. 5 million minimum stockholders’ equity requirement. Accordingly, our previously disclosed listing deficiency
was remedied and the previously scheduled hearing before the Hearings Panel on this matter was cancelled. In addition
to these specific compliance challenges, we may also face difficulties in meeting other Nasdaq requirements, including
with respect to our market capitalization. Failure to comply with these or any other Nasdaq contlnued listing standards

could result in dellstlng faee—sagmﬁeaﬂt—ma’eeﬂal-aehfefse—eeﬂsequenees—

eempany—&nd-o—a—deefeased-ablhty to tsste-raise capltal and ma1nta1n 1nvestor conﬁdence and could lead to additional
regulatory scrutiny and potential penalties seeurities-or-obtainadditional-finaneinginthe-future- Sales of a significant
number of shares of our common stock in the public markets, or the perception that such sales could occur, including shares of
common stock issued in this-our January 2024 private placement , April 2024 at market private placement and February
2025 public offering , could depress the market price of our common stock. Sales of a significant number of shares of our
common stock in the public markets, or the perception that such sales could occur as a result of our utilization of a universal
shelf registration statement or otherwise could depress the market price of our common stock and impair our ability to raise
capital through the sale of additional equity securities. Notably, we have are-required-te-registerregistered for public resale in
the very near term all of the shares of common stock and common stock underlying warrants issued in our January 2024 private
placement and April 2024 at market private placement, which collectively will represent a very large number of shares
relative to our current shares of common stock outstanding. Following the effectiveness of such registration, a large number of
shares of our common stock could be sold in the public market, depressing our stock price. Moreover, we cannot in general
predict the effect that future sales of our common stock or the market perception that we are permitted to sell a significant
number of our securities would have on the market price of our common stock. We could be subject to securities class action
litigation. In the past, securities class action and derivative litigation has often been brought against companies following a
decline in the market price of their securities or upon the occurrence of other corporate events. This risk is especially relevant for
us because biotechnology companies have experienced significant share price volatility in recent years. If we face such
litigation, it could result in substantial costs, for which we are not insured, and a diversion of management’ s attention and
resources, which could harm our business. If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or
unfavorable research about our business, the market price for the shares and trading volume could decline. The trading market
for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our
business. If our revenue or operating results fall below the expectations of analysts or investors or below any forecasts we may
provide to the market, or if the forecasts we provide to the market are below the expectations of analysts or investors, the price
of our common stock could decline substantially. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrades our common stock or
publishes inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, the market price for our common stock would likely decline. If
one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in
the financial markets, which, in turn, could cause the market price or trading volume for our common stock to decline. We do



not expect to pay dividends in the foreseeable future, and you must rely on price appreciation of your shares for return on your
investment. We have paid no cash dividends on any class of our stock to date and we do not anticipate paying cash dividends in
the near term. For the foreseeable future, we intend to retain any earnings to finance the development and expansion of our
business, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our stock. Accordingly, investors must be prepared to rely on
sales of their shares of common stock after price appreciation to earn an investment return, which may never occur. Investors
seeking cash dividends should not purchase our shares of common stock. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will
be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our results of operations, financial condition, contractual
restrictions, restrictions imposed by applicable law and other factors our board deems relevant. We have incurred and will
continue to incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management has devoted and will
continue to devote substantial time to new compliance initiatives and corporate governance practices. As a public company, we
have incurred and particularly after we no longer qualify as an emerging growth company, we will continue to incur significant
legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. The Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 (“ SOX ™),
the Dodd- Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the listing requirements of Nasdaq, and other applicable
securities rules and regulations impose various requirements on U. S. reporting public companies, including the establishment
and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and corporate governance practices. Our management and other
personnel will need to continue to devote a substantial amount of time to these compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules and
regulations have increased our legal and financial compliance costs and have made some activities more time- consuming and
costly. For example, we expect that these rules and regulations may make it more expensive for us to obtain director and officer
liability insurance, which in turn could make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified senior management personnel
or members for our board of directors. In addition, these rules and regulations are often subject to varying interpretations, and, as
a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies.
This could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to
disclosure and governance practices. Pursuant to Section 404 of SOX (“ Section 404 ), we are w-be-required to furnish a
report by our senior management on our internal control over financial reporting beginning with our second filing of an Annual
Report on Form 10- K with the SEC. However, while we remain an emerging growth company, we will not be required to
include an attestation report on internal control over financial reporting issued by our independent registered public accounting
firm. To prepare for eventual compliance with Section 404, once we no longer qualify as an emerging growth company, we will
be engaged in a process to document and evaluate our internal control over financial reporting, which is both costly and
challenging. In this regard, we will need to continue to dedicate internal resources, potentially engage outside consultants and
adopt a detailed work plan to assess and document the adequacy of internal control over financial reporting, continue steps to
improve control processes as appropriate, validate through testing that controls are functioning as documented and implement a
continuous reporting and improvement process for internal control over financial reporting. Despite our efforts, there is a risk
that we will not be able to conclude, within the prescribed timeframe or at all, that our internal control over financial reporting is
effective as required by Section 404. We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting.
Failure to maintain effective internal controls could cause our investors to lose confidence in us and adversely affect the market
price of our common stock. If our internal controls are not effective, we may not be able to accurately report our financial
results or prevent fraud. Effective internal control over financial reporting is necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports
in a timely manner. In connection with the audit of our financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2024,
and 2023 ;-and-2622-, we identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness is
a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a
timely basis. Specifically, we determined that we lacked a sufficient number of qualified accounting and financial reporting
personnel with an appropriate level of knowledge, training and experience to address complex accounting issues, sufficient
written policies and procedures for accounting and financial reporting in accordance with U. S. Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (“ GAAP ”), and adequate management review controls. In addition, we determined that our financial statement close
process includes significant control gaps mainly driven by the small size of our accounting and finance staff and, as a result, a
significant lack of appropriate segregation of duties. This includes the ability of users to create and post journal entries without
adequate compensating review controls as well as review of system rights on the journal entry and financial close process. In
addition, we did not have proper information technology general controls (ITGCs) related to user access, including the
performance of user access reviews, access to edit data in applications was not properly restricted, and formal approval of
application access was not documented and retained. The above material weaknesses could result in a misstatement of our
account balances or disclosures that would result in a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements that
would not be prevented or detected. To address the material weaknesses, we have implemented, and are continuing to
implement, measures designed to improve internal control over financial reporting, including expanding our accounting and
finance team to add additional qualified accounting and finance resources, which may include third party consultants, and new
financial processes. We intend to continue to take steps to remediate the material weaknesses through the hiring or engagement
of additional experienced accounting and financial reporting personnel, formalizing documentation of policies and procedures
and further evolving the accounting processes, including implementing appropriate segregation of duties. We expect to incur
additional costs to remediate these weaknesses, including personnel, consulting and other costs. We may not be effective in
implementing these changes or in developing other internal controls, which may undermine our ability to provide accurate,
timely and reliable reports on our financial and operating results. Further, we will not be able to fully assess whether the steps
we are taking will remediate the material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting until we have completed our
implementation efforts and sufficient time passes in order to evaluate their effectiveness. In addition, until we remediate these



weaknesses, or if we identify additional material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, we may not detect
errors on a timely basis and our financial statements may be materially misstated. Moreover, in the future we may engage in
business transactions, such as acquisitions, reorganizations or implementation of new information systems that could negatively
affect our internal control over financial reporting and result in material weaknesses. If we identify new material weaknesses in
our internal control over financial reporting, if we are unable to comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act in a timely manner, or if we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, we may
be late with the filing of our periodic reports, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial
reports, and the market price of our common stock could be negatively affected. As a result of such failures, we could also
become subject to investigations by the stock exchange on which our securities are listed, the SEC, or other regulatory
authorities, and become subject to litigation from investors and stockholders, which could harm our reputation, financial
condition or divert financial and management resources from our core business. Our disclosure controls and procedures may not
prevent or detect all errors or acts of fraud. As a public company, we maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed,
summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’ s rules and forms, and that such information is
accumulated, communicated and discussed with our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. We believe that any disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls and procedures, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the desired control objectives will be met. In
reaching a reasonable level of assurance, management has weighed the cost of contemplated controls against their intended
benefits. The design of any system of controls is based on management’ s assumptions about the likelihood of future events. We
cannot assure you that our controls will achieve their stated goals under all possible conditions. Changes in future conditions
may render our controls inadequate or may cause our degree of compliance with them to deteriorate. These inherent limitations
include the fact that judgments in decision- making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or
mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people
or by an unauthorized override of the controls. Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in our control system,
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Principal Accounting Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e) under the Exchange Act)
as of the end of the year ended December 31, 2023. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer have concluded that, during the period covered by this Report, our disclosure controls and procedures were
not effective due to our previously identified material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting. As a result, we
have performed additional analysis as deemed necessary to ensure that our financial statements were prepared in accordance
with U. S. GAAP. Accordingly, notwithstanding the identified material weaknesses, management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Principal Accounting Officer, believes the financial statements included in this Report are fairly
presented, in all material respects, in accordance with U. S. GAAP. We are an “ emerging growth company, ”” and the reduced
reporting requirements applicable to emerging growth companies may make our common stock less attractive to investors. We
are an “ emerging growth company, ” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (“ JOBS Act ”). For as long as we
continue to be an emerging growth company, we may take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements that
are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies, including exemption from compliance with
the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404; the ability to delay the implementation of new or revised financial
accounting standards; reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation; and exemptions from the requirements
of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments
not previously approved. As a result, the information we provide stockholders will be different than the information that is
available with respect to other public companies. We will remain an emerging growth company until the earlier of (1) the last
day of the fiscal year (a) following the fifth anniversary of the closing of our H2O-initial public offering , (b) in which we have
total annual gross revenue of at least $ 1. 235 billion or (¢) in which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer, which means
the market value of our common stock held by non- affiliates exceeds $ 700 million as of the end of our prior second fiscal
quarter, or (2) the date on which we have issued more than $ 1. 0 billion in non- convertible debt during the prior three- year
period. In addition, under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies may delay adopting new or revised accounting standards
until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We may elect not to avail ourselves of this exemption from new or
revised accounting standards and, therefore, may be subject to the same new or revised accounting standards as other public
companies that are not emerging growth companies. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive
because we may rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result of these
exemptions, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our share price may be more volatile. Anti-
takeover and other provisions contained in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law,
could impair a takeover attempt and have other impacts on our corporate governance. Our certificate of incorporation, bylaws
and Delaware law contain provisions that could have the effect of rendering more difficult, delaying or preventing an acquisition
deemed undesirable by our board of directors or otherwise impact our corporate governance. Our corporate governance
documents include provisions: @ authorizing “ blank check ” preferred stock, which could be issued by our board of directors
without stockholder approval and may contain voting, liquidation, dividend, and other rights superior to our common stock; @
limiting the liability of, and providing indemnification to, our directors and officers; ® limiting the ability of our stockholders to
call and bring business before special meetings; ® requiring advance notice of stockholder proposals for business to be
conducted at meetings of our stockholders and for nominations of candidates for election to our board of directors; @ controlling



the procedures for the conduct and scheduling of board of directors and stockholder meetings; ® providing our board of directors
with the express power to postpone previously scheduled annual meetings and to cancel previously scheduled special meetings;
and e providing for a quorum comprised of stockholders representing one- third of the voting power of our outstanding shares
of common stock to hold valid annual or special meetings of our stockholders. These provisions, alone or together, could delay
or prevent hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in our management. Our reduced quorum requirement could also
lead to corporate governance changes resulting from stockholder required votes in which a minority of one- third of our
outstanding stockholders could take actions at annual or special meetings of our stockholders that impact our company as
compared to other companies in which a majority of stockholders are required for a quorum. As a Delaware corporation, we are
also subject to provisions of Delaware law, including Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation law, which prevents
some stockholders holding more than 15 % of our outstanding common stock from engaging in certain business combinations
without approval of the holders of substantially all of our outstanding common stock. Any provision of our certificate of
incorporation, bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect of delaying or deterring a change in control could limit the opportunity
for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our common stock. These provisions and the impact of the reduced
quorum requirement could also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay for our common stock. Our certificate of
incorporation, as amended, designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum for certain
types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain
a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees. Our certificate of incorporation
requires that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware will, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for each of the following: @ any derivative
action or proceeding brought on our behalf; ® any action asserting a claim for breach of any fiduciary duty owed by any
director, officer or other employee of ours to the-our €empany-company or our stockholders, creditors, or other eonstituents
stakeholders ; ® any action asserting a claim against us or any director or officer of ours arising pursuant to, or a claim against
us or any of our directors or officers, with respect to the interpretation or application of any provision of, the DGCL, our
certificate of incorporation, or bylaws; or @ any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine; provided that
if and only if the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware dismisses any of the foregoing actions for lack of subject matter
jurisdiction, any such action or actions may be brought in another state court sitting in the State of Delaware. The exclusive
forum provision is limited to the extent permitted by law, and it will not apply to claims arising under the Exchange Act or for
any other federal securities laws which provide for exclusive federal jurisdiction. Furthermore, Section 22 of the Securities Act
creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all such Securities Act actions. Accordingly, both state and
federal courts have jurisdiction to entertain such claims. To prevent having to litigate claims in multiple jurisdictions and the
threat of inconsistent or contrary rulings by different courts, among other considerations, our second amended and restated
certificate of incorporation provides that the federal district courts of the United States of America will be the exclusive forum
for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. While the Delaware courts have
determined that such choice of forum provisions are facially valid, a stockholder may nevertheless seek to bring such a claim
arising under the Securities Act against us, our directors, officers, or other employees in a venue other than in the federal district
courts of the United States of America. In such instance, we would expect to vigorously assert the validity and enforceability of
the exclusive forum provisions of our second amended and restated certificate of incorporation. Although we believe this
provision benefits us by providing increased consistency in the application of Delaware law in the types of lawsuits to which it
applies, this provision may limit or discourage a stockholder’ s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable
for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our
directors, officers and other employees. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our
certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with
resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business and financial condition. We note that there
is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce the provision and that investors cannot waive compliance with the federal
securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. Although we believe this provision benefits us by providing increased
consistency in the application of Delaware law in the types of lawsuits to which it applies, the provision may have the effect of
discouraging lawsuits against our directors and officers. ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS None. ITEM 1C.
CYBERSECURITY Risk Management and Strategy We maintain standard procedures to help assess, identify and
manage material risk posed by cybersecurity threats and regularly evaluate how we can integrate these procedures into
our overall risk management processes. For example, we require that all of our employees who have access to our
internal network complete formal cybersecurity training upon hire and on a periodic basis, including training on
phishing, malware, and other cybersecurity risks. We also continuously evaluate our information technology systems
and our practices that relate to our information technology systems. To date, we have not engaged any assessors,
consultants, auditors or other third parties in connection with these efforts but may elect to do so in the future. To the
extent we identify areas in our information systems that need improvement, we seek to timely implement and monitor
such improvements. While we believe that we have taken appropriate security measures to protect our data and
information technology systems, and have been informed by our third- party vendors that they have as well, there can be
no assurance that our efforts will prevent breakdowns or breaches in our systems, or those of our third- party vendors,
that could materially adversely affect our business and financial condition. For additional information regarding
whether risks from cybersecurity threats are reasonably likely to materially affect us, see Item 1A, *“ Risk Factors —
Security threats to our information technology infrastructure and / or our physical buildings could expose us to liability
and damage our reputation and business ” in this Report. Governance One of the functions of our Audit Committee is to
identify principal risks related to our company and ensure implementation of appropriate systems to manage these risks,



including risks from cybersecurity threats. Our Audit Committee works with members of our management to identify
and manage these risks, including cybersecurity risks. We currently outsource a qualified Information Technology
Administrator who reports to our Chief Executive Officer. This consultant has over 25 years of experience with
cybersecurity, information technology development and deployment and information technology risk assessment and
management, including information security management. Our Information Technology Administrator regularly
monitors our information technology systems and monitors the prevention, detection, mitigation and remediation of
cybersecurity incidents in consultation with our Chief Executive Officer. To the extent necessary, our Chief Executive
Officer reports such risks to our Board of Directors. ITEM 2. PROPERTIES Our administrative headquarters is located
at 2570 W El Camino Real, Suite 320, Mountain View, CA 94040. The office space is approximately 1, 900 rentable
square feet. We believe that our facility is adequate for our current operations and purposes, and that suitable additional
or alternative space will be available in the future on commercially reasonable terms, if required. ITEM 3. LEGAL
PROCEEDINGS From time to time, we may be involved in various legal actions, including claims and proceedings
arising in the ordinary course of business. We are currently not a party to any legal proceedings, the adverse outcome of
which, in management’ s opinion, individually or in the aggregate, would have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations or financial position, and, to the best of management’ s knowledge, no such litigation is currently pending or
threatened. Regardless of outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs,
diversion of management resources, negative publicity, reputational harm and other factors. ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY
DISCLOSURES Not applicable. PART II ITEM S. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’ S COMMON EQUITY,
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES Market
Information for Common Stock Our common stock is publicly traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “
RNXT. ” Holders of Record of Common Stock As of March 25, 2025, there were approximately 129 holders of record of
our common stock. The actual number of stockholders is greater than this number of record holders and includes
stockholders who are beneficial owners but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other nominees. As of
such date, there were 36, 546, 752 shares of our common stock issued and outstanding. Dividend Policy We have not
declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock since our inception. We currently intend to retain all
available funds and any future earnings to support our operations and finance the growth and development of our
business, and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination related to
our dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon, among other factors,
our results of operations, financial condition, capital requirements, contractual restrictions, business prospects and other
factors our Board of Directors may deem relevant. Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation
Plans Information regarding our securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans will be included in
Item 12, “ Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters, ” of
this Report. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities January 2024 Private Placement On January 26, 2024, we entered
into a series of subscription agreements (the “ January 2024 Subscription Agreements ) in connection with a private
placement offering to 92 accredited investors (the “ January 2024 Investors ), which was also closed on January 26,
2024, and pursuant to which we raised aggregate gross proceeds of $ 6, 111, 695 (the “ January 2024 Offering ”’). Under
the provisions of the January 2024 Subscription Agreements, the minimum amount of subscriptions required to close the
January 2024 Offering was $ 5 million, which minimum amount was satisfied, and the maximum offering amount was $
15 million. In connection with the January 2024 Offering, we sold to the January 2024 Investors an aggregate of 6, 133,
414 shares (the “ January 2024 Shares ) of our common stock and common stock purchase warrants (the “ January
2024 Investor Warrants ”) to purchase an aggregate of up to 6, 133, 414 shares of common stock (the “ January 2024
Investor Warrant Shares ” and collectively with the January 2024 Shares and the January 2024 Investor Warrants, the «
Investor Securities ). The January 2024 Investors paid a purchase price of $ 0. 99 for each January 2024 Share and
related January 2024 Investor Warrant, which represents a 10 % discount to the intraday volume weighted average
price of $ 1. 10 for our shares of common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on January 23, 2024, which was the date
that the January 2024 Offering was priced (the “ Pricing Date ). The exercise price of the January 2024 Investor
Warrants is also $ 0. 99 per share. Notwithstanding the foregoing the five January 2024 Investors who are either officers,
directors, employees or consultants to the Company paid a purchase price of $ 1. 22 for each January 2024 Share and
related January 2024 Investor Warrant, which represents the average of the official Nasdaq closing price for our shares
of common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market for the five trading days immediately preceding the Pricing Date, plus
an attributed price of $ 0. 125 per warrant as required by Nasdaq. The exercise price of these January 2024 Investor
Warrants is also $ 1. 22 per share. The Investor Securities may not be offered or sold in the United States absent
registration or an applicable exemption from registration requirements. We relied on the private placement exemption
from registration provided by Section 4 (a) (2) of the Securities Act and by Rule 506 (c) of Regulation D promulgated
thereunder by the SEC. As additional compensation for Paulson Investment Company, LL.C, the placement agent for the
January 2024 Offering (“ Paulson ”), we issued common stock purchase warrants to Paulson and its designees to
purchase an aggregate of up to 511, 940 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $ 0. 99 per share. April 2024
Private Placement On April 11, 2024, we closed a previously announced private placement offering (the “ April 2024
Offering ”) of an aggregate of (i) 6, 960, 864 shares (the “ April 2024 Shares ) of common stock, (ii) a pre- funded
warrant, with an unlimited term, exercisable for a total of 951, 500 shares of common stock, at an exercise price of $ 0.
0001 per share (the “ Pre- Funded Warrant ) subject to customary adjustments thereunder, which Pre- Funded
Warrant is immediately exercisable upon issuance, subject to certain beneficial ownership limitations, (iii) Series A
warrants, with a term of 5 years, exercisable for a total of 7, 912, 364 shares of common stock (the “ Series A Warrant



Shares ) with an exercise price of $ 1. 22 per share, subject to customary adjustments thereunder, which Series A
Warrants are immediately exercisable upon issuance, subject to certain beneficial ownership limitations, (iv) Series B
warrants, with a term of 2 years, exercisable for a total of 3, 956, 182 shares of common stock (the “ Series B Warrant
Shares ) with an exercise price of $ 1. 22 per share, subject to customary adjustments thereunder, which Series B
Warrants are immediately exercisable upon issuance, subject to certain beneficial ownership limitations, and may be
called by the Company under certain conditions, and (v) the April 2024 PA Warrants, with a term of 5 years, exercisable
for a total of 701, 243 shares of common stock (the “ PA Warrant Shares ) with an exercise price of $ 1. 69 per share
and may also be exercised on a cashless basis, if the PA Warrant Shares are not registered for resale under an effective
registration statement or no current prospectus is available for the resale of the PA Warrant Shares, are subject to
customary adjustments thereunder, and which April 2024 PA Warrants are first exercisable on October 11, 2024,
subject to certain beneficial ownership limitations. The purchase price paid by investors for each April 2024 Share and
related Series A warrant and Series B warrant was $ 1. 4075. We raised gross proceeds of approximately $ 11. 1 million
in the April 2024 Offering, before deducting placement agent fees and other offering expenses. The Company intends to
use the net proceeds from this April 2024 Offering for working capital purposes. The net proceeds from the April 2024
Offering was approximately $ 9. 6 million. The April 2024 Shares, Series A warrants, Series B warrants, Series A
Warrant Shares, and Series B Warrant Shares may not be offered or sold in the United States absent registration or an
applicable exemption from registration requirements. We relied on the private placement exemption from registration
provided by Section 4 (a) (2) of the Securities Act and by Rule 506 (b) of Regulation D (“ Rule 506 (b) ) promulgated
thereunder by the SEC. We accepted subscriptions for the April 2024 Shares, Series A Warrants, and Series B Warrants
only from accredited investors who have submitted fully completed and signed subscription agreements, along with
appropriate supporting documentation verifying their accredited investor status in accordance with Rule 506 (b). CMO
Warrants In September 2024, we announced the signing of a new project work order with Medical Murray Inc., our
principal contract manufacturing organization (the “ CMO ”). To create performance incentives for our CMO, we
issued a warrant to our CMO to purchase up to 709, 500 shares of our common stock. This warrant vests and is only
exercisable over time in tranches and only if the CMO achieves certain manufacturing milestones. In issuing this
warrant, we relied on the private placement exemption from registration provided by Section 4 (a) (2) of the Securities
Act. Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities ITEM 6. [ RESERVED | ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’ S DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS The following discussion and analysis
of our financial condition and results of operations for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 should be read in
conjunction with the financial statements and related notes thereto included in Part II, Item 8, “ Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data, > of this Report. All information presented herein is based on our fiscal year. Unless otherwise
stated, references to particular years, quarters, months or periods refer to our fiscal years ended December 31 and the
associated quarters, months and periods of those fiscal years. Some of the information contained in this discussion and
analysis or set forth elsewhere in this Report, including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our
business, includes forward- looking statements that involves risks and uncertainties. See “ Cautionary Note Regarding
Forward- Looking Statements ” and “ Risk Factors ” for a discussion of important factors that could cause actual results
to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward- looking statements. Unless the context
otherwise requires, all references in this section to the “ Company, ” “ we, ” “ us, ” or “ our ” refer to RenovoRx, Inc.
Overview We are a life sciences company offering RenovoCath ®, a novel, U. S. Food and Drug Administration (“ FDA
”)- cleared local drug- delivery system, targeting high unmet medical needs, with a present focus on difficult to treat
cancers. We are both a clinical stage and a commercial stage enterprise. As described further below, our lead product
candidate, novel drug- device combination product (currently called “ IAG ”), is currently the subject of a Phase III
clinical study for the treatment of locally advanced pancreatic cancer (“ LAPC ”). At the same time, we are
commercializing RenovoCath for standalone use by interventional radiologists, oncologists and other medical
professionals who can use RenovoCath to treat patients within its FDA- cleared fields of use. IAG our RenovoCath
device utilize our patented Trans- Arterial Micro- Perfusion (‘ TAMP ™ *) therapy platform, which is designed to
ensure precise therapeutic delivery across the arterial wall near the tumor site to bathe the target tumor, while
potentially minimizing a therapy’ s toxicities versus systemic intravenous therapy, Including traditional chemotherapy.
Our novel approach to targeted treatment offers the potential for increased safety, tolerance, and improved efficacy. Our
mission is to transform the lives of cancer patients by providing innovative solutions to enable targeted therapeutic
delivery RenovoCath is indicated for temporary vessel occlusion in applications including arteriography, preoperative
occlusion, and chemotherapeutic drug infusion. For the past several years, we have focused our efforts on progressing
IAG through clinical trials. However, based on organic demand from doctors in the field who have become familiar with
our technology, in 2024, we made the decision to launch an effort to commercialize our RenovoCath delivery system as a
standalone device within its FDA cleared uses. Commenced in the field in late 2024, this commercial effort has already
begun to achieve positive results. To accommodate increased need for RenovoCath supply, we expanded our relationship
with our U. S.- based third- party RenovoCath manufacturer. In December 2024, we announced that over ten medical
institutions had initiated the process for RenovoCath purchase orders, and in February 2025, we announced additional
purchase orders received from several esteemed, high volume National Cancer Institute- designated centers and that
utilization of RenovoCath devices by our initial customers led to repeat purchase orders. We have begun to generate and
expect to grow revenue meaningfully from the sale of our RenovoCath devices. Importantly, we believe our current
commercial strategy can be accomplished without a material increase in our capital expenditures, regardless of whether
we self- commercialize or choose to partner with a larger organization with an existing sales force. Following our late



2024 commercial launch, we generated a small amount (approximately $ 43, 000) of initial revenues from RenovoCath
revenue in our fourth quarter ended December 31, 2024. We expect revenue to increase to the low six figure range for
the first quarter ended March 31, 2025 followed by sequential quarter over quarter increases in revenue during the
remainder of 2025. Our goal will be to continue revenue growth in the years to come. However, we are at the beginning
of our RenovoCath commercialization efforts and have not had to recognize revenue from our operations in the past. A
primary goal from these efforts is to generate and recognize revenue from RenovoCath sales. However, revenue
recognition under generally accepted accounting principles requires subjective judgements to be made by our
management and could otherwise be complex and create uncertainties, including uncertainties arising from varying
terms of sale we may offer to different customers. We may also be required to defer recognition of revenues until certain
conditions are met. See “ Components of Our Results of Operations — Revenue ” below for further information. Based on
our internal assumptions, we believe that our initial total U. S. addressable market based solely on the initial clinical
interest we have received for RenovoCath could represent an estimated $ 400 million peak annual U. S. sales
opportunity. Our current assumptions regarding our initial addressable market include: (i) pressure- mediated delivery
catheters on the market today, which are analogous to RenovoCath, have an average selling price of $ 6, S00- $ 8, 500 per
unit; (ii) approximately 7, 000 initial target patients at peak market penetration; and (iii) an average of approximately 8
annual procedures per patient. Beyond this initial market, we believe there are expansion opportunities across other
indications that could create a several billion- dollar market potential for RenovoCath over time. In parallel to our
RenovoCath commercialization efforts, we are completing enrolment in our ongoing pivotal Phase III randomized multi-
center clinical trial (called TIGeR- PaC) to investigate IAG for the treatment of LAPC. This trial is being conducted
under a U. S. Investigational New Drug (“ IND *) application that is regulated by the FDA’ s 21 CFR 312 pathway. IAG
has received Orphan Drug Designation for pancreatic cancer and bile duct cancer, which provides 7 years of market
exclusivity upon approval by the FDA. We may also evaluate RenovoCath with gemcitabine and other agents as a
potential therapy in other indications. We have incurred significant operating losses and generated negative cash flows
from operations since our inception. As of December 31, 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents of $ 7. 2 million
(although we raised an additional $ 10. 9 million in net proceeds through a public offering completed in February 2025).
We had net losses of $ 8. 8 million and $ 10. 2 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively. As
of December 31, 2024, we had an accumulated deficit of $ 50. 2 million. We expect to continue to incur significant
expenses, operating losses and negative cash flows while we seek to grow our revenues from RenovoCath commercial
sales. We will not generate revenues from IAG sales unless and until we successfully complete development and obtain
regulatory approval for IAG or another product candidate. Given economic and market conditions and timing of
regulatory approval, we expect that our expenses will increase in connection with our ongoing research and development
activities, particularly if and when we decide to: ® Advance clinical development of IAG and our platform technology by
continuing to enroll patients in our ongoing Phase III TIGeR- PaC clinical trial, expanding the number of clinical trials,
and advancing IAG through other preclinical and clinical pipeline indication opportunities beyond LAPC; e Make
investments we need necessary to expand our commercial sales operation for RenovoCath; e Hire additional research,
development, sales and marketing, and selling, general and administrative personnel; ® Pursue collaborations, licensing
arrangements or other strategic or commercial activities relating to our technology; ¢ Maintain, expand, enforce,
defend, and protect our intellectual property portfolio; and e Expand our operational, financial and management
systems and increase personnel, including personnel to support our clinical development, manufacturing and
commercialization efforts. In addition to the variables described above, if and when any of our product candidates
successfully complete development, we will incur substantial additional costs associated with establishing a sales,
marketing, medical affairs and distribution infrastructure to commercialize products for which we may obtain
marketing approval, regulatory filings, marketing approval, and post- marketing requirements, in addition to other
commercial costs. We cannot reasonably estimate these costs at this time. Due to our recurring operating losses and the
expectation that we will continue to incur net losses in the future, we will likely be required to raise additional capital to
complete the development and commercialization of RenovoCath and any of our product candidates. We have
historically financed our operations primarily through private and public sales of our equity (including warrants to
purchase common stock). To raise additional capital, we may seek to sell additional equity and / or debt securities, obtain
a credit facility or other loan or enter into collaborations, licenses or other similar arrangements, which we may not be
able to do on favorable terms, or at all. Our ability to obtain additional financing will be subject to a number of factors,
including market conditions, fluctuations in interest rates, our operating performance and investor sentiment. If we are
unable to raise additional capital when required or on acceptable terms, we may have to significantly delay, scale back or
discontinue the development and / or commercialization of our product candidates, restrict or cease our operations or
obtain funds by entering into agreements on unfavorable terms. Failure to obtain additional capital on acceptable terms,
or at all, would result in a material and adverse impact on our operations. Our financial statements as of December 31,
2024 have been prepared on a going concern basis and do not include any adjustments that may result from the outcome
of this uncertainty. Based on our operating plans, we expect that our current cash and cash equivalents as of the date of
this Report will be sufficient to fund our operating, investing and financing cash flow needs through the first half of 2026,
assuming our programs advance as currently contemplated. As a result, we will likely require significant additional
funding to support our continuing operations. Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenue,
we expect to finance our cash needs through private or public equity financings, debt financings and collaborations,
licenses or other similar arrangements. We currently have no credit facility or committed sources of capital. To the
extent that we raise additional capital through the future sale of equity or debt, the ownership interests of our



stockholders will be diluted and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely
affect the rights of our existing common stockholders. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of debt securities,
these securities could contain covenants that would restrict our operations. We may require additional capital beyond
our currently anticipated amounts and additional capital may not be available on reasonable terms, or at all. If we raise
additional funds through collaboration arrangements or other strategic transactions in the future, we may have to
relinquish valuable rights to our technologies or future revenue streams or grant licenses on terms that may not be
favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds through private or public equity financings or debt financings
when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate development or future commercialization efforts,
and we may be unable to continue as a going concern. If we are unable to continue as a going concern, we might have to
liquidate our assets and the value we receive for our assets in liquidation or dissolution could be significantly lower than
the values reflected in our financial statements, and our shareholders may lose their entire investment in our common
stock. Components of Our Results of Operations In the fourth quarter of 2024, we began to derive revenue through the
sale of our RenovoCath device on a standalone basis directly to end users (i. e., hospitals and cancer treatment centers).
We consider customer purchase orders, which in some cases are governed by master sales agreements or standard terms
and conditions, to be the contracts with a customer. Our contracts with customers typically contain a single performance
obligation, which is the delivery of the RenovoCath device. We recognize revenue from sales of products at the point in
time that the customer obtains control, which is typically based upon the terms of delivery. In determining the
transaction price, we evaluate whether the price is subject to refund or adjustment to determine the net consideration to
which it expects to be entitled. The only type of variable consideration we offer is limited return rights relating primarily
to product damage or defects identified upon receipt, and therefore we expect minimal returns. Returns are estimated
taking into consideration several factors including these limited product return rights, historical return activity, and
other relevant factors. We have not experienced any product returns to date, and accordingly no allowance for returns
was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2024. Operating Expenses Research and Development Research and
development expenses consist of costs related to the research and development of our platform technology. Clinical trial
costs are a significant component of research and development expenses and include costs associated with third- party
contractors and consultants. We outsource a substantial portion of our clinical trial activities, utilizing the service of
third- party clinical trial sites and contract research organizations to assist us with the execution of our clinical trials. In
addition, we have FDA 510 (k) clearance for the RenovoCath delivery device, which comprises part of our IAG product
candidate. Accordingly, we are able to charge our clinical trial sites for the RenovoCath delivery device. To date,
payments from clinical trial sites in consideration for RenovoCath delivery devices have been adequate to cover our
direct manufacturing costs. Any payments we receive from clinical trial sites as consideration for use of RenovoCath
delivery devices offset our research and development expenses. We expect our research and development expenses to
increase for the foreseeable future as we continue the development of our product candidates and enroll subjects in our
ongoing Phase III clinical trial, initiate new clinical trials and pursue regulatory approval of our product candidates. It
is difficult to predict with any certainty the duration and costs of completing our current or future clinical trials of our
product candidates or if, when or to what extent we will achieve regulatory approval and generate revenue from the
commercialization and sale of our product candidates. The duration, costs and timing of clinical trials and other
development of our product candidates will depend on a variety of factors, including uncertainties in clinical trial
enrollment, timing and extent of future clinical trials, development of new product candidates and significant and
changing government regulation. We may never succeed in achieving regulatory approval for any of our product
candidates. Our research and development expenses include: ® expenses incurred under agreements with clinical trial
sites, contract research organizations, and consultants that are involved in conducting our clinical trials; e costs of
acquiring and developing clinical trial materials; ® personnel costs, including salaries, benefits, bonuses, and stock-
based compensation for employees engaged in preclinical and clinical research and development; e costs related to
compliance with regulatory requirements; e third- party vendor costs related to manufacturing materials and testing; ®
costs related to preclinical studies and pilot testing; e travel expenses; and e allocated selling, general and
administrative expenses which includes facilities and other indirect administrative expenses to support research and
development activities. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Costs for certain development
activities, such as clinical trials and preclinical studies, are recognized based on evaluation of progress to completion of
specific tasks using data such as subject enrollment, clinical site activations or information provided to us by third party
vendors. Selling, General and Administrative Selling, general and administrative expenses consist of salaries, benefits,
and stock- based compensation for personnel in executive, finance and administrative functions, professional services
and associated costs related to accounting, tax, audit, legal, intellectual property and other matters, consulting costs,
conferences, travel and allocated expenses for rent, insurance and other general overhead costs. We expect to continue to
incur additional expenses as a result of operating as a public company, including costs to comply with the rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, and Nasdaq listing standards and increased expenses in
the areas of insurance, professional services and investor relations. As a result, we expect our selling, general and
administrative expenses to increase in the foreseeable future. Selling, general and administrative expenses are expensed
as incurred. Other Income (Expenses), Net Interest Income (Expense) Net Interest expense consists of expense for the
amortization of Directors and Officers liability insurance premiums. Interest income is earned from cash deposited in
our short- term marketable securities and money market account. Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liability Change in
fair value of warrant liability represents the gain or loss reported from the change in the fair value of the common stock
warrant liability for warrants issued under the registered direct offering. On April 3, 2023, we completed a registered



direct offering financing issuing common shares and common stock warrants. The fair value of the common stock
warrant per share was $ 0. 78 and $ 1. 69 on December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The decrease in the fair value
was primarily due to the decrease in our stock price. Transaction Costs Allocated to Common Stock Warrant Liability
Direct offering costs incurred on our registered direct financing consist principally of agency placement fees, legal and
other professional expenses. Income Tax Expense We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method.
Under this method, deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recorded based on the estimated future tax effects of
differences between the financial statement and income tax basis of existing assets and liabilities. Deferred income tax
assets and liabilities are recorded net and classified as noncurrent on the balance sheets. A valuation allowance is
provided against our deferred income tax assets when their realization is more likely than not. We are subject to income
taxes in the federal and state jurisdictions. Tax regulations within each jurisdiction are subject to the interpretation of
the related tax laws and regulations and require significant judgment to apply. In accordance with the authoritative
guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, we recognize tax liabilities for uncertain tax positions when it is
more likely than not that a tax position will not be sustained upon examination and settlement with various taxing
authorities. Liabilities for uncertain tax positions are measured based upon the largest amount of benefit that is more-
likely- than- not (greater than 50 %) of being realized upon settlement. Our policy is to recognize interest and / or
penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. Results of Operations Comparison of the Years Ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023 The following table summarizes the significant components of our results of operations for
the periods presented (in thousands, except percentages): Years Ended December 31, Increase / (Decrease) 2024 2023 $
% Revenues $ 43 $- $ 43 n / a Cost of revenues---- Gross profit 43- 43 n / a Operating expenses: Research and
development 6, 025 5, 667 358 6 % Selling, general and administrative 4, 988 S, 729 (741) (13) % Total operating
expenses 11, 013 11, 396 (383) (3) % Loss from operations (10, 970) (11, 396) 426 4 % Other income (expense), net
Change in fair value of common stock warrant liability 1, 772 1, 709 63 4 % Interest income (expense), net 384 108 276
256 % Transaction costs allocated to common stock warrant liability- (653) 653 n/a % Total other income (expense),
net 2, 156 1, 164 992 85 % Net loss $ (8, 814) $ (10, 232) $ 1, 418 14 % The following table summarizes our research and
development expenses (in thousands): Years Ended December 31, Increase / (Decrease) 2024 2023 $ Manufacturing and
other research and development $ 1, 821 $ 1, 498 $ 323 Clinical development 2, 689 2, 842 (153) Personnel 1, 388 1, 072
316 Regulatory 245 351 (106) Clinical site payments for RenovoCath devices (118) (96) (22) Total research and
development $ 6, 025 $ 5, 667 $ 358 Research and development expenses were $ 6. 0 million for the year ended December
31, 2024 compared to $ 5. 7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of $ 0. 3 million. The period- over-
period increase in research and development expenses is primarily driven by $ 0. 3 million increase in manufacturing
and non- recurring engineering costs to scale manufacturing to support the commercial effort on our RenovoCath
delivery system. Clinical development expenses decreased by $ 0. 2 million, which includes a decrease in professional and
consulting fees and our Phase III clinical trial study. Personnel expenses for employees and benefits increased by $ 0. 3
million, which is primarily due to an increase in employee incentive compensation of $ 0. 2 million. Regulatory expense
decreased by $ 0. 1 million primarily due to the reduction in consulting expenses. Cash payments made for use of
RenovoCath delivery devices used in our Phase III clinical trial were relatively flat for the year ended December 31, 2024
compared to the previous year. Payments received from clinical trial sites for the devices have been adequate to cover
our direct costs of manufacturing the RenovoCath delivery devices and to offset research and development expenses. We
expect research and development expenses to increase during 2025 as we continue our commercialization activities for
our RenovoCath device and progress our Phase III TIGeR- PaC clinical trial study for IAG. Selling, General and
Administrative Expenses The following table summarizes our selling, general and administrative expenses (in
thousands): Years Ended December 31, Increase / (Decrease) 2024 2023 $ Professional services and other $ 1,922 § 2,
726 $ (804) Personnel 2, 691 2, 468 223 Legal fees 375 535 (160) Total selling, general and administrative $ 4, 988 $ 5, 729
$ (741) Selling, general and administrative expenses were $ 5. 0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared
to $ 5. 7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, a decrease of $ 0. 7 million. The period- over- period decrease in
selling, general and administrative expenses was primarily attributable to a decrease in professional and consulting fees
of $ 0. S million, a decrease in directors and officers insurance of $ 0. 2 million, and a § 0. 1 million increase in the
allocation of selling, general and administrative expenses to research and development. Personnel expenses for
employees and benefits increased by $ 0. 2 million, which is primarily due to an increase in employee incentive
compensation. Legal fees decreased by $ 0. 2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the previous
year. The decrease was primarily due to transitioning to a new firm to lower expenses. We anticipate selling, general and
administrative expenses to increase next year as we progress with our commercialization activities for our RenovoCath
device. Interest (Expense) Income, Net (in thousands) Years Ended December 31, Increase / (Decrease) 2024 2023 §
Interest income (expense), net $ 384 $ 108 $ 276 Interest income was $ 0. 4 million and $ 0. 1 million for the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2024, respectively. Interest income represents income earned on excess operating cash invested
in short- term U. S. Treasury bills. The increase of $ 0. 3 million in interest income was due to an increase in our average
cash balance held in U. S. Treasury bills primarily from the closing of two financings in early 2024. Change in Fair Value
of Common Stock Warrant Liability (in thousands) Years Ended December 31, Increase / (Decrease) 2024 2023 $
Change in fair value of common stock warrant liability $ 1, 772 $ 1, 709 $ 63 The change in fair value of common stock
warrant liability was $ 1. 8 million and $ 1. 7 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The
increase of $ 0. 1 million was primarily due to the fair value of the common stock warrant due to a decrease in our
common stock price during the period. Transaction Costs Allocated to Warrant Liability (in thousands) Years Ended
December 31, Increase / (Decrease) 2024 2023 § Transaction costs allocated to warrant liability $- $ (653) $ 653



Transaction costs allocated to the common stock warrants from the Registered Direct Offering (“ RDO ) were $ 0. 7
million for the period ended December 31, 2023. Liquidity and Capital Resources From our inception through December
31, 2024, we have raised an aggregate of $ 59. 2 million, primarily from private placements of convertible preferred
stock, convertible debt securities, the issuance of securities in public and private placement offerings and the exercise of
common stock warrants and common stock options. After deducting underwriting discounts and commissions,
placement agent fees and other offering expenses, our net proceeds from these offerings were $ 53. S million. As of
December 31, 2024, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $ 7. 2 million (although we raised an additional $ 10.
9 million in net proceeds through a public offering completed in February 2025). As used herein, the term “ common
stock ” refers to the Company’ s common stock, par value $ 0. 0001 per share. We have incurred significant losses and
negative cash flows from operations since our inception. For the year ended December 31, 2024, we recorded a net loss of
$ 8. 8 million and an accumulated deficit of $ 50. 2 million. Depending on our commercialization efforts with
RenovoCath, we do not expect to generate positive cash flows from operations in the foreseeable future. We also expect
to incur losses from our clinical activities until regulatory approval is granted for its first product candidate, IAG.
Regulatory approval is not guaranteed and may never be obtained. We may also pursue other revenue- generating
strategies such as licensing or collaboration agreements or marketing its proprietary catheter device on a standalone
basis. No assurances can be made that we will pursue these strategies, and even if it does, there is a risk that we will be
unable to generate revenue from such activities. We believe we will be able to raise additional required capital through
debt financings, private or public equity financings, license agreements, collaborative agreements or other arrangements
with other companies, or other sources of financing. There can be no assurance that such financing will be available or
will be at terms acceptable to us. The inability to raise capital as and when needed would have a negative impact on our
liquidity, financial condition and its ability to pursue its business strategy. We will need to generate significant revenue
from commercial sales of RenovoCath or otherwise to achieve profitability, and we may never do so. On November 10,
2022, we filed an omnibus shelf registration statement on Form S- 3 that provides for the aggregate offerings of up to $
50. 0 million of our securities subject to various limitations, including limited sales in any twelve- month period while the
Company is subject to the “ baby- shelf ” rules. On February 10, 2025, we closed a public offering subject to the baby-
shelf limitations rules and raised an aggregate of $ 12. 1 million (see “ Note 14. Subsequent Events ” in notes to the
accompanying financial statements). As a result of such offering, we presently have very little capacity under such
omnibus shelf registration statement. We also previously filed a registration statement on Form S- 1 to register the cash
exercise of our outstanding warrants from our initial public offering including underwriter and certain private
warrants. Cash exercise of these outstanding warrants is only expected to occur (if at all) when the trading price of the
common stock is in excess of the $ 10. 80 per share exercise price of such outstanding warrants. On April 3, 2023, we
completed a registered direct offering (“ RDO ”) utilizing our omnibus shelf registration statement for the purchase and
sale of 1, 557, 632 shares of common stock (or pre- funded common stock warrants) to a certain institutional investor. In
a concurrent private placement, we issued to the investor unregistered common stock warrants to purchase up to 1, 947,
040 shares of common stock (the “ April 2023 Warrant ). The aggregate gross proceeds from this offer were $ 5. 0
million, and the net offering proceeds were $ 4. 3 million after deducting placement agent fees and placement agent’ s
expenses of $ 0. 4 million and other professional expenses of $ 0. 3 million. On January 26, 2024, we completed a private
placement to 92 accredited investors with gross proceeds of $ 6. 1 million before deducting placement agent fees and
other offering expenses of approximately $ 0. 7 million. In this private placement, we issued 6, 133, 414 shares of
common stock and common stock warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 6, 133, 414 shares of common stock, which
expire five years on January 26, 2029. In connection with such private placement, we entered into a placement agent
agreement as additional compensation to the placement agent, and issued common stock warrants to purchase up to an
aggregate of 511, 940 shares of common stock (the “ January 2024 PA Warrants ), which warrants expire five years
from the issuance date. The significant majority of the warrants issued in this private placement have an exercise price
of $ 0. 99 per share. The warrants purchased by our directors, officers, employees and consultants in this private
placement have an exercise price of $ 1. 22 per share. On April 11, 2024, we completed another private placement
offering to 172 accredited investors, issuing common stock, pre- funded warrants, Series A warrants, and Series B
warrants. The aggregate gross proceeds from this offering were $ 11. 1 million, and the net offering proceeds were $ 9. 6
million after deducting placement agent fees of $ 1. 3 million and other professional expenses of $ 0. 2 million. In
conjunction with the issuance of 6, 960, 864 shares of common stock, we bundled the offering with: (i) a pre- funded
warrant exercisable for 951, 500 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $ 0. 0001 per share, with an unlimited
term and immediate exercisability upon issuance, subject to specific beneficial ownership limitations; (ii) Series A
warrants exercisable for 7, 912, 364 shares of common stock at $ 1. 22 per share, valid for S years and immediately
exercisable subject to customary adjustments and beneficial ownership limitations; (iii) Series B warrants exercisable for
3, 956, 182 shares of common stock at $ 1. 22 per share, valid for 2 years and immediately exercisable subject to
customary adjustments and beneficial ownership limitations. We have the right to call the Series B warrants under
certain conditions. Additionally, as compensation to the placement agent, we issued warrants on the same date to
purchase up to an aggregate of 701, 243 shares of common stock (the “ April 2024 PA Warrants ) at $ 1. 69 per share
over a 5- year term, with provisions for cashless exercise if the shares are unregistered or no current prospectus is
available for resale. The April 2024 PA Warrants become exercisable on October 11, 2024, subject to specific beneficial
ownership limitations and customary adjustments. As of the date of this Report, we believe that we have sufficient cash
resources, including our shelf closing in February 2025 as described below, to allow us to fund our operating, investing
and financing cash flow needs at least through the first half of 2026. The accompanying audited financial statements



have been prepared assuming that we will continue to operate as a going concern, which contemplates the realization of
assets and the settlement of liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. The accompanying audited
financial statements do not reflect any adjustments relating to the recoverability and reclassification of assets and
liabilities that might be necessary if we are unable to continue as a going concern. We have (including our public offering
closing in February 2025 as described under Sources of Liquidity below) and believe we will continue to be able to raise
additional capital through debt financing, private or public equity financings, license agreements, collaborative
agreements or other arrangements with other companies, or other sources of financing. However, there can be no
assurances that such financing will be available or will be at terms acceptable to us, or at all. If we are unable to raise
capital when needed or on attractive terms, we would be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our clinical trials or other
operations. If any of these events occur, our ability to achieve our operational goals would be adversely affected. Our
future capital requirements and the adequacy of available funds will depend on many factors, including those described
in the section titled “ Risk Factors. ” Depending on the severity and direct impact of these factors on us, we may be
unable to secure additional financing to meet our operating requirements on commercially acceptable terms favorable to
us, or at all. Sources of Liquidity Since our inception, we have been primarily a clinical stage company on our clinical
development stage lead product candidate, novel drug- device combination product consists of intra- arterial delivery of
gemcitabine (“ IAG ) via RenovoCath for the treatment of LAPC. In 2024, we made the decision to launch an effort to
commercialize our RenovoCath device as a standalone product within its FDA- cleared fields of use and upon our initial
commercialization launch of RenovoCath, we generated revenue in the fourth quarter of 2024. We anticipate generating
revenues from our RenovoCath commercialization efforts in 2025 with an anticipated quarter over quarter increase in
revenue during the year. However, we have incurred significant operating losses and negative cash flows from operations
and we anticipate that we will continue to incur net losses until our RenovoCath commercial efforts generates
meaningful revenues, of which no assurances can be given. On February 6, 2025, we entered into an underwriting
agreement to investors pursuant to our shelf registration while subject to the baby- shelf rules. The financing closed on
February 10, 2025, and we raised aggregate gross proceeds of $ 12. 1 million. In connection with the offering, we sold to
investors an aggregate of 11, 523, 810 shares of common stock. In connection with the closing of the offering, we issued to
the underwriter warrants, as partial compensation for the underwriter’ s services, and issued 576, 191 common stock
warrants expiring five years from the closing date. See “ Note 14. Subsequent Events ” in Notes to Financial Statements.
Cash Flows Our primary uses of cash are to fund our operations including research and development, commercialization
of our RenovoCath as a standalone device and selling, general and administrative expenses. We will continue to incur
operating losses in the future and expect that our research and development and selling, general and administrative
expenses will continue to increase as we continue our research and development efforts with respect to clinical
development of our product candidates and further develop our platform, commercializing our stand- alone device and
ensure we are complying with the requirements of being a public company. The cash used to fund operating expenses is
impacted by the timing of when we pay expenses, as reflected in the change in our outstanding accounts payable and
accrued expenses. The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated (in thousands): 2024 2023 Net
cash (used in) provided by: Operating activities $ (9, 125) $ (10, 258) Investing activities (12) 2, 032 Financing activities
15, 118 5, 008 Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 5, 981 § (3, 218) Operating Activities Net cash used in
operating activities was $ 9. 1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, which was primarily attributable to our net
loss of $ 8. 8 million and non- cash charges of $ 0. 6 million, adjusted for net changes in operating assets and liabilities of
$ 0. 3 million. Noncash charges included primarily stock- based compensation expense, and gain on the fair value of
common stock warrants. Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 reflected a net loss of
$ 10. 2 million and noncash charges of $ 0. 6 million, adjusted for net changes in operating assets and liabilities of $ 0. 6
million. Noncash charges included primarily of stock- based compensation expense, and a gain on the fair value of
common stock warrants. Investing Activities Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2024
was $ 12, 000 consisting of purchase of property and equipment. Net cash provided by investing activities for the year
ended December 31, 2023 was $ 2. 0 million consisted of proceeds of U. S. Treasury bills, which are classified as
available- for- sale securities. Financing Activities Net cash provided by financing in the year ended December 31, 2024
was $ 15. 1 million, consisting primarily of the two private placements for net proceeds of approximately $ 15. 0 million
and proceeds from exercise of stock options and common stock warrants of $ 0. 1 million. Net cash provided by
financing in the year ended December 31, 2023 was $ 5. 0 million, consisting primarily of proceeds of $ S. 0 million from
the issuance of common stock in our RDO. Contractual Obligations and Other Commitments In October 2024, we
entered into a 36- month lease agreement, commencing on December 1, 2024, non- cancelable operating lease consisting
of approximately 1, 900 rentable square feet of office space in Mountain View, California. The lease has a one- time
option to renew the term for an extension period of 36 months, see “ Note 6. Leases, Commitments and Contingencies ”
in Notes to Financial Statements. Other than the new lease in October 2024, there have been no significant changes in
our contractual obligations or other commitments as of December 31, 2024. Critical Accounting Policies and Significant
Judgments and Estimates The accompanying management’ s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and
results of operations are based upon our financial statements and the related disclosures, which have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP. The preparation of these
financial statements requires us to make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the reported amounts in our
financial statements and accompanying notes. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual



results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. To the extent that there are material
differences between these estimates and actual results, our future financial statement presentation, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows will be affected. While our significant accounting policies are described in the notes
to our financial statements included elsewhere in this report, we believe that the following critical accounting policies are
most important to understanding and evaluating our reported financial results because they require us to make
estimates, assumptions and judgments about matters that are inherently uncertain. A critical accounting policy is
defined as one that is both material to the presentation of our financial statements and requires management to make
difficult, subjective, or complex judgments that could have a material effect on our financial condition and results of
operations. Specifically, critical accounting estimates have the following attributes: (i) we are required to make
assumptions about matters that are highly uncertain at the time of the estimate ; and (ii) different estimates we could
reasonably have used, or changes in the estimate that are reasonably likely to occur, would have a material effect on our
financial condition or results of operations. Revenue Recognition We recognize revenue in accordance with ASC Topic
606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ ASC 606 ). The provisions of ASC 606 require the following steps to
determine revenue recognition: (i) identification of the promised goods or services in the contract; (ii) determination of
whether the promised goods or services are performance obligations including whether they are distinct in the context of
the contract; (iii) measurement of the transaction price, including the constraint on variable consideration; (iv) allocation
of the transaction price to the performance obligations based on estimated selling prices; and (v) recognition of revenue
when (or as) we satisfy each performance obligation. At contract inception, we assess the goods or services promised
within each contract, determine whether each promised good or service is distinct and identify those that are
performance obligations. We recognize as revenue the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to the respective
performance obligation when (or as) the performance obligation is satisfied. With respect to our commercial sales
activities for our RenovoCath device, we expect we will recognize revenue at the point in time that the customer obtains
control, which is typically based upon the terms of delivery, but subject to the variables discussed above under “
Components of Our Results of Operations — Revenue. ” Clinical Trial Expenses We make payments in connection with
our Phase III clinical trial under contracts with clinical trial sites and contract research organizations that support
conducting and managing clinical trials. The financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation and vary
from contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows. Generally, these agreements set forth the scope of
work to be performed at a fixed fee, unit price or on a time and materials basis. A portion of the obligation to make
payments under these contracts depends on factors such as the successful enrollment or treatment of patients or the
completion of other clinical trial milestones. Expenses related to clinical trials are accrued based on estimates and / or
representations from service providers regarding work performed, including actual level of patient enrollment,
completion of patient studies and progress of the clinical trials. Other incidental costs related to patient enrollment or
treatment are accrued when reasonably estimable. If the amounts we are obligated to pay under clinical trial agreements
are modified (for instance, as a result of changes in the clinical trial protocol or scope of work to be performed), the
accruals are adjusted accordingly. Revisions to contractual payment obligations are charged to expense in the period in
which the facts that give rise to the revision become reasonably certain. Stock- Based Compensation We estimate the fair
value of stock options using the Black- Scholes option pricing model, which incorporates various assumptions including
those related to the fair value of our common stock, volatility, expected term, and risk- free interest rate. Compensation
related to service- based awards is recognized starting on the grant date on a straight- line basis over the vesting period,
which is generally four years, see “ Note 7. Equity Incentive Plan — Stock- Based Compensation and Common Stock
Warrants ” in Notes to Financial Statements. Determining the grant date fair value of options using the Black- Scholes
option pricing model requires management to make assumptions and judgments. If any of the assumptions used in the
Black- Scholes model change significantly, stock- based compensation for future awards may differ materially compared
with the awards granted previously. The assumptions and estimates are as follows: Fair Value of Common Stock —
Given the absence of a public trading market, prior to our initial public offering in August 2021, our Board considered
numerous objective and subjective factors to determine the fair value of our common stock at each grant date. These
factors included but were not limited to: (i) contemporaneous third- party valuations of common stock; (ii) the prices for
preferred stock sold to outside investors; (iii) the rights and preferences of preferred stock relative to common stock; (iv)
the lack of marketability of our common stock; (v) developments in the business; and (vi) the likelihood of achieving a
liquidity event, such as an initial public offering or sale of the business, given prevailing market conditions. The
methodology to determine the fair value of our common stock included estimating the fair value of the enterprise using
the “ back solve ” method, which is a market approach that assigns an implied enterprise value by accounting for all
share class rights and preferences based on the latest round of financing. The total equity value implied was then applied
in the context of an option pricing model to determine the value of each class of our shares. For grants issued after our
initial public offering, we rely on the closing price of our common stock as reported on the date of grant to determine the
fair value of our common stock, as shares of our common stock are traded in the public market. Expected Term — The
expected term represents the period that the stock- based awards are expected to be outstanding. We determine the
expected term using the simplified method for pre- initial public offering and post- initial public offering awards. The
simplified method deems the term to be the average of the time- to- vesting and the contractual life of the options.
Expected Volatility — Given the absence of a public trading market, pre- initial public offering and post- initial public
offering, the expected volatility was estimated by taking the average historic price volatility for industry peers, consisting
of several public companies in our industry that are either similar in size, stage, or financial leverage, over a period
equivalent to the expected term of the awards. Risk- Free Interest Rate — The risk- free interest rate is calculated using



the average of the published interest rates of U. S. Treasury zero- coupon issues with maturities that are commensurate
with the expected term. Dividend Rate — The dividend yield assumption is zero as we have no plans to make dividend
payments. Convertible Instruments and Embedded Derivatives We evaluate all of our agreements to determine whether
such instruments have derivatives or contain features that qualify as embedded derivatives. We account for certain
redemption features that are associated with the terms of convertible notes as liabilities at fair value and adjusts the
instruments to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. For derivative financial instruments that are
accounted for as liabilities, the derivative instrument is initially recorded at its fair value and is then re- valued at each
reporting date, with changes in the fair value reported in other income (expenses), net in the statements of operations.
Derivative instrument liabilities are classified in the balance sheets as current or non- current based on whether or not
net- cash settlement of the derivative instrument could be required within 12 months of the balance sheet date. Pre-
Funded Common Stock Warrants and Common Stock Warrants We evaluate Pre- Funded Common Stock Warrants
and Common Stock Warrants issued in connection direct financing to determine whether such warrants qualify for
equity classification, or meet the definition of a derivative instrument, classified as a liability on the Balance Sheets and
measured at fair value at inception and at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognized in the Statements of
Operations and Comprehensive Loss in the period of change. Direct Offering Costs Direct offering costs consist
principally of commissions, placement fees and other expenses, including other professional expenses incurred. We
evaluate the terms under the financing agreement to determine the classification of direct costs in the accompanying
Balance Sheets or accompanying Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss or some combinations of both.
Emerging Growth Company and Smaller Reporting Company Status We are an *“ emerging growth company ” as
defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, as amended, or the JOBS Act. Under the JOBS Act,
companies have extended transition periods available for complying with new or revised accounting standards. We have
elected this exemption to delay adopting new or revised accounting standards. We will remain an emerging growth
company until the earlier of (1) December 31, 2026, (2) the last day of the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross
revenues of at least $ 1. 07 billion, (3) the date on which we are deemed to be a “ large accelerated filer ” as defined in
Rule 12b- 2 under the Exchange Act, or (4) the date on which we have issued more than $ 1. 0 billion in non- convertible
debt securities during the prior three- year period. An emerging growth company may take advantage of specified
reduced reporting requirements and is relieved of certain other significant requirements that are otherwise generally
applicable to public companies. As an emerging growth company, ® we may present only two years of audited financial
statements, plus unaudited condensed financial statements for any interim period, and related Management’ s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations; ® we may avail ourselves of the exemption
from the requirement to obtain an attestation and report from our auditors on the assessment of our internal control
over financial reporting pursuant to the Sarbanes- Oxley Act; ® we may provide reduced disclosure about our executive
compensation arrangements; and ® we do not require stockholder non- binding advisory votes on executive
compensation or golden parachute arrangements. We have elected to take advantage of certain of the reduced disclosure
obligations in this Annual Report on Form 10- K and may elect to take advantage of other reduced reporting
requirements in future filings. As a result, the information that we provide to our stockholders may be different than you
might receive from other public reporting companies in which you hold equity interests. We are also a “ smaller
reporting company, ” meaning that the market value of our stock held by non- affiliates plus the proposed aggregate
amount of gross proceeds to us as a result of this offering is less than $ 700. 0 million and our annual revenue is less than
$ 100. 0 million during the most recently completed fiscal year. We may continue to be a smaller reporting company if
either (1) the market value of our stock held by nonaffiliates is less than $ 250. 0 million or (2) our annual revenue is less
than $ 100. 0 million during the most recently completed fiscal year and the market value of our stock held by non-
affiliates is less than $ 700. 0 million. If we are a smaller reporting company at the time we cease to be an emerging
growth company, we may continue to rely on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that are available to
smaller reporting companies. Specifically, as a smaller reporting company we may choose to present only the two most
recent fiscal years of audited financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10- K and, like emerging growth
companies, smaller reporting companies have reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation.
Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncements See “ Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies ”
in Notes to Financial Statements, to our audited financial statements included elsewhere in this Report for more
information. ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK The
disclosures in this section are not required because we qualify as a smaller reporting company under federal securities
laws. ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA Our financial statements and the report
of our independent registered public accounting firm, as listed under Part IV, Item 15. “ Exhibits and Financial
Statement Schedules, ” are included as a separate section of this Report beginning on page F- 1 and are incorporated
herein by reference. ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE On April 29, 2024, our Audit Committee received a letter from Baker Tilly US, LLP
(“ BT ”) notifying the Audit Committee that BT has decided to resign as our independent registered public accounting
firm effective immediately following the filing of our Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2024. The reports of BT on our financial statements for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 did not
contain an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion, nor was it qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or
accounting principle, except such reports included an explanatory paragraph relating to substantial doubt about our
ability to continue as a going concern. During our fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and through the date of
BT’ s resignation, there were no disagreements (as that term is defined in Item 304 (a) (1) (iv) of Regulation S- K and



related instructions) between us and BT on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement
disclosure or auditing scope or procedures which disagreements, if not resolved to the satisfaction of BT would have
caused BT to make reference thereto in their report on the financial statements for such year. We disclosed for the fiscal
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective due to a
material weakness in its internal controls. We provided BT with a copy of the disclosures it made in our Current Report
on Form 8- K filed with the SEC on May 3, 2024 and requested that BT furnish us with a letter addressed to the SEC
stating whether it agrees with the statements contained herein. A copy of BT’ s letter, dated May 3, 2024, was filed as
Exhibit 16. 1 to the Current Report on Form 8- K and is incorporated by reference to this Annual Report as Exhibit 16.
1. On August 12, 2024, with the approval of the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee engaged Frank, Rimerman Co.
LLP (“ Frank Rimerman ”) as our independent public accounting firm to audit our financial statements for the fiscal
year ending December 31, 2024 and to review our quarterly condensed financial statements for our fiscal quarter ending
September 30, 2024. For our two most recent fiscal years, and in the subsequent interim period through the date of this
Annual Report, neither we nor anyone on our behalf consulted with Frank Rimerman regarding: (i) the application of
accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed, or the type of audit opinion that might be
rendered on our financial statements, and neither a written report nor oral advice was provided to us that Frank
Rimerman concluded was an important factor considered by us in reaching a decision as to any accounting, auditing or
financial reporting issue; or (ii) any matter that was either the subject of a disagreement (as defined in Item 304 (a) (1)
(iv) of Regulation S- K and the related instructions) or a reportable event (as described in Item 304 (a) (1) (v) of
Regulation S- K). Frank Rimerman previously served as our independent registered public accounting firm for our
fiscal year ended December 31, 2020. ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES (a) Evaluation of Disclosure
Controls and Procedures Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Principal Accounting Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the year
ended December 31, 2022. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Principal Accounting Officer have
concluded that, during the period covered by this Report, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective due
to our previously identified material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting. As a result, we have
performed additional analysis as deemed necessary to ensure that our financial statements were prepared in accordance
with U. S. GAAP. Accordingly, notwithstanding the identified material weaknesses, management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Principal Accounting Officer, believes the financial statements included in this Report are fairly
presented, in all material respects, in accordance with U. S. GAAP. We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that
are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in our Exchange Act reports is recorded,
processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’ s rules and forms, and that such
information is accumulated, communicated and discussed with our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
and Principal Officer or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure. Management recognizes that controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated,
can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance the desired control objectives will be met. In reaching a reasonable
level of assurance, management has weighed the cost of contemplated controls against their intended benefits. The
design of any system of controls is based on management’ s assumptions about the likelihood of future events. We cannot
assure you that our controls will achieve their stated goals under all possible conditions. Changes in future conditions
may render our controls inadequate or may cause our degree of compliance with them to deteriorate. Because of the
inherent limitations in a cost- effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be
detected. (b) Management’ s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting For the fiscal year ended December
31, 2024, our management identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting related to our
control environment. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies, in internal control
over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim
financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. Specifically, we have determined
that we have not maintained adequate formal accounting policies, processes and controls related to complex transactions
as a result of a lack of finance and accounting staff with the appropriate GAAP technical expertise needed to identify,
evaluate and account for complex and non- routine transactions. We also determined that we have not maintained
sufficient staffing or written policies and procedures for accounting and financial reporting, which contributed to the
lack of a formalized process or controls for management’ s timely review and approval of financial information. More
specifically, we have determined that our financial statement close process includes significant control gaps mainly
driven by the small size of our accounting and finance staff and, as a result, a significant lack of appropriate segregation
of duties. This includes the ability of users to create and post journal entries without adequate compensating review
controls as well as review of system rights on the journal entry and financial close process. In addition, we did not have
proper information technology general controls (ITGCs) related to user access, including the performance of user access
reviews, access to edit data in applications was not properly restricted, and formal approval of application access was not
documented and retained. We are in the process of implementing a number of measures to address the material
weaknesses that has been identified including: (i) engaging additional accounting and financial reporting personnel with
U. S. GAAP, and SEC reporting experience, (ii) developing, communicating and implementing an accounting policy
manual for our accounting and financial reporting personnel for recurring transactions and period- end closing
processes, and (iii) establishing effective monitoring and oversight controls for non- recurring and complex transactions
to ensure the accuracy and completeness of our financial statements and related disclosures. These additional resources



and procedures are designed to enable us to broaden the scope and quality of our internal review of underlying
information related to financial reporting and to formalize and enhance our internal control procedures. With the
oversight of senior management and our Audit Committee, we have begun taking steps and plan to take additional
measures to remediate the underlying causes of the material weaknesses. We intend to complete the implementation of
our remediation plan when we have sufficient cash to remediate our material weakness. Although we believe that our
remediation plan will improve our internal control over financial reporting, additional time may be required to fully
implement it and to make conclusions regarding the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Our
management will closely monitor and modify, as appropriate, the remediation plan to eliminate the identified material
weakness. This Report does not include a report of management’ s assessment regarding internal control over financial
reporting or an attestation report of the Company’ s registered public accounting firm due to a transition period
established by SEC rules for newly public companies. For as long as we remain an emerging growth company under the
JOBS Act, our independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to attest to the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting. When we lose our status as an emerging growth company and reach an
accelerated filer threshold, our independent registered public accounting firm will be required to attest to the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. (¢) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)
under the Exchange Act) during the last fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2024 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE We incorporate herein by
reference the relevant information concerning directors, executive officers and corporate governance to be included in
our definitive proxy statement for the 2025 annual meeting of stockholders (the “ 2025 Proxy Statement ) under the
caption “ Board of Directors, Management and Corporate Governance ”. We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics that applies to all of our employees, officers and directors, including our Chief Executive Officer and other
executive and senior financial officers. The full text of our Corporate Governance Guidelines and our Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics is available on our website under the “ Investors- Corporate Governance — Documents and Charters
” tabs https: // renovorx. com / investors / corporate- governance / documents- charters. We will post amendments to our
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or waivers of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for directors and executive
officers on the same website. ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION We incorporate herein by reference the
relevant information concerning executive compensation to be included in the 2025 Proxy Statement under the captions
“ Executive Compensation, ” and “ Director Compensation ”. ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN
BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS We incorporate
herein by reference the relevant information concerning security ownership of certain beneficial owners and
management to be included in the 2025 Proxy Statement under the captions “ Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters ” and “ Equity Compensation Plan Information ”. ITEM
13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE We incorporate herein by reference the relevant information concerning certain other relationships
and related transactions to be included in the 2025 Proxy Statement under the captions “ Corporate Governance ” and “
Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions ”. ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND
SERVICES We incorporate herein by reference the relevant information concerning principal accountant fees and
services to be included in the 2025 Proxy Statement under the caption “ Principal Accountant Fees and Services ”. PART
IV ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES (a) The following documents are filed as part
of this Annual Report on Form 10- K 1. Financial Statements Page Financial Statements for the Years Ended December
31, 2024 and 2023 Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Frank, Rimerman Co. LLP (PCAOB Firm ID
1596) F- 1 Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Baker Tilly US, LLP (PCAOB Firm ID 23) F- 2 Balance
Sheets F- 3 Statements of Operations F- 4 Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
F- 5 Statements of Cash Flows F- 6 Notes to Financial Statements F- 72. Financial Statement Schedules All financial
statement schedules have been omitted because the required information is not applicable or is not present in amounts
sufficient to require submission of the schedules, or because the information required is included in the financial
statements and accompanying notes included in this Report. 3. Exhibits See “ Exhibit Index ” immediately preceding the
signature page of this Report, which is incorporated herein by reference. ITEM 16. FORM 10- K SUMMARY
RENOVORX, INC. EXHIBIT INDEX Incorporated by Reference Exhibit No. Exhibit Description Form File No.
Exhibit Filing Date 3. 1 Sixth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of RenovoRx, Inc. 8- K 001- 40738 3. 1
August 31, 2021 3. 2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of RenovoRx, Inc. 8- K 001- 40738 3. 1 September 11, 2023 4. 1
Form of Private Common Stock Warrant (related to the 2020 Convertible Notes and 2021 Convertible Notes) 10- Q 001-
40738 4. 1 November 15, 2021 4. 2 Form of Underwriter’ s Warrant S- 1 333- 258071 4. 1 August 25, 2021 4. 3 Form of
Warrant Agent Agreement (including the terms of the Warrants) S- 1 333- 258071 4. 2 August 25, 2021 4. 4 Specimen
Stock Certificate evidencing the Shares of Common Stock S- 1 333- 258071 4. 4 August 25, 2021 4. 5 Form of Warrant
Certificate S- 1 333- 258071 4. S August 25, 2021 4. 6 Form of Pre- Funded Common Stock Purchase Warrant 8- K 001-
40738 4. 1 April 3, 2023 4. 7 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant 8- K 001- 40738 4. 2 April 3, 20234. 8 Form of
Warrant to Purchase Common Stock Issued in January 2024 Private Placement 8- K 001- 40738 10. 3 January 29, 2024
4.9 Form of Placement Agent Warrant Issued in January 2024 Private Placement 8- K 001- 40738 10. 5 January 29,
2024 4. 10 Form of Pre- Funded Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued in April 2024 Private Placement 8- K 001-



40738 10. 2 April 15, 2024 4. 11 Form of Series A Warrant to Purchase Common Stock issued in April 2024 Private
Placement 8- K 001- 40738 10. 3 April 15, 2024 4. 12 Form of Series B Warrant to Purchase Common Stock issued in
April 2024 Private Placement 8- K 001- 40738 10. 4 April 15, 2024 4. 13 Form of Placement Agent Warrant to Purchase
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16 Description of Securities 10- K 001- 40738 4. 6 March 30, 2022 10. 1 Amended and Restated Investor Rights
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Q 001- 40738 10. 4 November 15, 2021 10. 5 1 Consulting Agreement, by and between RenovoRx, Inc. and Ramtin Agah,
M. D., dated January 1, 2018 10- Q 001- 40738 10. S November 15, 2021 10. 6 + Amendment to Consulting Agreement, by
and between RenovoRx, Inc. and Ramtin Agah, M. D., dated November 11, 2021 10- Q 001- 40738 10. 6 November 15,
2021 10. 7 + Amendment to Consulting Agreement, by and between RenovoRx, Inc. and Ramtin Agah, M. D., dated
January 25, 2022 10- K 001- 40738 10. 7 March 30, 2022 10. 8 ¥ Change in Control and Severance Agreement, by and
between RenovoRx, Inc. and Shaun Bagai, effective as of November 11, 2021 10- Q 001- 40738 10. 7 November 15, 2021
10. 9 + Change in Control and Severance Agreement, by and between RenovoRx, Inc. and Ramtin Agah, M. D., effective
as of November 11, 2021 10- Q 001- 40738 10. 8 November 15, 2021 10. 10 + Key Service Provider Incentive
Compensation Plan 10- Q 001- 40738 10. 9 November 15, 2021 10. 11 ¥ Form of Indemnification Agreement S- 1 333-
258071 10. 7 August 25, 2021 10. 12 Master Supply Agreement, by and between Medical Murray, Inc. and RenovoRx,
Inc., dated October 28, 2019 S- 1 333- 258071 10. 11 August 25, 2021 10. 13 1 Consulting Agreement by and between
RenovoRYx, Inc. and Danforth Advisors, LLC, dated April 25, 2022 8- K 001- 40738 10. 1 July 19, 2022 10. 14  Offer
Letter between RenovoRx, Inc. and Angela Gill Nelms, dated August 15, 2022 8- K 001- 40738 10. 1 September 19, 2022
10. 15 1+ Change in Control and Severance Agreement by and between RenovoRx, Inc. and Angela Gill Nelms, dated
August 17,2022 8- K 001- 40738 10. 2 September 19, 202210. 16 ¥ Form of Placement Agency Agreement by and between
RenovoRx, Inc. and Roth Capital Partners, LL.C, dated March 30, 2023 8- K 001- 40738 10. 1 April 3, 2023 10. 17 + Form
of Securities Purchase Agreement 8- K 001- 40738 10. 2 April 3, 2023 10. 18 Subscription Agreement, by and between
RenovoRXx, Inc. and the investors thereto 8- K 001- 40738 10. 1 January 29, 2024 10. 19 Offering Extension, dated
January 12, 2024 8- K 001- 40738 10. 2 January 29, 2024 10. 20 Placement Agent Agreement, by and between RenovoRx,
Inc. and Paulson Investment Company, LL.C, dated November 14, 2023 8- K 001- 40738 10. 4 January 29, 2024 10. 21
Amended and Restated Offer Letter, by and between RenovoRx, Inc. and Ronald B. Kocak 8- K 001- 40738 10. 1
February 9, 2024 10. 22 Amended and Restated Offer Letter, by and between RenovoRx, Inc. and Leesa Gentry 8- K
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Accounting Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a- 14 (a) / 15d- 14 (a). Filed herewith 32. 1 * Certification of Principal Executive
Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350. Furnished herewith 32. 2 * Certification of Principal Accounting Officer
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compensatory plan or arrangement Confidential portions of this Exhibit were redacted pursuant to Item 601 (b) (2) of
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RENOVORX, INC. Date: March 31, 2025 / s / Shaun R. Bagai Shaun R. Bagai Chief Executive Officer Date: March 31,
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Executive Officer, Director March 31, 2025 Shaun R. Bagai (Principal Executive Officer) / s / Ronald B. Kocak VP,
Controller and Principal Accounting Officer March 31, 2025 Ronald B. Kocak (Principal Accounting Officer) /s /
Ramtin Agah Chairman of the Board of Directors March 31, 2025 Ramtin Agah, M. D. / s / Laurence J. Marton Director
March 31, 2025 Laurence J. Marton, M. D. /s / Una S. Ryan Director March 31, 2025 Una S. Ryan, O. B. E., Ph. D., D.
Sc. /s / Kirsten Angela Macfarlane Director March 31, 2025 Kirsten Angela Macfarlane /s / Robert J. Spiegel Director
March 31, 2025 Robert J. Spiegel, M. D., FACP REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of RenovoRx, Inc. Opinion on the Financial
Statements We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of RenovoRx, Inc. (the “ Company ) as of December 31,
2024, and the related statements of operations, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity, and cash flows, for
the year then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “ financial statements ). In our opinion, the
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of RenovoRx, Inc. as of December 31,
2024, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. The financial statements of the Company as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2023, were audited by other auditors whose report, dated April 1, 2024, except for Note 11, as to
which the date is March 31, 2025, expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements. We were not engaged to audit,
review, or apply any procedures to the 2023 financial statements of the Company and, accordingly, we do not express an
opinion or any other form of assurance on the 2023 financial statements taken as a whole. Basis for Opinion These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’ s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’ s financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“ PCAOB ”) and are required to be independent with respect to
the Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the U. S.
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the
PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to
have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit, we
are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. / s / Frank, Rimerman Co. LLP We served as the Company’ s auditor from
2019 to 2021. We were subsequently re- engaged during the third quarter of 2024. San Francisco, California March 31,
2025 To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of RenovoRx, Inc. We have audited the accompanying balance
sheet of RenovoRx, Inc. (the “ Company ) as of December 31, 2023, the related statements of operations and
comprehensive loss, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for the year then ended, and
the related notes to the financial statements (collectively the “ financial statements ). In our opinion, the financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’ s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’ s financial statements based on our audit. We
are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (¢
PCAOB ”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U. S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We
conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit, we are required to obtain an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’ s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. Our audit included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. / s / Baker Tilly US,
LLP We served as the Company’ s auditor from 2021 to 2024. Irvine, California RenovoRx, Inc. Balance Sheets (in
thousands, except share and per share amounts) 2024 2023 As of December 31, 2024 2023 Assets Current assets: Cash
and cash equivalents $ 7, 154 § 1, 173 Accounts receivable 43- Prepaid expenses 328 168 Other current assets 303 24
Deferred offering costs- 101 Total current assets 7, 828 1, 466 Right- of- use operating asset 278- Property and
equipment, net 12- Total assets $ 8, 118 $ 1, 466 Liabilities, Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity
(Deficit) Current liabilities: Accounts payable $ 586 $ 561 Accrued expenses 1, 323 614 Total current liabilities 1, 909 1,
175 Common stock warrant liability 1, 519 3, 291 Operating lease liability, net of current portion 212- Total liabilities 3,



640 4, 466 Commitments and contingencies (Note 6)-- Convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit):
Convertible preferred stock, $ 0. 0001 par value; 15, 000, 000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively; zero shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively-- Common stock, $ 0. 0001
par value, 250, 000, 000 shares authorized at December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively; 24, 034, 672 and 10, 693, 580
shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively 2 1 Additional paid- in capital 54, 695 38,
404 Accumulated other comprehensive income-- Accumulated deficit (50, 219) (41, 405) Total convertible preferred stock
and stockholders’ (deficit) equity 4, 478 (3, 000) Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity
(deficit) $ 8,118 $ 1, 466 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. Statements of
Operations 2024 2023 Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 Revenues $ 43 $- Cost of revenues-- Gross profit 43-
Operating expenses: Research and development 6, 025 S, 667 Selling, general and administrative 4, 988 S, 729 Total
operating expenses 11, 013 11, 396 Loss from operations (10, 970) (11, 396) Change in fair value of warrant liability 1,
772 1, 709 Interest income (expense), net 384 108 Financing costs allocated to warrant- (653) Total other income
(expense), net 2, 156 1, 164 Net loss $ (8, 814) $ (10, 232) Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0. 40) $ (0. 99) Weighted-
average shares of common stock outstanding, basic and diluted 22, 271, 163 10, 290, 667 Statements of Convertible
Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) (in thousands, except share amounts) Shares Amount Shares Amount
Capital Income Deficit (Deficit) Convertible Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional Paid- In Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Accumulated Total Stockholders’ Equity Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Deficit
(Deficit) Balance — December 31, 2022-$-9, 097,701 $1 $37,318$17 $ (31, 173) $ 6, 163 Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of stock options-- 8, 247- 8-- 8 Issuance of restricted stock awards-- 30, 000----- Issuance of common stock
upon the registered direct offering-- 1, 000, 000----- Issuance and exercise of common stock warrants upon the registered
direct offering-- 557, 632----- Stock- based compensation expense---- 1, 078-- 1, 078 Other comprehensive income----- an-
(17) Net loss------ (10, 232) (10, 232) Balance — December 31, 2023-- 10, 693, 580 $ 1 $ 38, 404 $- $ (41, 405) $ (3, 000)
Balance-- 10, 693, 580 $ 1 $ 38, 404 $- $ (41, 405) $ (3, 000) Issuance of common stock upon the private placement
offering-- 13, 094, 278 1 15, 015-- 15, 016 Issuance of restricted stock awards-- 120, 000----- Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of stock options-- 93, 481- 69-- 69 Issuance of common stock upon exercise of common stock warrants-- 33,
333- 33-- 33 Stock- based compensation expense--—- 1, 174-- 1, 174 Net loss------ (8, 814) (8, 814) Balance — December 31,
2024- $- 24,034, 672 $ 2 $ 54, 695 $- $ (50, 219) $ 4, 478 Balance- $- 24, 034, 672 $ 2 $ 54, 695 $- $ (50, 219) $ 4, 478
Statements of Cash Flows (in thousands) 2024 2023 Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 Cash flows from operating
activities: Net loss $ (8, 814) $ (10, 232) Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities: Stock-
based compensation expense 1, 174 1, 078 Change in fair value of common stock warrants classified as a liability (1, 772)
(1, 709) Non- cash lease expense 7- Changes in operating assets and liabilities: Prepaid expenses (160) 633 Other assets
(221) (101) Accounts payables 25 27 Accrued expenses 636 46 Net cash used in operating activities (9, 125) (10, 258) Cash
flows from investing activities: Proceeds from the sale of investments- 2, 032 Purchase of property and equipment (12)-
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (12) 2, 032 Cash flows from financing activities: Proceeds from
common stock and pre- funded common stock warrants 15, 016 5, 000 Proceeds from exercise of stock options 69 8
Proceeds from exercise of common stock warrants 33- Net cash provided by financing activities 15, 118 S, 008 Net
increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents S, 981 (3, 218) Cash and cash equivalents: Beginning of year 1, 173 4,
391 End of year $ 7, 154 § 1, 173 Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Cash paid for income taxes $ $
Cash paid for interest $ $ Supplemental Disclosure of Non- Cash Investing and Financing Activities: Fair value of
common stock warrant classified as a liability $- $ 3, 291 Right- of- use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations $
$- Notes to Financial Statements 1. Business and Principal Activities Description of Business RenovoRx, Inc. (the “
Company ) was incorporated in the state of Delaware in December 2012 and operates from its headquarters in
Mountain View, California. The Company is a life sciences company offering RenovoCath ®, a novel, U. S. Food and
Drug Administration (“ FDA ”)- cleared local drug- delivery device, targeting high unmet medical needs, with a present
focus on difficult to treat cancers. The Company is both a clinical stage and a commercial stage enterprise. The
Company’ s clinical stage lead product candidate is a novel drug- device combination product consisting of intra-
arterial delivery of the chemotherapy gemcitabine via RenovoCath and which is referred to herein as “ IAG. ” IAG is
currently the subject of a pivotal Phase III clinical study for the treatment of locally advanced pancreatic cancer (“
LAPC ”). At the same time, the Company is commercializing RenovoCath for standalone use by interventional
radiologists, oncologists and other medical professionals who can use RenovoCath to treat patients within its FDA-
cleared fields of use. Liquidity and Capital Resources From the Company’ s inception through December 31, 2024, it has
raised an aggregate of $ 59. 2 million from private placements of convertible preferred stock, convertible debt securities,
the issuance of securities in the Company’ s August 2021 initial public offering (the “ IPO ), and the exercise of
warrants and common stock options. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $ 7. 2
million. The Company has incurred significant losses and negative cash flows from operations since its inception. For the
year ended December 31, 2024, the Company reported a net loss of $ 8. 8 million and an accumulated deficit of $ 50. 2
million and does not expect to generate positive cash flows from operations in the foreseeable future. The Company
expects to incur significant and increasing losses until regulatory approval is granted for its first product candidate, IAG.
Regulatory approval is not guaranteed and may never be obtained. The Company believes it will be able to raise
additional capital through debt financings, private or public equity financings, license agreements, collaborative
agreements or other arrangements with other companies, or other sources of financing. There can be no assurance that
such financing will be available or will be at terms acceptable to the Company. The inability to raise capital as and when
needed would have a negative impact on the Company’ s liquidity financial condition and its ability to pursue its



business strategy. The Company will need to generate significant revenue to achieve profitability, and it may never do
so. The Company has filed an omnibus shelf registration statement on Form S- 3 that provides for the aggregate
offerings of up to $ 50. 0 million of the Company’ s securities subject to various limitations, including limited sales in any
twelve- month period while the Company is subject to the “ baby- shelf ” rules. The Company has also filed a
registration statement on Form S- 1 to register the cash exercise of the Company’ s outstanding IPO, underwriter and
private warrants. Cash exercise of the outstanding warrants is only expected to occur when the trading price of the
Company’ s common stock is in excess of the $ 10. 80 per share exercise price of the outstanding warrants. The
accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern
and has reviewed the relevant conditions and events surrounding its ability to continue as a going concern including
among others: historical losses, projected future results, negative cash flows from operations, including cash
requirements for the upcoming year, funding capacity, net working capital, total stockholders’ equity and future access
to capital. Based upon this review and the Company’ s current financial condition, the Company has concluded its
current cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund its operations through at least the next 12 months from the
issuance of this report. 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Basis of Presentation The accompanying financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“ GAAP ”) and applicable rules and regulations of the SEC for annual reporting. Any reference in these notes
to applicable guidance is meant to refer to the authoritative GAAP as found in the Accounting Standards Codification (*
ASC ”) and as amended by Accounting Standards Update (“ ASU ”) of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (*
FASB ”). Certain prior period amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and accompanying notes have been
reclassified or modified to conform to the current period’ s presentation. Risks and Uncertainties The Company is
subject to a number of risks associated with companies at a similar stage, including the risk associated with the
development of products that must receive regulatory approval before market launch, dependence on key individuals,
competition from larger and established companies, volatility of the industry, ability to obtain adequate financing to
support growth, the ability to attract and retain additional qualified personnel to manage the anticipated growth of the
Company and general economic conditions. The Company is subject to a number of risks similar to other early- stage
biopharmaceutical companies, including, but not limited to, the need to obtain adequate additional funding, possible
failure of current or future preclinical studies or clinical trials, its reliance on third parties to conduct its clinical trials,
the need to obtain regulatory and marketing approvals for its product candidates, competitors developing new
technological innovations, the need to successfully commercialize and gain market acceptance of the Company’ s product
candidates, protection of its proprietary technology, and the need to secure and maintain adequate manufacturing
arrangements with third parties. Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
income and expenses as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, at the date of the financial statements
during the reporting periods. In preparing these financial statements, management has made its best estimates and
judgments of certain amounts included in the financial statements. Significant estimates and assumptions made in the
accompanying financial statements include, but are not limited to, accruals of certain liabilities, including clinical trial
accruals and other contingences, the valuation of financial instruments, the fair value of the Company’ s common stock
and the fair value of options granted under the Company’ s equity incentive plan. On an ongoing basis, the Company
evaluates its estimates, including those related to the fair values of assets, stock- based compensation, clinical trial
accruals and other contingencies. Management bases its estimates on historical experience or on various other
assumptions that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ materially from these
estimates. Concentration of Credit Risk and Significant Suppliers Financial instruments that potentially subject the
Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents. The Company
maintains bank deposits in federally insured financial institutions and these deposits may exceed federally insured limits
of $ 250, 000 per depositor. The Company is exposed to credit risk in the event of default by the financial institutions
holding its cash and cash equivalents to the extent recorded in the balance sheets. The Company has not experienced any
losses on its deposits of cash and cash equivalents to date. The Company relied, and expects to rely, on a small number of
third- party manufacturers to manufacture and supply its RenovoCath devices and its product candidates for clinical
trials. These activities could be adversely affected by a significant interruption in supply of these items. If the Company
does not successfully commercialize or partner any of its product candidates, it will be unable to generate product
revenue or achieve profitability. Operating Segment The Company operates and manages its business as one reportable
and operating segment, which is the development of a therapy platform to deliver de- risked small molecules for localized
treatment of solid cancer tumors. The Company’ s chief executive officer (“ CEO ), who is the Chief Operating Decision
Maker (“ CODM ”), reviews financial information on an aggregate basis for allocating resources and evaluating
financial performance, see “ Note 11. Segment Information ” in Notes to Financial Statements. Net Loss per Share Basic
net loss per common share is calculated by dividing net loss by the weighted- average number of shares of common stock
outstanding during the period, without consideration of common stock equivalents. Diluted net loss per share is
computed by dividing net loss by the weighted- average number of shares of common stock and common stock
equivalents of potentially dilutive securities outstanding for the period determined using the treasury stock and if-
converted methods. Potentially dilutive common stock equivalents are comprised of convertible preferred stock,
convertible notes, and warrants including options and restricted stock awards outstanding under the Company’ s Equity
Incentive Plan. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, there was no difference in the number of shares used to
calculate basic and diluted shares outstanding as the inclusion of the potentially dilutive securities would be anti-



dilutive. Fair Value of Financial Instruments Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an
asset or paid to transfer a liability, or an exit price, in the principal or most advantageous market for that asset or
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Fair value measurement
establishes a fair value hierarchy that requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs, where available, and
minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. F- 8 The Company determined the fair value of
financial assets and liabilities using the fair value hierarchy that describes three levels of inputs that may be used to
measure fair value, as follows: Level 1 — Valuations based on quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities in active
markets. Level 2 — Valuations based on observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted
prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in
markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data. Level
3 — Valuations based on unobservable inputs reflecting the Company’ s assumptions, consistent with reasonably
available assumptions made by other market participants. These valuations require significant judgment. The estimated
fair value of financial instruments disclosed in the financial statements has been determined by using available market
information and appropriate valuation methodologies. In certain cases where there is limited activity or less
transparency around inputs to valuation, securities are classified as Level 3. The carrying amount of current assets,
accounts payable and accrued expenses are generally considered to be representative of their respective fair values
because of their short- term nature. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments The Company considers all highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. Available- for- sale
securities, comprised of obligations of the U. S. government and its agencies, are carried at fair value, with unrealized
gains and losses recorded within other comprehensive income (loss) as a separate component of stockholders’ equity.
Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other than temporary, if any, on available- for- sale
securities are included in earnings. Purchases and sales of investment securities are recognized on a trade date basis. The
cost of investment securities sold is determined by the specific identification method. Accounts Receivable Accounts
receivable represents amounts arising from product sales and are reported at outstanding amounts where management
has the intent and ability to collect and are recorded net of allowances for returns and credit losses. The Company
estimates an allowance for credit losses by considering factors such as credit quality, the age of the accounts receivable
balances, and current economic conditions that may impact a customer’ s ability to pay. The Company has no historical
write- offs of its accounts receivable and its payment terms are generally less than 90 days from the invoice date. The
Company evaluates the creditworthiness of each counterparty on a regular basis. As of December 31, 2024, the credit
profiles for these counterparties were deemed to be in good standing and, as such, an allowance for credit losses was not
recorded. F- 9 Property and Equipment, Net Property and equipment are recorded at cost, net of accumulated
depreciation and represent furniture and fixtures on the Company’ s new occupied office lease space. The furniture and
fixtures are treated as a group asset and no depreciation was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2024, as
additional purchases are pending for fiscal year 2025. Depreciation expense will be recorded using the straight- line
method over the estimated useful life of seven years. Repairs and maintenance costs that do not extend the useful life are
expensed as incurred. The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at contract inception. Operating lease assets
represent the Company’ s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and operating lease liabilities represent the
Company’ s obligation to make payments arising from the lease. Operating lease assets and liabilities are recognized at
the commencement date of the lease based upon the present value of lease payments over the lease term. When
determining the lease term, the Company includes options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain
that the Company will exercise those options. The Company utilizes the Company’ s incremental borrowing rate when
the implicit interest rate is not readily determinable based upon the information available at the commencement date of
the lease in determining the present value of the lease payments and the implicit interest rate when readily determinable.
The lease payments used to determine the Company’ s operating lease assets may include lease incentives, stated rent
increases and escalation clauses linked to rates of inflation, when determinable, and are recognized in the Company’ s
operating lease assets in the Company’ s consolidated balance sheets. In addition, the Company’ s contracts may contain
lease and non- lease components. The Company combines lease and non- lease components, which are accounted for
together as lease components. The Company’ s operating leases are reflected in the right- of- use operating asset;
operating lease liability, current portion; and operating lease liability, net of current portion in the Company’ s balance
sheets. Lease expense for minimum lease payments is recognized on a straight- line basis over the lease term. Short-
term leases, defined as leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less at the commencement date, are not recorded on
the Company’ s balance sheets and are recognized in the statements of operations and loss on a straight- line basis over
the term of the lease. Variable lease payments are the amounts owed by the Company to a lessor that are not fixed, such
as reimbursement for common area maintenance and utilities costs for facility leases. Variable lease payments are
expensed when incurred. Warranties The Company generally provides warranties for its products from manufacturing
defects on a limited basis for a period of up to 120 days after purchase. During the term of the warranty, if the device
fails to operate properly from defects in materials and workmanship, the Company will replace the defective product.
The Company estimates the costs that it may incur under its warranty program based on the number of units sold,
historical and anticipated rates of warranty claims, and cost per claim. The Company has not experienced any warranty
claims to date, and significant warranty claims are not expected, and accordingly no liability for warranty claims was
recorded for the year ended December 31, 2024. The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with ASC Topic 606,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ ASC 606 ). The provisions of ASC 606 require the following steps to
determine revenue recognition: (i) identification of the promised goods or services in the contract; (ii) determination of



whether the promised goods or services are performance obligations including whether they are distinct in the context of
the contract; (iii) measurement of the transaction price, including the constraint on variable consideration; (iv) allocation
of the transaction price to the performance obligations based on estimated selling prices; and (v) recognition of revenue
when (or as) the Company satisfies each performance obligation. At contract inception, the Company assesses the goods
or services promised within each contract, determines whether each promised good or service is distinct and identifies
those that are performance obligations. The Company recognizes as revenue the amount of the transaction price that is
allocated to the respective performance obligation when (or as) the performance obligation is satisfied. F- 10 The
Company derives revenue through sales of its FDA- cleared catheter drug- delivery device, RenovoCath, directly to end
users, which began sales in the fourth quarter of 2024. To date, the Company has sold all product to one customer, a
hospital. The Company considers customer purchase orders, which in some cases are governed by master sales
agreements or standard terms and conditions, to be the contracts with a customer. The Company’ s contracts with
customers typically contain a single performance obligation, which is the delivery of the RenovoCath stand- alone device
and generally with payment terms expected net 30 days upon shipment of device. The Company recognizes revenue from
sales of products at the point in time that the customer obtains control, which is typically based upon the terms of
delivery. In determining the transaction price, the Company evaluates whether the price is subject to refund or
adjustment to determine the net consideration to which it expects to be entitled. The only type of variable consideration
the Company offers is limited return rights relating primarily to product damage or defects identified upon receipt, and
therefore the Company expects minimal returns. Returns are estimated taking into consideration several factors
including these limited product return rights, historical return activity, and other relevant factors. The Company has not
experienced any product returns to date, and accordingly no allowance for returns was recorded for the year ended
December 31, 2024. The costs associated with the sales of RenovoCath devices during 2024 were expensed as research
and development in prior periods as part of our clinical trial which was approximately $ 2, 000. As of December 31,
2024, the Company had approximately $ 7, 000 of zero- cost RenovoCath inventory expected to be sold in 2025. Research
and Development Costs Research and development expenses are charged to expense as incurred. Research and
development expenses includes personnel costs including salaries, benefits and stock- based compensation. In addition, it
includes expenses for consultants that support clinical trial studies, materials costs, external clinical drug product
manufacturing costs, outside services costs, regulatory activities including filing fees, fees for maintaining licenses and
other amounts due to third- party agreements, laboratory materials, clinical trial, as noted above, and supplies to
support our research activities, including allocated facility and selling, general and administrative indirect overhead
related costs. The Company also receives payments from clinical trial sites for RenovoCath delivery devices used in the
Phase III clinical trial. Payments received from clinical sites cover the direct costs of manufacturing the RenovoCath
delivery devices and offset research and development expenses were $ 118, 000 and $ 96, 000 for December 31, 2024 and
2023, respectively. The Company makes payments in connection with its ongoing Phase III clinical trial under contracts
with clinical trial sites and contract research organizations that support conducting and managing clinical trials. The
financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation and vary from contract to contract and may result in
uneven payment flows. Generally, these agreements set forth the scope of work to be performed at a fixed fee, unit price
or on a time and materials basis. A portion of the obligation to make payments under these contracts depends on factors
such as the successful enrollment or treatment of patients or the completion of other clinical trial milestones. Expenses
related to clinical trials are accrued based on estimates and / or representations from service providers regarding work
performed, including actual level of patient enrollment, completion of patient studies and progress of the clinical trials.
Other incidental costs related to patient enrollment or treatment are accrued when reasonably estimable. If amounts
and obligations to pay under clinical trial agreements are modified (for instance, as a result of changes in the clinical trial
protocol or scope of work to be performed), the accruals are adjusted accordingly. Revisions to contractual payment
obligations are charged to expense in the period in which the facts that give rise to the revision become reasonably
certain. Selling, general and administrative expenses consist of salaries, benefits, and stock- based compensation for
personnel in executive, finance and administrative functions, professional services and associated costs related to
accounting, tax, audit, legal, intellectual property, consulting costs, conferences and travel, including allocated facility
and selling, general and administrative indirect overhead related costs to research and development expenses. Selling,
general and administrative expenses are expensed in the period incurred. F- 11 Marketing The Company implements a
comprehensive multi- channel digital marketing program focused on growing awareness around its therapeutic offerings
and its pipeline of clinical stage drug candidates. The marketing efforts aim is to increase Company awareness focusing
on name recognition, disease awareness, current treatment alternative options and recent clinical accomplishments and
successes. Marketing expenses are classified as selling, general and administrative expenses and are expensed in the
period incurred. Marketing expenses were $ 413, 000 and $ 530, 000 for December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The
Company estimates the fair value of stock options using the Black- Scholes option pricing model, which incorporates
various assumptions including volatility, expected term and risk- free interest rate. Compensation related to service-
based awards is recognized starting on the grant date on a straight- line basis over the vesting period, which is generally
four years. Forfeitures are recorded as they occur. The determination of the fair value of each stock award using this
option- pricing model is affected by the Company’ s assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective
variables. These variables include, but are not limited to, the fair value of the common stock at the date of grant, the
expected term of the awards, the expected stock price volatility over the expected term of the awards, the risk- free
interest rate, and the dividend rate as follows: Fair Value of Common Stock — Prior to the IPO, given the absence of a
public trading market, the Company’ s Board of Directors considered numerous objective and subjective factors to



determine the fair value of the Company’ s common stock at each grant date. These factors included, but were not
limited to: (i) contemporaneous third- party valuations of common stock; (ii) the prices for preferred stock sold to
outside investors; (iii) the rights and preferences of preferred stock relative to common stock; (iv) the lack of
marketability of the Company’ s common stock; (v) developments in the business; and (vi) the likelihood of achieving a
liquidity event, such as an IPO or sale of the business, given prevailing market conditions. The methodology to determine
the fair value of the Company’ s common stock included estimating the fair value of the enterprise using the “ backsolve
” method, which is a market approach that assigns an implied enterprise value by accounting for all share class rights
and preferences based on the latest round of financing. The total equity value implied was then applied in the context of
an option pricing model to determine the value of each class of the Company’ s shares. For grants issued post- IPO the
closing price of the Company’ s common stock as reported on the date of grant will determine the fair value of the
Company’ s common stock, as shares of the Company’ s common stock are traded in the public market. Expected Term
— The expected term represents the period that the stock- based awards are expected to be outstanding. The Company
determines the expected term using the simplified method for pre- IPO and post- IPO awards. The simplified method
deems the term to be the average of the time- to- vesting and the contractual life of the options. Expected Volatility —
Given the absence of a public trading market, pre- IPO and post IPO, the expected volatility is estimated by taking the
average historic price volatility for industry peers, consisting of several public companies in the Company’ s industry
that are either similar in size, stage, or financial leverage, over a period equivalent to the expected term of the awards.
Dividend Rate — The dividend yield assumption is zero as the Company has no plans to make dividend payments. The
Company generally granted stock options, pre- IPO, to its employees and consultants for a fixed number of shares with
an exercise price equal to the fair value of the underlying shares at date of grant. For all post- IPO grants issued, the fair
value will be the closing price of the Company’ s common stock on the date of the grant. The Company accounts for all
stock option grants using the fair value method and stock- based compensation is recognized as the underlying options
vest. Income Taxes Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured based on differences between the financial reporting
and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted rates and laws that are expected to be in effect when the differences
are expected to reverse. The Company records a valuation allowance for the full amount of deferred assets, which would
otherwise be recorded for tax benefits relating to operating loss and tax credit carryforwards for all periods presented,
as realization of such deferred tax assets cannot be determined to be more likely than not. Due to losses incurred for all
periods presented, the Company does not record a tax provision or benefit for income taxes. F- 12 The Company is an
emerging growth company (“ EGC ”) as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “ JOBS Act ”)
and may take advantage of reduced reporting requirements that are otherwise applicable to public companies. Section
107 of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from complying with new or revised financial accounting
standards until private companies are required to comply with those standards. The Company has elected to use the
extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards. We are also a “ smaller reporting
company, ” as defined in Rule 12b- 2 of the Exchange Act. If we are a smaller reporting company at the time we cease to
be an emerging growth company, we may continue to rely on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that are
available to smaller reporting companies. Specifically, as a smaller reporting company we may choose to present only the
two most recent fiscal years of audited financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10- K and, like emerging
growth companies, smaller reporting companies have reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation.
From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the FASB or other standard setting bodies and
adopted by the Company as of the specified effective date. Unless otherwise discussed, the impact of recently issued
standards that are not yet effective will not have a material impact on the Company’ s financial position or results of
operations upon adoption. Recent Accounting Pronouncements Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements In June
2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016- 13, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326). The guidance represents a
significant change in the accounting for credit losses model by requiring immediate recognition of management’ s
estimates of current expected credit losses (CECL). Under the prior model, losses were recognized only as they were
incurred. The Company has determined that it has met the criteria of a smaller reporting company (“ SRC ”) as of
November 15, 2019. As such, ASU 2019- 10, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326), Derivatives and
Hedging (Topic 815), and Leases (Topic 842) — Effective Dates amended the effective date for the Company to be for
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2022. The Company adopted this ASU 2016- 13 on January 1, 2023 and
the adoption had no significant impact to the Company’ s financial statements. F- 13 In August 2020, the FASB issued
ASU 2020- 06, Debt — Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470- 20) and Derivatives and Hedging —
Contracts in Entity’ s Own Equity (Subtopic 815- 40) (ASU 2020- 06): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and
Contracts in an Entity, which simplifies the accounting for certain financial instruments with characteristics of liabilities
and equity, including convertible instruments and contracts on an entity’ s own equity. The updated guidance is effective
on a prospective basis for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2023 and for interim periods within
those periods. The Company was early adopted on January 1, 2022 and the pronouncement did not have any material
impact on the Company’ s financial position or results of operations. In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023- 07,
Segment Reporting- Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures (Topic 280), which requires disclosure of
incremental segment information on an annual and interim basis and also requires companies with a single reportable
segment to provide all disclosures required by this ASU and all existing segment disclosures in Accounting Standard
Codification (“ ASC ”) 280, “ Segment Reporting. ” The requirements of the ASU are effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2023 and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company adopted the new
standard effective December 31, 2024. The adoption of the standard did not have a material impact on the Company’ s



financial statements. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements In December 2023, FASB issued ASU 2023- 09,
Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (ASU 2023- 09). ASU 2023- 09 modifies the rules on
income tax disclosures to enhance the transparency and decision- usefulness of income tax disclosures, particularly in the
rate reconciliation table and disclosures about income taxes paid. The amendments are intended to address investors’
requests for income tax disclosures that provide more information to help them better understand an entity’ s exposure
to potential changes in tax laws and the ensuing risks and opportunities and to assess income tax information that affects
cash flow forecasts and capital allocation decisions. The guidance also eliminates certain existing disclosure requirements
related to uncertain tax positions and unrecognized deferred tax liabilities. The guidance is effective for all entities for
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2025. All entities should apply the guidance prospectively but have the
option to apply it retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is continuing to assess the timing of
adoption and the potential impacts of ASU 2023- 09 on the financial statements and related disclosures. In November
2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024- 03, Income Statement- Reporting Comprehensive Income- Expense Disaggregation
Disclosures (Subtopic 220- 40) (ASU 2024- 03). ASU 2024- 03 modifies the rules on income statement disclosures to
enhance the transparency of and include more detailed information about the types of expenses, including purchases of
inventory, employee compensation, depreciation, amortization, and depletion, in commonly presented expense captions
such as cost of sales, research and development, and selling, general and administrative expenses. The amendments are
intended to address investors’ requests for income statement expense disclosures that provide more information to help
them better understand the components of an entity’ s expenses, make their own judgments about the entity’ s
performance, and more accurately forecast expenses, and enable investors to better assess an entity’ s prospects for
future cash flows. It will also provide contextual information for an entity’ s presentation and consideration of
management’ s discussion and analysis of financial position and results of operations. The guidance is effective for all
entities for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2026. All entities should apply the guidance prospectively but
have the option to apply it retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is continuing to assess the timing
of adoption and the potential impacts of ASU 2024- 03 on the financial statements and related disclosures. 3. Property
and Equipment, Net Furniture and equipment as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows (in thousands): Schedule
of Property and Equipment Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 Furniture and equipment $ 12 $-- Subtotal 12- Less
accumulated depreciation-- Furniture and equipment $ 12 $- Depreciation is computed on a straight- line basis over the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The useful life for furniture and equipment is seven years. Depreciation expense for
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were nil, respectively. F- 14 4. Accrued Expenses The components of
accrued expenses as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows (in thousands): Schedule of Accrued Expenses Years
Ended December 31, 2024 2023 Employee benefits $ 817 $ 75 Clinical trial 432 470 Current portion of operating lease
liability 66- Other 8 69 Total accrued expenses $ 1,323 § 614 5. Fair Value Measurements As of December 31, 2024, and
2023, the Company held $ 7. 0 million and $ 0. 9 million, respectively, in a money market account. The following tables
summarize the Company’ s financial assets and liabilities, measured at fair value on a recurring basis by level within the
fair value hierarchy, as of December 31, 2024, and 2023, (in thousands): Schedule of Financial Assets and Liabilities at
Fair Value on Recurring Basis Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2024 using: Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Cash
equivalents: Money market funds $ 7, 008 $- $-$ 7, 008 $ 7, 008 $- $- $ 7, 008 Liabilities: Common stock warrant liability
$-$-$1,5198$1,519 $-$-$ 1,519 $ 1, 519 Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2023 using: Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Total Cash equivalents: Money market funds $ 905 $- $- $ 905 $ 905 $- $- $ 905 Liabilities: Common stock warrant
liability $- $- $ 3,291 $ 3, 291 $- $- $ 3, 291 $ 3, 291 Common Stock Warrants Liability, Changes on Level 3 Liabilities
Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis The following table reflects the change in the Company’ s Level 3 common
stock warrant liability for the year ended December 31, 2024 (in thousands): Schedule of Level 3 Liabilities Measured at
Fair Value on a Recurring Basis Fair value as of December 31, 2023 $ 3, 291 Change in fair value (1, 772) Fair value as of
December 31, 2024 $ 1, 519 The Company remeasures the fair value of its common stock warrant liability at each
reporting date. The fair value of the common stock warrants was determined using a probability weighted scenario
method with a Monte Carlo simulation and Black- Scholes model. The scenario- based method estimates the fair value of
the Company’ s common stock warrants by considering various outcomes as assessed by the Company. Quantitative
elements associated with the inputs impacting the fair value measurement of the common stock warrants include the
underlying fair value of common stock, timing of the expected scenarios, risk- free rate, and volatility of the Company’ s
shares. The risk- free rate is determined by reference to the U. S. Treasury yield curve for the respective time periods
based on the remaining contractual term of the warrants. The volatility is based on the historical volatility of the
Company’ s stock. The Monte Carlo simulation projects the Company’ s volume weighted average stock price based on
the various fundamental transaction scenarios considered and utilizes a Black- Scholes model to value the warrants
within these scenarios. The following table details the assumptions used in the Monte Carlo simulation to estimate the
fair value of the common stock warrant liability as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (the inception date),
respectively: Schedule of Fair Value of Assumption December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 Stock price $ 1. 29 § 2. 29
Expected volatility 108. 0 % 116. 0 % Expected term (years) 3. 76 4. 76 Risk- free interest rate 4. 31 % 3. 86 % Dividend
rate — % — % There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 during the periods presented. The Company
had no other financial assets or liabilities that were required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis. F- 15 6.
Leases, Commitments and Contingencies Operating Leases In October 2024, the Company entered into a 36- month
lease agreement, commencing on December 1, 2024, non- cancelable operating lease consisting of approximately 1, 900
rentable square feet of office space in Mountain View, California. The lease has a one- time option to renew the term for
an extension period of 36 months. The office space lease has a remaining lease term of approximately three years. The



option to renew the term was not included for purposes of determining the right- of- use asset and associated lease
liabilities as the Company determined that the renewal of the lease is not reasonably certain so only the original lease
term was taken into consideration. The accounting lease commencement in accordance with ASC 842, Leases, occurred
on December 1, 2024, and the Company recorded a total associated right- of- use asset and corresponding lease liability
of $ 285, 000. Classification of the Company’ s operating lease on the balance sheets as of December 31, 2024, and 2023
are as follows (in thousands): Schedule of Operating Leases Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 Assets Right- of- use
operating asset $ 278 $- Liability Operating lease liability — current $ 66 $- Operating lease liability — noncurrent 212-
Total liability $ 278 $- The current operating lease of $ 66, 000 is classified as an accrued expense on the balance sheet,
see “ Note 4. Accrued Expenses ” in Notes to Financial Statements. Lease expense and cash paid by lease type that was
recognized during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows (in thousands): Schedule of Lease expense
Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 Operating lease $ 9 $- Short- term lease 76 75 Total lease expense $ 85 $ 75 Short-
term leases for periods ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 of $ 76, 000 and $ 75, 000, respectively, were month- to-
month lease arrangements where the Company recognized the lease payments as an expense in the period in which the
obligation for those payments incurred. The Company made an election policy not to apply the recognition requirements
under ASC 842, Leases, for month- to- month lease agreements. The minimum lease payments are expected to be as
follows for the years ending December 31, (in thousands): Schedule of Lease Payments 2025 $ 86 2026 118 2027 111 Total
lease payments $ 315 Less imputed interest (37) Present value of operating lease liability $ 278 The interest rate implicit
in lease contracts is typically not readily determinable and as such, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate of
7.75 % based on the information available at the lease commencement date, which represents an internally developed
rate that would be incurred to borrow, on a collateralized basis, over a similar term, an amount equal to the lease
payments in a similar economic environment. As of December 31, 2024, the Company has a remaining lease term of 2. 92
years. F- 16 Legal Proceedings From time to time, the Company may become involved in legal proceedings arising in the
ordinary course of business. The Company was not subject to any material legal proceedings during the year ended
December 31, 2024 and no material legal proceedings are subsequently outstanding or pending. Guarantees and
Indemnification In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into agreements that may include
indemnification provisions. As permitted under Delaware law and in accordance with its bylaws, the Company
indemnifies its officers and directors for certain events or occurrences while the officer or director is or was serving in
such capacity. The Company is also party to indemnification agreements with its officers and directors. In some cases,
the indemnification will continue after the termination of the agreement. The maximum potential amount of future
payments that the Company could be required to make under these provisions is not determinable. The Company has
never incurred material costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemnification provisions. The
Company is not currently aware of any indemnification claims. Accordingly, the Company has not recorded any
liabilities for these indemnification rights and agreements as of December 31, 2024. 7. Equity Incentive Plan — Stock-
Based Compensation Expense Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan On July 19, 2021, the Company’ s Board of Directors
adopted the RenovoRx, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “ 2021 Plan ). The 2021 Plan, which became
effective immediately prior to the closing of the IPO, initially reserved 2, 185, 832 shares of common stock, which
included 10, 832 shares of common shares reserved but unissued under the Amended and Restated 2013 Equity
Incentive Plan (the “ 2013 Plan ). The Company’ s 2013 Plan was terminated immediately prior to the closing of the
IPO; however, shares subject to awards granted under the 2013 Plan will continue to be governed by the 2013 Plan. In
accordance with the terms of the 2021 Plan, on January 1, 2025, the number of shares reserved and available for
issuance increased by 721, 040 shares. The Company accounts for stock- based compensation to employees, consultants
and non- employee directors in accordance with ASC Topic 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation. The Company
estimates the fair value of stock option awards using the Black- Scholes option pricing model on the date of grant using
the assumptions in the table below. Stock options granted to employees and consultants generally vest over four years
and have a term of ten years. Stock- based compensation expense for stock options is recognized as expense over the
requisite service period, which is the vesting period. As the Company has not paid dividends since inception, nor does it
expect to pay any dividends for the foreseeable future, the expected dividend yield assumption is zero. The expected
volatility is estimated based on the historical stock volatility of the Company’ s own common stock over a period equal to
the expected term of the options including by taking the average historic price volatility for industry peers, consisting of
several public companies in the Company’ s industry that are either similar in size, stage, or financial leverage, over a
period equivalent to the expected term of the awards.. The risk- free rate of the stock options is based on the U. S.
Treasury rate in effect at the time of grant for the expected term of the stock options. A summary of the stock option
activity for the year ended December 31, 2024 is as follows: Summary of Stock Option Award Activity Number of Stock
Options Weighted- Average Exercise Price Weighted- Average Remaining Contractual Life Aggregate Intrinsic Value
Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 1, 860, 125 $ 2. 47 7. 24 $ 948 Granted 1, 542, 030 $ 1. 17- $- Exercised (93, 481) $ 0.
74- $- Forfeited (334, 371) $ 1. 97- $- Expired (176, 774) $ 3. 00- $- Outstanding as of December 31, 2024 2, 797,529 § 1.
84 7. 82 § 521 Exercisable as of December 31, 2024 1, 515, 011 $ 2. 03 6. 82 $ 354 Vested and expected to vest as of
December 31, 2024 2, 797,529 $ 1. 84 7. 82 $ 521 The weighted- average grant- date fair value of options granted during
2024 and 2023 was $ 1. 09 and $ 2. 24 per share, respectively. During 2024 and 2023 the Company issued 93, 481 and 8,
247 shares of common stock, respectively, in conjunction with stock option exercises. The Company received cash
proceeds from the exercise of stock options of approximately $ 69, 000 and $ 8, 000 during 2024 and 2023, respectively.
As of December 31, 2024, there was $ 1. 8 million of unrecognized stock- based compensation expense related to options
granted but not yet amortized, which will be recognized over a weighted- average period of approximately 2. 54 years. F-



17 The following table summarizes the outstanding and exercisable options as of December 31, 2024: Schedule of Ranges
of Stock Options Options Outstanding Options Exercisable Range of Exercise Prices Number of Shares Weighted
Average Remaining Contractual Life Number of Shares Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Life $ 0. 00- $ 1. 00
402,1303.16 397,665 3.10$ 1. 01-$ 2. 00 1, 578, 789 9. 13 551, 596 8. 89 § 2. 01- $ 3. 00 268, 983 7. 82 188, 139 7. 66 $ 3.
01-$4.00 341,743 7. 94 200, 564 7. 82 $ S. 01- $ 6. 00 33, 462 6. 75 33,462 6. 75 $ 6. 01- $ 7. 00 170, 069 6. 75 141, 723 6.
75$8.01-$9.002, 353 6.86 1, 862 6. 86 Total 2, 797, 529 7. 82 1, 515, 011 6. 82 For the years ended December 31, 2024,
and 2023, the Company utilized the Black- Scholes option- pricing model for estimating the fair value of the stock option
granted. The Company estimated the fair value of each option grant on the grant date using the Black- Scholes option
pricing model with the following weighted- average assumptions: Summary of Weighted- Average Assumptions Used to
Calculate Fair Value of Stock Options Granted Years Ended December 31, Expected volatility 118. 28 % — 143. 10 % 99.
49 % — 128. 37 % Expected term (years) S. 27 — 10. 00 6. 02 — 10. 00 Risk- free interest rate 3. 52 % — 4. 30 % 3. 40 % —
4.59 % Dividend rate — % — % F- 18 The following table summarizes the components of stock- based compensation
expense recognized in the Company’ s statements of operations and comprehensive loss during the years ended
December 31, 2024, and 2023 (in thousands): Schedule of Stock- Based Compensation Expense Recognized Years Ended
December 31, 2024 2023 Research and development $ 724 § 204 Selling, general and administrative 450 874 Total stock-
based compensation expense $ 1,174 $ 1, 078 Restricted Stock Units and Restricted Stock Awards Issued for Services
Restricted stock units (“ RSU ”) are valued based on the closing price of the Company’ s common stock on the date of the
grant. The fair value of RSU is recognized and amortized on a straight- line basis over the requisite service period of the
award. The following table summarizes RSU activity as of December 31, 2024: Schedule of Restricted Stock Units Shares
Weighted- Average Grant Date Value Outstanding as of December 31, 2023- $- Granted 5, 000 $ 1. 47 Vested (5, 000) $ 1.
47 Forfeited- $- Outstanding as of December 31, 2024- $- In March 2024, the Company issued 120, 000 shares of
restricted stock awards outside the 2021 Plan for business advisory and investor relations services and recognized $ 68,
000 of stock- based compensation expense. During the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023, the Company
recognized $ 1. 2 million and $ 1. 1 million, respectively, in stock- based compensation expense from stock option grants
and restricted stock awards. The compensation expense is allocated on a departmental basis, based on the classification
of the option holder. No income tax benefits have been recognized in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss
for stock- based compensation arrangements. 8. Common Stock Warrants In connection with the Company’ s January
2024 private placement offering, the Company issued warrants to purchase up to 6, 133, 414 shares of common stock
and January 2024 PA Warrants to purchase up to 511, 940 shares of common stock. All such warrants expire on
January 26, 2029. In connection with the Company’ s April 2024 private placement offering, the Company issued pre-
funded warrants to purchase 951, 500 shares of common stock, Series A warrants to purchase up to 7, 912, 364 shares of
common stock, Series B warrants to purchase up to 3, 956, 182 shares of common stock and April 2024 PA Warrants to
purchase up to 701, 243 shares of common stock. The pre- funded warrants have no expiration date, Series B Warrants
expire on April 11, 2026, and Series A Warrants including the PA Warrants expire on April 10, 2029. The following is a
summary of the common stock warrant activity during the year ended December 31, 2024: In September 2024, to create
performance incentives for the Company’ s CMO, the Company issued a warrant to its CMO to purchase up to 709, 500
shares of the Company’ s common stock. This warrant vests and is only exercisable over time in tranches and only if the
CMO achieves certain manufacturing milestones. The following is a summary of the common stock warrant activity
during the year ended December 31, 2024. Schedule of Common Stock Warrant Activity Shares Issuable Upon Exercise
of Outstanding Warrants Weighted- Average Exercise Price Weighted- Average Remaining Contractual Life Aggregate
Intrinsic Value (In thousands) Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 4, 734, 035 $ 7. 68 3. 51 $ 36, 350 Issued in January
2024 to: Investors 5, 961, 286 $ 0. 99 4. 07 $ 5, 902 Placement agency 511,940 $ 0. 99 4. 07 $ 507 Insiders 172, 128 $ 1. 22
4.07 $ 210 Issued in April 2024 to: Investors 11, 868, 546 $ 1. 22 3. 28 § 14, 479 Investors (Pre- funded) 951, 500 $ 0. 0001
N /A $- Placement agency 701, 243 $ 1. 69 4. 28 $ 1, 185 Exercised (33, 333) $ 0. 99- $ (33) Issued in September 2024 to:
Contract manufacturing organization 709, 500 $ 1. 01 4. 74 $ 716 Expired (18, 000) $ (1. 01)- $ (18) Outstanding as of
December 31, 2024 25, 558, 845 $ 2. 32 3. 42 $ 59, 298 9. Income Taxes For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
the Company’ s income tax provision is zero due to a full valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets. F- 19 The
differences between the tax provision (benefit) at the statutory federal tax rate and the tax provision (benefit) are as
follows (in thousands): Schedule of Statutory Tax Expense and Effective Tax Expense Benefit Years Ended December
31, 2024 2023 Statutory federal income tax $ (1, 838) $ (2, 149) Increase (decrease) resulting from: Change in valuation
allowance 4, 034 3, 863 Permanent items (330) (311) Prior year true ups- (12) Tax credits (456) (511) State (1, 410) (880)
Income tax provision $- $- The components of the Company’ s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in
thousands): Schedule of Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 11, 035 $ 8, 867 Tax credits carryforwards 2, 395 1, 872 Stock- based compensation
517 260 Fixed assets / intangible assets 125 114 Charitable contributions 5 3 Capitalized research 2, 706 1, 613 Lease
liability 79- Accruals and other 1 20 Gross deferred tax assets 16, 863 12, 749 Valuation allowance (16, 784) (12, 749)
Deferred tax assets 79- Deferred tax liabilities: Right- of- use asset (79)- Deferred tax liabilities (79)- Net deferred tax
asset $- $- At December 31, 2024, the Company had federal and state net operating loss (“ NOL ”) carryforward
amounts of $ 39. 1 million and $ 40. 3 million, respectively. The federal NOL carryforwards consists of $ 4. 7 million
generated before January 1, 2018, which will begin to expire in 2030 but are able to offset 100 % of taxable income and $
34. 4 million generated after December 31, 2017 which can be carried forward indefinitely and may be able to be used
against 100 %. The state NOL carryforward will begin to expire in 2033. The utilization of the Company’ s NOLs may
be subject to a U. S. federal limitation due to the “ change in ownership provisions ” under Section 382 and 383 of the



IRC and similar limitations for states. In general, under Section 382, a corporation that undergoes an “ ownership
change ” (as defined under Section 382 of the Code and applicable Treasury Regulations) is subject to limitations on its
ability to utilize its pre- change NOL:s to offset its future taxable income. As of December 31, 2024, we have not
conducted an analysis of an ownership change under Section 382. To the extent that a study is completed, and an
ownership change is deemed to occur, in the past or future, such limitations may result in a reduction of the amount of
net operating loss carryforwards in future years and possibly the expiration of certain net operating loss carryforwards
before their utilization. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had federal and state tax credit carryforwards of $ 2. 8
million which will begin to expire in 2033, and California tax credit carryforwards of $ 0. S million which do not expire.
The Company follows Financial Accounting Standards Board No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an
interpretation of FASB No. 109, as codified in FASB ASC 740- 10, Income Taxes. At December 31, 2024, unrecognized
tax benefits related to federal and state tax credits was $ 0. 8 million. The Company did not have tax- related interest and
penalties at December 31, 2024. The Company does not expect significant changes to its unrecognized tax benefits in the
next twelve months. If recognized, none of the unrecognized tax benefits would affect the effective tax rate. F- 20
Uncertain Income Tax Positions The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2024 is $ 0. 8 million
which relates to federal and state tax credits. The following summarizes the activity related to the Company’ s
unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2024 (in thousands): Schedule of
Unrecognized Tax BenefitsBalance at December 31, 2022 $ 449 Tax positions related to the current year: Additions 197
Balance at December 31, 2023 646 Tax positions related to the current year: Additions 181 Balance at December 31, 2024
$ 827 The Company’ s policy is to account for interest and penalties as income tax expense. As of December 31, 2024, the
Company had no interest related to unrecognized tax benefits. No amounts of penalties related to unrecognized tax
benefits were recognized in the provision for income taxes. We do not anticipate any significant change within twelve
months of this reporting date. The Company files income tax returns in the U. S. federal jurisdiction and various state
jurisdictions. The Company is subject to U. S. federal and state income tax examination for calendar tax years beginning
in 2011 due to net operating losses that are being carried forward for tax purposes. 10. Net Loss per Share Basic and
diluted net loss per common share was calculated as follows (in thousands except per share amounts): Schedule of
Computation of Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per Share Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 Numerator: Net loss $ (8,
814) § (10, 232) Denominator: Weighted average shares used in computing net loss per share — basic and diluted 22, 271,
163 10, 290, 667 Net loss per share — basic and diluted $ (0. 40) $ (0. 99) For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
the Company had a net loss and as such, all outstanding shares of potentially dilutive securities were excluded from the
calculation of diluted net loss per share as the inclusion would be anti- dilutive. Potentially dilutive securities not
included in the computation of diluted net loss per share because to do so would be antidilutive are as follows (in
common stock equivalent shares): Schedule of Potentially Anti Dilutive Securities Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023
Common stock warrants 19, 172, 067- Options to purchase common stock 726, 399 659, 191 Total 19, 898, 466 659, 191
F- 21 11. Segment Information Operating segments are defined as components of an entity for which separate financial
information is available and that is regularly reviewed by the CODM in deciding how to allocate resources to an
individual segment and in assessing performance. The Company operates as a single reporting segment, focused on
developing novel targeted oncology therapies and offering RenovoCath delivery system as stand- alone device targeting
high unmet medical needs. The Company’ s measure of segment profit or loss is net loss. The CODM is the CEO. The
CODM manages and allocates resources to the operations of the Company on a total company basis. Managing and
allocating resources on a company basis enables the CEO to assess the overall level of resources available and how to
best deploy these resources across functions, clinical, manufacturing and research and development projects that are in
line with the Company’ s long- term company- wide strategic goals. Consistent with this decision- making process, the
CEO uses financial information for purposes of evaluating performance, forecasting future period financial results,
allocating resources and setting incentive targets. Operating expenses are used to monitor budget versus actual results.
The CODM also uses net loss in competitive analysis by benchmarking to the Company’ s peer group. The competitive
analysis along with the monitoring of budgeted versus actual results are used in assessing performance of the segment.
All the Company’ s assets are held in the United States and all the Company’ s revenues are derived from the United
States. The following table is representative of revenue and significant expense categories regularly provided to the
CODM when managing the Company’ s single reporting segment for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023 (in
thousands). Schedule of Segment Information Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 Revenues $ 43 $- Program expenses
(1) Clinical trial studies (1) 2, 800 3, 118 Manufacturing, RenovoCath (1) 418 259 Program expenses (1) 418 259 Other
research and development expenses (1) 161 262 Non- program expenses (2) 3, 556 4, 805 Personnel compensation and
related expenses, including share- based compensation 4, 078 2, 952 Other segment items (3) (2, 156) (1, 164) Net loss $ 8,
814 $ 10, 232 (1) Includes external research expenses, clinical studies, manufacturing including manufacturing
reengineering costs, professional and consulting, regulatory, and trade shows. (2) Includes selling, general and
administrative expenses for professional and consulting expenses, audit fees, board fees, legal expenses, insurance
expenses, travel, and other office expenses. (3) Includes Interest income and interest expense and gain recognized on the
fair value of common stock warrant liability. 12. Related Party Transactions Dr Ramtin Agah has served as the
Company’ s Chief Medical Officer and Co- Founders since December 2009, and as Chairman of the Board since May
2018. In January 2018, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with Dr. Agah pursuant to which Dr. Agah
provides monthly consulting services as the Company’ s Chief Medical Officer by overseeing Company- sponsored
clinical trials. Since 2018 the Company has amended Dr. Agah’ s consulting agreement and may, in the Company’ s
discretion, proportionally adjust the monthly consulting fee if Dr. Agah’ s time commitment increases or decreases. The



consulting agreement may be terminated by either party on 30 days’ notice. The consulting agreement amendment also
provides for Dr. Agah’ s eligibility for an annual target cash incentive bonus equal to 40 % of his annualized base
consulting fee. In November 2021, the Company entered into a Change in Control and Severance Agreement with Dr.
Agah. In January 2024, Dr. Agah was awarded options to purchase 125, 132 shares of the Company’ s common stock,
vesting monthly over four years. In addition, in January 2024, Dr. Agah was awarded 28, 424 shares of fully vested
options to purchase the Company’ s common stock. In March 2023, Dr. Agah was awarded options to purchase 65, 000
shares of the Company’ s common stock vesting monthly over four years. Consulting fees paid to Dr. Agah for the years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, were $ 303, 000, respectively. In addition, the Board approved a discretionary bonus
to Dr. Agah in recognition of Company and individual performance during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
of $ 49, 000 and $ 91, 000, respectively. 13. Employee Benefit Plans In January 2022, the Company established a defined
contribution plan under Section 401 (k) of the Internal Revenue Code (the “ 401 (k) plan ”). The 401 (k) plan covers all
employees who meet defined minimum age and service requirements. Employee contributions are voluntary and are
determined on an individual basis, limited to the maximum amount allowable under U. S. federal tax regulations. The
Company makes matching contributions of up to 4 % of the eligible employees’ compensation to the 401 (k) plan. During
the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023, the Company made contributions to the 401 (k) plan of $ 53, 000 and $ 42,
000, respectively. 14. Subsequent Events On February 6, 2025, the Company entered into an underwriting agreement to
investors pursuant to the Company’ s shelf registration while subject to the baby- shelf rules. The financing closed on
February 10, 2025, and the Company raised gross proceeds of $ 12. 1 million. In connection with the offering, the
Company sold to investors an aggregate 11, 523, 810 shares of its common stock, par value $ 0. 0001 per share. Upon
closing of the offering, the Company issued to the underwriter warrants to purchase shares of common stock of 576, 191
shares as partial compensation for the underwriter’ s services in connection with the offering. F- 22 Exhibit 23. 1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM We consent to the incorporation by
reference in the registration statement (No. 333- 268316) on Form S- 1, registration statements (Nos. 333- 268302, 333-
271882, 333- 278841 and 333- 278964) on Form S- 3, and registration statements (Nos. 333- 260573, 333- 263972, 333-
271044 and 333-278667) on Form S- 8 of RenovoRx, Inc. of our report dated April 1, 2024, except for Note 11, as to
which the date is March 31, 2025, relating to the financial statements of RenovoRyx, Inc., included in this Annual Report
on Form 10- K of RenovoRyx, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2024. / s / Baker Tilly US, LLPIrvine, California
March 31, 2025 Exhibit 23. 2 CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM We
hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S- 1 (File No. 333- 268316),
Registration Statements on Form S- 3 (File Nos. 333- 278964, 333- 278841, 333- 271882 and 333- 268302) and
Registration Statements on Form S- 8 (File Nos. 333- 278667, 333- 271044, 333- 263972 and 333- 260573) of RenovoRx,
Inc., of our report dated March 31, 2025, relating to the financial statements of RenovoRx, Inc. appearing in this Annual
Report on Form 10- K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024. / s / Frank, Rimerman Co. LLP San
Francisco, California Exhibit 31. 1 CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULES 13a- 14 (a) AND 15d- 14 (a) UNDER
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-
OXLEY ACT OF 2002 I, Shaun R. Bagai, certify that: 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10- K of
RenovoRYx, Inc.; 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge, the
financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report; 4. The registrant’ s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)) for the registrant and have: (a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared; (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles; (c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’ s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’
s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’ s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’ s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting; andS. The registrant’ s other certifying
officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’ s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’ s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions): (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’ s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or
other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting. Date: March 31,
2025 By: /s / Shaun R. Bagai Shaun R. Bagai Chief Executive OfficerExhibit 31. 2 I, Ronald B. Kocak, certify that: Date:



March 31, 2025 By: / s / Ronald B. Kocak Ronald B. Kocak Vice President, Controller and Principal Accounting Officer
Exhibit 32. 1 CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U. S. C. SECTION
1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002 In connection with
the Annual Report of RenovoRx, Inc. (the “ Company ”) on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2024 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “ Report ”), I hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U. S.
C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, that: (1) The Report fully
complies with the requirements of section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and (2) The
information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company. Date: March 31, 2025 By: /s / Shaun R. Bagai Shaun R. Bagai Chief Executive
OfficerExhibit 32. 2 CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO U. S. C. SECTION
1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002 In connection with
the Annual Report of RenovoRx, Inc. (the “ Company ”) on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2024 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “ Report ”), I hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U. S.
C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, that: (1) The Report fully
complies with the requirements of section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and (2) The
information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.



